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Message from

Managing Director & CeO
Dear Stakeholders,

I am happy to address you again as Managing Director & CEO of your Company.  At the outset, the Management 
conveys its gratitude to you for continuing to repose your trust in Themis Medicare Limited as it faces and meets 
various challenges on its path of growth. 

As an Indian pharma company with over 50 years of expertise, we have progressed on the path to providing 
high-quality products to patients. As a company with a rich legacy of serving the pharma market, we remain 
focussed on complete compliance to regulatory norms and have integrated our human resources management 
processes to drive a culture of integrity. We also have a more structured approach to engaging our trade 
channel partners, with a dedicated team to engage stockists and retailers. This approach has helped us serve 
our patients and you, our shareholders, better in 2018-19.

The last fiscal, has been a difficult and challenging year for your Company. In 2018, the global economy witnessed 
slowdown owing to the US-China trade dispute and deceleration across some developed economies. As also 
reported to you last year, the Company had to fight a prolonged litigation relating to our product Diclofenac 
Sodium Injection 1ml. Your Company has filed a Writ Petition at the Hon’ble Delhi High Court. The Hon’ble 
Delhi High Court is seized of this matter, wherein The Drugs Controller General (India) has also been arrayed as 
respondent. Hence, the matter is subjudice.  

However, undeterred by the same, we continued our efforts on strengthening the compliance and quality 
aspects of our business.  We are sure that our dedicated efforts and integrity  will continue to enable us to 
create sustainable value for all stakeholders.

In May, 2019 we marked the completion of 50 years of your Company - another landmark in our history.

As we ended the year under review, your Company takes pride in completing 50 years of serving patients in 
India and hopes to grow and prosper in the years to come..

Your Company is aware of the need to provide quality affordable products for our customers and   towards its 
intent, it is striving very hard.Rapid and disruptive changes are happening both domestically and globally which 
will have a bearing on our growth and profitability. However, such changes also throw up many opportunities 
for growth and profitability which your Company will explore fully. 

Coming to the financial performance of your Company in the last fiscal, your Company has achieved turnover of 
Rs. 18,410.82 Lakhs as compared to Rs. 21,170.67 Lakhs during last financial year. Your Company has incurred 
net loss after tax of Rs. 1,274.80 Lakhs for the year as compared to net profit after tax of Rs. 914.54 Lakhs during 
the previous financial year.

Dear shareholders,  while the results of the year under review are disappointing,we wish to inform you that we 
remain committed to deliver good results . We  thank you for the trust reposed in us and we will reciprocate the 
trust placed in us by creating long-term value for your investment.

On behalf of the entire Board, I thank all our valued partners – our bankers, doctors, pharmacists and vendors 
who have always been very supportive and important contributors to our success.

I am also thankful to all members of the Themis family - our customers, employees and above all, our shareholders 
who have continued to place faith in the Management of the Company.

Yours sincerely,
         SD/-
Dr. Sachin D. Patel
Managing Director & CEO
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Notice to Members
NOTICe is hereby given that the 49th Annual General 
Meeting of the Members of THeMIS MeDICARe 
LIMITeD will be held at the Registered Office of the 
Company at Plot No. 69-A, GIDC Industrial Estate, Vapi, 
Dist. Valsad, Gujarat-396 195 on Tuesday, 27th August, 
2019 at 10.30 a.m. to transact the following business:
ORDINARy BuSINeSS:
1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited 

Standalone and Consolidated Financial Statements 
of the Company for the financial year ended 31st 
March 2019, together with the Auditors’ Report 
and Directors’ Report thereon.

2. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Lajos Kovacs 
(DIN 01297326) who retires by rotation and being 
eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.
SPeCIAL BuSINeSS:

3. Ratification of Remuneration to Cost Auditor
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to Section 148 and 
all other applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014 (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment hereof, for the 
time being in force), remuneration of Rs. 2,68,000/- 
plus applicable taxes and reimbursement of out 
of pocket expenses (at actuals), as approved by 
the Board of Directors of the Company, payable 
to M/s. B.J.D. Nanabhoy & Co., Cost Accountants 
(Firm Registration No. 0011) Mumbai, conducting 
the cost audit of the cost accounts maintained 
by the Company in respect of bulk drugs and 
formulations for the financial year ended 31st 
March, 2020, be and is hereby ratified.”
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board of Directors 
be and is hereby authorised to do all such acts, 
deeds and things as may be necessary to give 
effect to this Resolution.”

4. Appointment of Dr. Gabor Gulacsi (DIN: 
06975242) as a Non Executive Director, liable to 
retire by rotation.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass, the following 
resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 

Section 152 and other applicable provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) read with 
the Companies (Appointment and Qualifications 
of Directors) Rules, 2014 (“the Rules”), including 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) 
thereof for the time being in force, Dr. Gabor 
Gulacsi (DIN: 06975242) who was appointed by 
the Board of Directors as an Additional Director 
of the Company with effect from March 29, 
2019, pursuant to Section 161 of the Act and the 
Articles of Association of the Company and who 
holds office upto the date of this Annual General 
Meeting, be and is hereby appointed as a Director 
of the Company liable to retire by rotation.”

5. Re-appointment of Mr. Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 
00074905) as an Independent Director for a 
second term of three consecutive years, in terms 
of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 149 and 152 read with Schedule IV and 
other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Companies (Appointment and 
Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 (including 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment 
thereof, for the time being in force) and SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time, 
Mr. Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 00074905), whose term of 
office expires at this 49th Annual General Meeting, 
be and is hereby re-appointed as an Independent 
Director, for a further term of three (3) consecutive 
years commencing from the conclusion of this 49th 
Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of the 
52nd Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

6. Re-appointment of Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir 
(DIN: 00004006) as an Independent Director 
for a second term of two consecutive years, in 
terms of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 149 and 152 read with Schedule IV and 
other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
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Act, 2013 and Companies (Appointment and 
Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 (including 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment 
thereof, for the time being in force) and SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to 
time, Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir (DIN: 00004006), 
whose term of office expires at this 49th Annual 
General Meeting, be and is hereby re-appointed 
as an Independent Director, for a further term of 
two (2) consecutive years commencing from the 
conclusion of this 49th Annual General Meeting till 
the conclusion of the 51st Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.”

7. Re-appointment of Mr. Vijay Agarwal (DIN: 
00058548) as an Independent Director for a 
second term of four consecutive years, in terms 
of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 149 and 152 read with Schedule IV and 
other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Companies (Appointment and 
Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 (including 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment 
thereof, for the time being in force) and SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time, 
Mr. Vijay Agarwal (DIN: 00058548), whose term of 
office expires at this 49th Annual General Meeting, 
be and is hereby re-appointed as an Independent 
Director, for a further term of four (4) consecutive 
years commencing from the conclusion of this 49th 
Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of the 
53rd Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

8. Re-appointment of Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam 
(DIN: 00162200) as an Independent Director for 
a second term of five consecutive years, in terms 
of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 149 and 152 read with Schedule IV and 
other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Companies (Appointment and 
Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014 (including 
any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment 

thereof, for the time being in force) and SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time, 
Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam (DIN: 00162200), 
whose term of office expires at this 49th Annual 
General Meeting, be and is hereby re-appointed 
as an Independent Director, for a further term of 
five (5) consecutive years commencing from the 
conclusion of this 49th Annual General Meeting till 
the conclusion of the 54th Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.”

9. Continuation of Mr. Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 
00074905) as an Independent Director of the 
Company who will be attaining the age of 
Seventy-five years during second terms.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Regulation 17(1A) of SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
as amended and other applicable provisions if 
any, consent of the members be and is hereby 
accorded for continuation of Directorship beyond 
the age of 75 years of Mr. Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 
00074905), who is proposed to be re-appointed 
as Independent Director of the Company at this 
AGM for a second term of three (3) consecutive 
years commencing from this Annual General 
Meeting and who will be attaining the age of 75 
years during the second term of his Directorship 
as Independent Director of the Company.”

10. Restructuring of existing Remuneration payable 
to Dr. Dinesh S. Patel (DIN: 00033273) as a 
Whole-Time Director designated as “Executive 
Vice Chairman”.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Sections 196, 197, 203 and any other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made thereunder (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment thereof), read 
with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013 and 
in partial modification of the relevant resolutions 
passed at the 47th Annual General Meeting of 
the Company held on 27.09.2017, consent of the 
Company be and is hereby accorded to restructure 
the existing remuneration payable to Dr. Dinesh 



2018   2019

5

S. Patel, Whole-Time Director (Designated as 
“Executive Vice Chairman”) of the Company, w.e.f. 
14th February, 2018 on the remuneration, terms 
and conditions as approved by the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and as set out in 
the explanatory statement annexed to the notice, 
for the remaining period of his remuneration 
tenure i.e. upto 13.02.2020.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT consent of the 
Company be and is hereby accorded to pay the 
remuneration, as set out in the Explanatory 
Statement annexed to this Notice convening the 
Annual General Meeting, to Dr. Dinesh S. Patel 
(DIN: 00033273), as Executive Vice Chairman of 
the Company for a further period of two years i.e. 
upto February 13, 2022 i.e. till the date of end of 
his current appointment tenure.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT except for the aforesaid 
restructure in salary/perquisites, all other terms 
and conditions of his appointment as the Whole-
Time Director of the Company, as approved by 
the resolution passed at the 47th Annual General 
Meeting of the Company held on 27.09.2017, 
shall remain unchanged.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board of Directors 
be and is hereby authorized to alter or vary the 
scope of remuneration of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel (DIN: 
00033273), Whole-Time Director, including the 
monetary value thereof, to the extent approved 
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
from time to time as may be considered 
appropriate, subject to the overall limits specified 
by this resolution and the Companies Act, 2013. 
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board and / or 
its Committee be and is hereby authorised in its 
absolute discretion to decide/determine, fix and/ 
or vary/alter/modify within the limit stated above, 
the remuneration (including Remuneration in the 
event of absence or inadequacy of profits in any 
financial year) payable to Dr. Dinesh S. Patel (DIN: 
00033273), from time to time and to comply with 
all legal provisions and to do all such acts, deeds, 
things and matters etc., as may be considered 
necessary, desirable, expedient or proper to give 
effect to this resolution.”

11. Restructuring of existing Remuneration payable 
to Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel (DIN: 00033316) as a 
Whole-Time Director.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Sections 196, 197, 203 and any other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made thereunder (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment thereof), read 
with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013 and 
in partial modification of the relevant resolutions 
passed at the 47th and 48th Annual General 
Meeting of the Company held on 27.09.2017 and 
07.09.2018, respectively, consent of the Company 
be and is hereby accorded to restructure the 
existing remuneration payable to Mrs. Jayshree 
D. Patel (DIN: 00033316), Whole-Time Director 
of the Company, w.e.f. 28th March, 2018 on the 
remuneration, terms and conditions as approved 
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and as set out in the explanatory statement 
annexed to the notice, for the remaining period 
of her remuneration tenure i.e. upto 27.03.2020.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT consent of the 
Company be and is hereby accorded to pay the 
remuneration, as set out in the Explanatory 
Statement annexed to this Notice convening the 
Annual General Meeting, to Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel 
(DIN: 00033316), as Whole-Time Director of the 
Company for a further period of two years i.e. 
upto March 27, 2022 i.e. till the date of end of her 
current appointment tenure.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT except for the 
aforesaid restructure in salary/perquisites, all 
other terms and conditions of her appointment 
as the Whole-Time Director of the Company, as 
approved by the resolution passed at the 47th and 
48th Annual General Meeting of the Company held 
on 27.09.2017 and 07.09.2018 respectively, shall 
remain unchanged.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board of Directors 
be and is hereby authorized to alter or vary the 
scope of remuneration of Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel 
(DIN: 00033316), Whole-Time Director, including 
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the monetary value thereof, to the extent 
approved by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee from time to time as may be considered 
appropriate, subject to the overall limits specified 
by this resolution and the Companies Act, 2013. 
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board and / or 
its Committee be and is hereby authorised in its 
absolute discretion to decide/determine, fix and/ 
or vary/alter/modify within the limit stated above, 
the remuneration (including Remuneration in 
the event of absence or inadequacy of profits in 
any financial year) payable to Mrs. Jayshree D. 
Patel (DIN: 00033316), from time to time and 
to comply with all legal provisions and to do all 
such acts, deeds, things and matters etc., as may 
be considered necessary, desirable, expedient or 
proper to give effect to this resolution.”

12. Restructuring of existing Remuneration payable 
to Dr. Sachin D. Patel (DIN: 00033353) as 
Managing Director & CeO.
To consider & if thought fit, to pass the following 
resolution as a Special Resolution:
“ReSOLVeD THAT pursuant to the provisions of 
Sections 196, 197, 203 and any other applicable 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
rules made thereunder (including any statutory 
modification(s) or re-enactment thereof), read 
with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013 and 
in partial modification of the relevant resolution 
passed at the 47th Annual General Meeting of 
the Company held on 27.09.2017, consent of the 
Company be and is hereby accorded to restructure 
the existing remuneration payable to Dr. Sachin D. 
Patel (DIN: 00033353), Managing Director & CEO 
of the Company, w.e.f. 14th February, 2018 on the 
remuneration, terms and conditions as approved 
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and as set out in the explanatory statement 
annexed to the notice, for the remaining period 
of his remuneration tenure i.e. upto 13.02.2020.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT consent of the 
Company be and is hereby accorded to pay the 
remuneration, as set out in the Explanatory 
Statement annexed to this Notice convening the 
Annual General Meeting, to Dr. Sachin D. Patel 

(DIN: 00033353), Managing Director & CEO of 
the Company for a further period of two years i.e. 
upto February 13, 2022 i.e. till the date of end of 
his current appointment tenure.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT except for the aforesaid 
restructure in salary/perquisites, all other terms 
and conditions of his appointment as the Whole-
Time Director of the Company, as approved by 
the resolution passed at the 47th Annual General 
Meeting of the Company held on 27.09.2017, 
shall remain unchanged.
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board of Directors 
be and is hereby authorized to alter or vary the 
scope of remuneration of Dr. Sachin D. Patel (DIN: 
00033353), Managing Director & CEO, including 
the monetary value thereof, to the extent 
approved by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee from time to time as may be considered 
appropriate, subject to the overall limits specified 
by this resolution and the Companies Act, 2013. 
ReSOLVeD fuRTHeR THAT the Board and / or 
its Committee be and is hereby authorised in its 
absolute discretion to decide/determine, fix and/ 
or vary/alter/modify within the limit stated above, 
the remuneration (including Remuneration in the 
event of absence or inadequacy of profits in any 
financial year) payable to Dr. Sachin D. Patel (DIN: 
00033353), Managing Director & CEO from time to 
time and to comply with all legal provisions and to 
do all such acts, deeds, things and matters etc., as 
may be considered necessary, desirable, expedient 
or proper to give effect to this resolution.”

By order of the Board of Directors
       
        SD/-    

Sangameshwar Iyer 
Company Secretary & Compliance Officer

Membership No. A6818
Place : MUMBAI  
Date : 28th May, 2019
Regd. Office :  Plot no. 69-A, GIDC Industrial Estate,  

Vapi-396 195, Dist. Valsad, (Gujarat).
CIN : L24110GJ1969PLC001590.
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NOTeS:

A MeMBeR Of THe COMPANy eNTITLeD TO ATTeND AND VOTe AT THe ANNuAL GeNeRAL Mee TING IS 
eNTITLeD TO APPOINT A PROXy TO ATTeND AND VOTe ON A POLL INSTeAD Of HIMSeLf AND A PROXy NeeD 
NOT Be A MeMBeR Of THe COMPANy.

1. At the 47th AGM, M/s. R. P. Sardar & Co., Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 109273W) were 
appointed as Statutory Auditors of the Company for a period of 5 years untill the conclusion of the 52nd 
AGM of the Company. The ratification of their appointment pursuant to Section 139 of the Companies Act, 
2013 is not required in terms of notification no. SO 1833(E) dated 7th May, 2018 issued by the Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs and accordingly, the item has not been included in the Ordinary Business of this AGM 
Notice.

2. The Instrument appointing the Proxy, duly completed, stamped and signed, should reach the Registered 
Office of the Company not less than forty-eight hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting. 
Members are requested to note that a person can act as a proxy on behalf of members not exceeding fifty 
and holding in the aggregate not more than ten percent of the total share capital of the Company carrying 
voting rights. In case a proxy is proposed to be appointed by a member holding more than ten percent of 
the total share capital of the Company carrying voting rights, then such proxy shall not act as a proxy for 
any other person or shareholder.

3. The business set out in the Notice will be transacted through electronic voting system and the Company 
is providing facility for voting by electronic means. Instructions and other information relating to e-voting 
are given in this Notice.

4. Corporate members intending to send their authorised representatives to attend the Meeting are requested 
to send to the Company a certified true copy of the Board Resolution authorising their representative to 
attend and vote on their behalf at the Meeting.

5. In terms of Section 152 of the Companies Act, 2013, Mr. Lajos Kovacs (DIN 01297326), Director, retires by 
rotation at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment. The 
Board of Directors of the Company recommends his re-appointment.

6. The details of the Directors seeking appointment/reappointment under item nos. 2 and 4 to 9 of this 
Notice, is annexed hereto in terms of Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure 
Requirement) Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard 2 on General Meetings.

7. A Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, relating to the Special Business to be 
transacted at the Meeting is annexed hereto.

8. Members are requested to bring their attendance slip along with their copy of Annual Report to the 
Meeting.

9. In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such joint holder who is higher in the order of names 
will be entitled to vote.

10. Relevant documents referred to in the accompanying Notice and the Statements are open for inspection 
by the members at the Registered Office of the Company on all working days, except Saturdays, during 
business hours up to the date of the Meeting.

11. The Company has notified closure of Register of Members and Share Transfer Books from Wednesday, 21st 
August, 2019 to Tuesday, 27th August, 2019 (both days inclusive).

12. Members are informed that there is no dividend amount remaining unclaimed and due for transfer on to 
the Investor Education and Protection Fund [IEPF] established by the Central Government in terms of the 
Companies Act, 2013.
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The Company has transferred the unpaid or unclaimed dividends declared up to financial year 2010-11, 
from time to time, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (the IEPF) established by the Central 
Government. 

Pursuant to the provisions of IEPF Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016, the 
Company has already transferred all shares (in respect of which dividend has not been paid or claimed 
for seven consecutive years or more) to designated Demat Account of the IEPF Authority maintained with 
NSDL. Members who have so far not claimed or collected their dividends for the said period may claim 
their dividend and shares from the Investor Education and Protection Fund, by submitting an application 
in the prescribed form.

13. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has mandated the submission of Permanent Account 
Number (PAN) by every participant in securities market. Members holding shares in electronic form are, 
therefore, requested to submit their PAN to their Depository Participants with whom they are maintaining 
their demat accounts. Members holding shares in physical form can submit their PAN to the Company/
Link Intime India Pvt Ltd (Company’s Registrar & Share Transfer Agents) and complete their KYC formalities 
as mandated by law. Members, who have not registered their e-mail addresses so far, are requested to 
register their e-mail address for receiving all communication including Annual Report, Notices, Circulars, 
etc. from the Company electronically.

14. The instructions for shareholders voting electronically are as under:

The instructions for shareholders voting electronically are as under:

(i) The voting period begins on August 24, 2019 at 9:00 am and ends on August 26, 2019 at 5:00 
pm. During this period shareholders’ of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in 
dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date (record date) of 16th August, 2019 may cast their vote 
electronically. The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter.

The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com.

(ii) Click on Shareholders / Members

(iii) Now Enter your User ID 

a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 

b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 

c. Members holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with the 
Company.

(iv) Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on 
an earlier voting of any company, then your existing password is to be used. 

(v) If you are a first time user follow the steps given below:

for Members holding shares in Demat form and Physical form
PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric PAN issued by Income Tax Department (Applicable for 

both demat shareholders as well as physical shareholders)
• Members who have not updated their PAN with the Company/Depository Participant are 

requested to use 10 digit sequence number printed in BOLD at TOP RIGHT SIDE of the 
address sticker affixed on this Annual Report.

Dividend Bank 
Details
 OR Date of 
Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded in your 
demat account or in the company records in order to login.
• If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company please enter the 

member id / folio number in the Dividend Bank details field as mentioned in instruction (iv).
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(vi) After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.

(vii) Members holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company selection screen. However, 
members holding shares in demat form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required 
to mandatorily enter their login password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be 
also used by the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other company on which they are eligible 
to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not 
to share your password with any other person and take utmost care to keep your password confidential.

(viii) For Members holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-voting on the resolutions 
contained in this Notice.

(ix) Click on the EVSN for the relevant <Company Name> on which you choose to vote.

(x) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option “YES/NO” 
for voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution 
and option NO implies that you dissent to the Resolution.

(xi) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution details.

(xii) After selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box will be 
displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and 
accordingly modify your vote.

(xiii) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xiv) You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

(xv) If a demat account holder has forgotten the changed password then Enter the User ID and the image 
verification code and click on Forgot Password & enter the details as prompted by the system.

(xvi) Shareholders can also cast their vote using CDSL’s mobile app m-Voting available for android based 
mobiles. The m-Voting app can be downloaded from Google Play Store. Apple and Windows phone 
users can download the app from the App Store and the Windows Phone Store respectively. Please 
follow the instructions as prompted by the mobile app while voting on your mobile.

(xvii) Note for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians

a. Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodian are required 
to log on to www.evotingindia.com and register themselves as Corporates.

b. A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed 
to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

c. After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin login and 
password. The Compliance User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on.

d The list of accounts linked in the login should be mailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com and on 
approval of the accounts they would be able to cast their vote. 

e A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they have issued in 
favour of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format in the system for the scrutinizer to 
verify the same.

(xviii) In case you have any queries or issues regarding e-voting, you may refer the Frequently Asked Questions 
(“FAQs”) and e-voting manual available at www.evotingindia.com, under help section or write an email to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.
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Annexure to Notice
eXPLANATORy STATeMeNT PuRSuANT TO SeCTION 
102(1) Of THe COMPANIeS ACT, 2013 (“the Act”)

The following Statement sets out all material facts 
relating to the Special Business mentioned in the 
accompanying Notice:

Item No. 3:

In pursuance of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Rule 14 of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014, the Company is required to 
appoint a Cost Auditor to audit the cost records of the 
applicable products of the Company.

On the recommendation of the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee at its meeting held on 28th 
May, 2019, the Board has, considered and approved 
the appointment of M/s. B. J. D. Nanabhoy & Co., 
Cost Accountants, Mumbai as the cost auditor for 
the financial year 2019-20 at a remuneration of Rs. 
2,68,000/- per annum (plus applicable taxes) and 
reimbursement of out of pocket expenses, if any, in 
connection with the Cost Audit.

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel 
of the Company or their relatives are concerned or 
interested, financially or otherwise in this Resolution.

The Directors recommend the above resolution for 
passing by the shareholders.

Item No. 4:

Pursuant to the provisions of Sections 152, 161(1) 
and other applicable provisions of the Act read with 
applicable Rules framed there under and the Articles 
of Association of the Company, the Board of Directors 
had, on the recommendation of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, appointed Dr. Gabor 
Gulacsi as an Additional Director of the Company with 
effect from March 29, 2019. The term of office of Dr. 
Gabor Gulacsi expires at the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting

Dr. Gabor Gulacsi is an Economist and holds Doctorate 
in Economic Sciences and well experienced in the field 
of finance and management and general business 
administration.

Dr. Gabor Gulacsi is on the Board of Richter Themis 
Medicare (India) Private Limited.

The Board recommends passing of the Ordinary 
Resolution as set out in the Item no. 4 of the Notice 
for the appointment of Dr. Gabor Gulacsi as a Director, 
liable to retire by rotation.
Except Dr. Gabor Gulacsi being an appointee, none 
of the Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of 
the Company and their relatives are concerned or 
interested, financially or otherwise, in the resolution 
set out at Item No.5.
Item No. 5 to 8:
As per the provisions of Section 149, Section 152 and 
Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 2013 read with 
rules thereunder, the Company had appointed Mr. 
Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 00074905), Mr. Vijay Agarwal 
(DIN: 00058548), Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir (00004006) 
and Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam (DIN: 00162200) 
as Independent Directors as per the requirement of 
the Companies Act, 2013 at the 44th Annual General 
Meeting of the Company held on September 29, 2014 
for a term of 5 years upto ensuing 49th Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.
Since, Mr. Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 00074905), Mr. Vijay 
Agarwal (DIN: 00058548), Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir 
(00004006) and Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam (DIN: 
00162200), Independent Directors of the Company 
have completed one term, they are further eligible for 
re-appointment for one more term of upto 5 years.
Based on the performance evaluation of the Directors 
and keeping in view their experience and expertise, 
their re-appointment as an Independent Directors of 
the Company is recommended by the Nomination 
& Remuneration Committee and Board of Directors 
of the Company at their respective meeting held on 
May 28, 2019 for a second term as provided in the 
resolution, and they shall not be liable to retire by 
rotation at the Annual General Meeting as provided 
under Section 152(6) of the Companies Act, 2013.
The Company has received declarations from 
Independent Directors confirming that they meet with 
the criteria of Independence as prescribed under sub-
section (6) of Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 
and as per SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. In the opinion of 
the Board, they fulfill the conditions specified in the 
said Act for reappointment as Independent Directors.
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The brief profile of all Directors seeking appointment/
re-appointment is mentioned in the Annexure to 
the notice under “Details of Directors seeking 
appointment/re-appointment” forming part of this 
Notice and details of remunerations paid/payable 
are as provided in the Corporate Governance Report 
forming part of the Annual Report for 2018-19.

The Board recommends the Resolution as set out 
in item no. 5 to 8 of the Notice for approval of the 
Members.

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel 
of the Company and their relatives, other than the 
appointee directors, is in any way concerned or 
interested in the Resolutions, as set out in item no. 5 
to 8 of the Notice.

Item No. 9:

Regulation 17(1A) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 notified 
on June 7, 2018 prescribes that no listed entity shall 
appoint a person or continue the Directorship of 
any person as a Non-Executive Director who has 
attained the age of seventy five years unless a Special 
Resolution is passed to that effect.

Mr. Hoshang Sinor (DIN: 00004006) who is proposed 
to be reappointed as an Independent Director of the 
Company for a second term under Item No. 5 of this 
Notice by way of special resolution, will be attaining 
the age of 75 years on 5th December, 2019 i.e. during 
his second term.

Mr. Hoshang Sinor is Ph. D in Economics Science and 
has wide experience in Banking & Finance at Senior 
Management Level. The brief profile of Mr. Hoshang 
Sinor is mentioned in the Annexure to the notice 
under “Details of directors seeking appointment/re-
appointment” forming part of this Notice and details 
of remuneration paid/payable are as provided in the 
Corporate Governance Report forming part of the 
Annual Report for 2018-19.

The Board recommends the continuation of Mr. 
Hoshang Sinor as a Director to the members.

None of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel 
of the Company and their relatives, other than Mr. 
Hoshang Sinor, is in any way concerned or interested 
in the Resolution, as set out in item no. 9 of the Notice.

Item No.10 to 12:

The shareholders will recall the resolution passed 
at the 47th Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the 
Company held on 27th September, 2017, wherein the 
members of the Company approved appointment of 
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, Whole-Time Director (Designated 
as “Executive Vice Chairman”, Dr. Sachin D. Patel as 
Managing Director & CEO and Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel 
as Whole-Time Director for a period of 5 years with 
effect from 14th February, 2017, 14th February, 2017 
and 28th March, 2017, respectively.

In line with the benefits of Leave Travel Concession 
and other perquisites extended to the all senior 
level officers/employees, the Board of Directors 
at its meeting held on 14th November, 2018, on the 
recommendations made by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, has approved the proposal 
for restructure in the remuneration of Dr. Dinesh S. 
Patel, Whole-Time Director (Designated as “Executive 
Vice Chairman”, Dr. Sachin D. Patel as Managing 
Director & CEO and Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel as Whole-
Time Director (Collectively referred to as “Executive 
Directors”) by restructuring the existing remuneration 
of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, Executive Vice Chairman, Dr. 
Sachin D. Patel, Managing Director & CEO and Mrs. 
Jayshree D. Patel, Whole-Time Director with effect 
from 14th February, 2018, 14th February, 2018 and 
28th March, 2018, respectively to provide them with 
the benefits of Leave Travel Concession and other 
perquisites for the remaining period left in their 3 years 
remuneration tenure as approved by shareholders 
and to pay the remuneration for a further period of 
two years i.e. upto February 13, 2022, February 13, 
2022 and March 27, 2022, respectively i.e. till the date 
of end of their current appointment tenure.

The revised Remuneration payable to Dr. Dinesh S. 
Patel, Whole-Time Director (Designated as “Executive 
Vice Chairman”, Dr. Sachin D. Patel as Managing 
Director & CEO and Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel as Whole-
Time Director with effect from with effect from 14th 
February, 2018, 14th February, 2018 and 28th March, 
2018, respectively is as under:

1. Revised remuneration of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, 
Executive Vice Chairman.

1. Salary of Rs. 5.25 Lakhs per month.

2. Any increase in the salary will be decided 
on a yearly basis, as approved by the 
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and the Board of Directors in accordance 
with provisions of Schedule V and other 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013.

In addition to above, he shall be entitled to the 
following perquisites:

1. Contribution to Provident Fund, 
Superannuation Fund or Annuity Fund, if 
any, to the extent these either singly or put 
together are not taxable under the Income 
Tax Act, 1961.

2. Contribution, if any, to Gratuity Trust not 
exceeding half a month's salary for each 
completed year of service.

3. Provision of Car for use on Company’s 
business.

4. Leave Travel Concession : Reimbursements 
of actual travelling expenses for proceeding 
on leave with family to anywhere in India 
or abroad as per rules of the Company.

5. Reimbursement of Club Fees: Subject to 
maximum of two clubs.

6. Personal Accident Insurance :

“Family means spouse, dependent children 
and dependant parents

7. Reimbursement of Telephone expenses.

8. Encashment of leave at the end of the 
tenure.

Reimbursement of following:

1. Electricity, gas, water bill & other utilities

2. Maintenance and other major repairs at 
residential premises

3. Reimbursement of actual medical expenses 
including hospitalization for self and family 
members

4. Family members includes self, spouse and 
dependent children.

Commission, if any, payable as per the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and as determined by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Company 
from time to time”

2. Revised remuneration of Dr. Sachin D. Patel, 
Managing Director & CeO

1. Salary of Rs. 4.99 Lakhs per month.

2. Any increase in the salary will be decided 
on a yearly basis, as approved by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and the Board of Directors in accordance 
with provisions of Schedule V and other 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013.

In addition to above, he shall be entitled to the 
following perquisites:

1. Contribution to Provident Fund, 
Superannuation Fund or Annuity Fund, if 
any, to the extent these either singly or put 
together are not taxable under the Income 
Tax Act, 1961.

2. Contribution, if any, to Gratuity Trust not 
exceeding half a month's salary for each 
completed year of service.

3. Provision of Car for use on Company’s 
business.

4. Leave Travel Concession: Reimbursements 
of actual travelling expenses for proceeding 
on leave with family to anywhere in India 
or abroad as per rules of the Company.

5. Reimbursement of Club Fees: Subject to 
maximum of two clubs.

6. Personal Accident Insurance :

Family means spouse, dependent children 
and dependant parents

7. Reimbursement of Telephone expenses.

8. Encashment of leave at the end of the 
tenure.

Reimbursement of following:

1. Electricity, gas, water bill & other utilities

2. Maintenance and other major repairs at 
residential premises

3. Reimbursement of actual medical expenses 
including hospitalization for self and family 
members

4. Family members includes self, spouse and 
dependent children.
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Commission, if any, payable as per the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and as determined by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Company 
from time to time”

3. Revised remuneration of Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel, 
Whole-Time Director

1. Salary of Rs. 3.68 Lakhs per month.

2. Any increase in the salary will be decided 
on a yearly basis, as approved by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
and the Board of Directors in accordance 
with provisions of Schedule V and other 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013.

In addition to above, he shall be entitled to 
the following perquisites:

1. Contribution to Provident Fund, 
Superannuation Fund or Annuity Fund, if 
any, to the extent these either singly or put 
together are not taxable under the Income 
Tax Act, 1961.

2. Contribution, if any, to Gratuity Trust not 
exceeding half a month's salary for each 
completed year of service.

3. Provision of Car for use on Company’s 
business.

4. Leave Travel Concession: Reimbursements 
of actual travelling expenses for proceeding 
on leave with family to anywhere in India or 
abroad as per rules of the Company.

5. Personal Accident Insurance :

Family means spouse, dependent children 
and dependant parents

6. Reimbursement of Telephone expenses.

7. Encashment of leave at the end of the 
tenure.

Reimbursement of following:
1. Electricity, gas, water bill & other utilities
2. Maintenance and other major repairs at 

residential premises
3. Reimbursement of actual medical expenses 

including hospitalization for self and family 
members

4. Family members includes self, spouse and 
dependent children.
Commission, if any, payable as per the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and as determined by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Company 
from time to time”
Except for the aforesaid revision in salary/
perquisites, all other terms and conditions 
of their appointment as approved earlier, 
shall remain unchanged.
None of the Directors or Key Managerial 
Personnel of the Company and their 
relatives, except Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, Whole-
Time Director (Designated as “Executive Vice 
Chairman”, Dr. Sachin D. Patel as Managing 
Director & CEO and Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel 
as Whole-Time Director and their relative, 
is in any way concerned or interested in the 
Resolutions, as set out in item no. 10 to 12 
of the Notice.

By order of the Board of Directors
       
        SD/-    

Sangameshwar Iyer 
Company Secretary & Compliance Officer

Membership No. A6818
Place : MUMBAI  
Date : 28th May, 2019
Regd. Office :  Plot no. 69-A, GIDC Industrial Estate,  

Vapi-396 195, Dist. Valsad, (Gujarat).
CIN : L24110GJ1969PLC001590.
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Details of Directors seeking appointment and re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

[Pursuant to Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015 and 
Secretarial Standard 2 on General Meetings]

Name of the Director Mr. Lajos Kovacs Dr. Gabor Gulacsi
Date of Birth 30/08/1960 08/05/1958
Nationality Hungary Hungary
Date of Appointment on the Board 26/03/1997 29/03/2019
Qualifications Chemical Engineer Economist, Doctorate in Economic 

Sciences. 
Expertise in specific functional Area R & D Management & over 35 years 

of industrial Manufacturing
Financial and Economic decision 
making

Number of shares held in the Company Nil Nil
List of the directorships held in other 
companies*

Nil Nil

Number of Board Meetings attended 
during the year

Nil Nil

Chairman/ Member in the Committees 
of the Boards of companies in which he 
is Director*

Chairman:
NIL
Member 
Nil

NIL

Relationships between Directors inter-
se

None None

Remuneration details Nil Nil
*  Directorship includes Directorship of other Indian Public Companies and Committee memberships includes only Audit 

Committee and Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee of Public Limited Company (Whether Listed or not).

Name of the Director Mr. Hoshang Sinor Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir 
Date of Birth 05/12/1944 02/12/1936
Nationality Indian Indian
Date of Appointment on 
the Board

29/09/2003 27/08/2004

Qualifications B.Com, LLB B. Tech (Chem Eng.)
Loughborough University,
U.K.M.I Chem Eng. (London),
A.M.P (Harvard)

Expertise in specific 
functional Area

Mr. H. N. Sinor has been a veteran banker, 
having spent over four decades in public as 
well as private sector banks like Union Bank 
of India, Central Bank of India and ICICI Bank. 
He was MD and CEO of ICICI Bank and after 
ICICI’s merger with ICICI Bank, became Joint 
MD until his superannuation. He, thereafter, 
joined Indian Banks’ Association as Chief 
Executive. Mr. Sinor later joined Association 
of Mutual Funds in India in a similar 
capacity. Being a veteran banker, Mr. Sinor 
has worked on a number of Committees at a 
policy level during his long career. Mr. Sinor 
holds Board position as an Independent 
Director on a few reputed companies. He is 
also associated with various charitable and 
other trusts engaged in social activities.

A respected personality in the Pharmaceutical 
Industry with over 40 years. He has held 
several senior positions including that of 
the Managing Director and Vice Chairman 
of Glaxo India Ltd. in the early 90’s. He 
was the president of OPPI- Organization of 
Pharmaceutical Producers of India (’90-’92). 
He also served on the General Committee 
of the Bombay Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry and was the Chairman of its Indo-
British Business Committee for 2 years. He 
was also the MD of Lupin Laboratories for 
1 year from October 1994 to assist in the 
company’s globalization plans. He was 
thereafter appointed by Eastman Kodak 
Company as Managing Director of Kodak 
India Ltd. for a 5 year term and retired in 
October 2000.

Annexure to Items 2, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of the Notice
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Name of the Director Mr. Hoshang Sinor Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir 
Number of shares held in 
the Company

667664 Nil

List of the directorships 
held in other companies*

1. Tata Investment Corporation Limited
2. Cosmo Films Limited
3. Tata Motors Finance Limited
4. TMF Holdings Limited
5. Tata Capital Markets Limited
6. Incred Financial Services Limited
7. Cams Insurance Repository Services 

Limited
8. Universal Trustees Private Limited

1. Cadila Healthcare Limited
2. Neuland Laboratories Ltd
3. Emcure Pharmaceuticals Limited
4. Sami Labs Limited

Number of Board Meetings
attended during the year

5 4

Chairman/ Member in the
Committees of the Boards
of companies in which he is 
Director*

Chairman:
1. Tata Investment Corporation Ltd. – Audit 

Committee
2. Cosmo Films Ltd.–Stakeholders 

Relationship Committee
Member 
None

Chairman:
None

Member 
1. Cadila Healthcare Ltd - Audit Committee
2. Neuland Laboratories Ltd - Audit 

Committee

Relationships between 
Directors inter-se

None None

Remuneration details Nil Nil
* Directorship includes Directorship of other Indian Public Companies and Committee memberships includes only Audit 
Committee and Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee of Public Limited Company (Whether Listed or not).

Name of the Director Mr. Vijay Agarwal Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam 
Date of Birth 29/06/1957 02/02/1959
Nationality Indian Indian
Date of Appointment on 
the Board

27/08/2004 10/02/2014

Qualifications B. Com. (Hons) F.C. A B.SC, LLB
Expertise in specific 
functional Area

He is a Fellow Chartered Accountant of India. 
He has several years of experience in Tax 
Advisory Services. He has been in practice 
for more than 30 years.

An Indian Patent Attorney with over 35 
years experience and have been involved 
in all aspects of IP law including filing, 
prosecution and enforcement. Have filed 
patent applications in every country in the 
world. He was voted No. 1 Patent Attorney 
by several leading law magazines and 
was featured in the cover story ‘Top 50 IP 
lawyers you must know in Asia and Pacific’ in 
the March Issue of Asia Law magazine.

Number of shares held in 
the Company

Nil Nil
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Name of the Director Mr. Vijay Agarwal Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam 
List of the directorships 
held in other companies*

1. Gujarat Themis Biosyn Ltd. 
2. MEP Infrastructure Developers Limited 
3. Birla Machining & Toolings Limited
4. Compuage Infocom Limited
5. Madura Garments Lifestyle Retail 

Company Limited
6. Aditya Birla Money Mart Limited
7. Aditya Birla Sun Life Pension 

Management Limited
8. ABNL IT & ITES Limited
9. Aditya Birla Insurance Brokers Limited

Nil

Number of Board Meetings
attended during the year

3 1

Chairman/ Member in the
Committees of the Boards
of companies in which he is 
Director*

Chairperson:
1. Gujarat Themmis Biosyn Ltd. – Audit 

Committee 
Member

1. Gujarat Themis Biosyn Ltd. 
-Stakeholders Relationship Committee

2. Compuage Infocom Ltd. -Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee

3. MEP Infrastructure Developers Ltd. – 
Audit Committee

4. Compuage Infocom Ltd. - Audit 
Committee

5. Aditya Birla Money Mart Limited – Audit 
Committee

6. Aditya Birla Sun Life Pension 
Management Ltd. - Audit Committee

7. ABNL Investment Limited – Audit 
Committee

8. Aditya Birla Insurance Brokers Limited – 
Audit Committee

Chairman:
None
Member 
None

Relationships between 
Directors inter-se

None None

Remuneration details Nil Nil
*  Directorship includes Directorship of other Indian Public Companies and Committee memberships includes only Audit 

Committee and Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee of Public Limited Company (Whether Listed or not).
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Annexure to the explanatory Statement
Information as required under Section II of Part II of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 and forming 
part of the explanatory statement to the Notice convening the Annual General Meeting.
(For Item No. 10 to 12).

I. GeNeRAL INfORMATION
Nature of Industry:- Pharmaceuticals
Date or expected date of commencement of commercial production:-
The Company was incorporated on May 31, 1969 and commenced its business on August 16, 1969.
In case of new companies, expected date of commencement of activities as per project approved by 
financial institutions appearing in the prospectus:- - Not applicable.
financial performance:-
(Based on Audited published financial statement)
 (Rs. In Lakhs)
Particulars 31.03.2019 31.03.2018
Total Revenue 18,680.04 21,474.20
Less: Expenses 20,133.38 20,534.53
Profit/ (Loss) before tax (1,453.34) 939.67
Less – Tax Expense (183.74) 10.18
Profit/ (Loss) after tax (1,269.60) 929.49
Total Comprehensive Income (1,274.80) 914.54

foreign Investments or Collaborators, if any:- 
Gedeon Richter Investment Management Ltd., Hungary are the Foreign Collaborators of the Company.

II. INfORMATION ABOuT THe eXeCuTIVe DIReCTORS WHOSe ReMuNeRATION IS PROPOSeD TO Be  
Re-STRuCTuReD.
a) Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, Executive Vice Chairman (Item No. 10 of the Notice)

1. Background details:-
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel holds Doctorate in Medicinal Chemistry, and has more than 40 years 
experience in Medicinal and pharmaceutical research, Fermentation Technology & exploitation 
of new molecules and was in immediate past associated with the Company as Managing Director 
& CEO. He was re-designated by the Board as Executive Vice Chairman with effect from 14th 
February, 2017. It is proposed to take approval of members for Restructuring the remuneration 
payable to Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, Executive Vice Chairman.

2. Past Remuneration:
Details of remuneration paid to Dr. Dinesh S. Patel in previous three financial years is as follows:

Period of payment Total Remuneration 
(in Rs.)from

DD/MM/yyyy
To

DD/MM/yyyy
01/04/2016 31/03/2017 82,43,200
01/04/2017 31/03/2018 67,20,000
01/04/2018 31/03/2019 70,99,000

3. Recognition and Awards:- 
Past President of Indian Drug Manufacturers Association (IDMA), Past Executive Committee 
Member of Indian Merchant Chamber and Advisor to Central Drug Research Institute.
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4. Job Profile and his suitability:-

At present Dr. Dinesh S. Patel is the Whole-Time Director (Designated as “Executive Vice 
Chairman”) of the Company. He has also held the position of Managing Director & CEO of the 
Company in immediate past and prior to that he has also held the position of Chief Executive / 
Executive Director in the Company since 1983. 

5. Remuneration proposed:-

The terms of remuneration are detailed in the Explanatory Statement to Item No. 10 of this 
Notice. 

6. Comparative remuneration profile with respect to industry, size of the company profile of the 
position and person:-

Taking into consideration the size of the company, profile of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel, Executive Vice 
Chairman, responsibility shouldered on him and the industry standard, the remuneration paid 
is commensurate with the remuneration packages paid to Managerial Personnel in similar other 
companies.

7. Pecuniary relationship directly or indirectly with the company, or relationship with the managerial 
personnel, if any:-

Dr. Dinesh S. Patel does not have any other pecuniary relationship with the Company directly 
or indirectly. Dr. Dinesh S. Patel is a relative of Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel (Spouse), Whole-Time 
Director, Dr. Sachin D. Patel (Son), Managing Director & CEO and Mrs. Reena S. Patel, Alternate 
Director (Son’s wife).

b) Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel, Whole-Time Director (Item No. 11 of the Notice)

1. Background details:-

B. A. (Hons.) with Psychology. Actively associated with the day to day affairs of the Group for 
past 35 years. Managing Director of erstwhile Artemis Biotech Ltd. for 7 years which was merged 
with the Company. Prior to that more than 15 years as Managing Director of two group private 
limited companies.

2. Remuneration:-

Details of remuneration paid to Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel in previous two financial years as a Whole-
Time Director of the Company is as follows:

Period of payment Total Remuneration 
(in Rs.)from

DD/MM/yyyy
To

DD/MM/yyyy
01/04/2017 31/03/2018 45,39,161
01/04/2018 31/03/2019 49,41,728

3. Recognition and Awards:- Nil

4. Job Profile and her suitability:-

Being Managing Director of erstwhile Artemis Biotech Ltd., she has experience of overall Pharma 
Industry operations. As a Whole Time Director, she is actively involved in day to day affairs of the 
Company such as financial and administrative operations.

5. Remuneration proposed:-

The terms of remuneration are detailed in the Explanatory Statement to Item No. 11 of this 
Notice. 
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6. Comparative remuneration profile with respect to industry, size of the company profile of the 
position and person:-

Taking into consideration the size of the Company, profile of Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel, Whole-Time 
Director, and responsibility shouldered on her and the industry standard, the remuneration paid 
is commensurate with the remuneration packages paid to Managerial Personnel in other similar 
companies.

7. Pecuniary relationship directly or indirectly with the Company, or relationship with the 
managerial personnel, if any:-

Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel does not have any other pecuniary relationship with the Company directly 
or indirectly. Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel is a relative of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel (Husband), Executive Vice 
Chairman,  Dr. Sachin D. Patel (Son), Managing Director & CEO and Mrs. Reena S. Patel (Son’s 
wife), Alternate Director. 

c) Dr. Sachin D. Patel, Managing Director & CeO (Item No. 12 of the Notice)

1. Background details:-

Conferred with Ph.D. degree in Chemistry by the Board of Graduate Studies, University of 
Cambridge, U. K. in the year 2000. He was previously associated with the Company as a Whole- 
Time Director designated as “Deputy Managing Director” and prior to that held the position 
Director– Business Development.

2. Past Remuneration:-

Details of remuneration paid to Dr. Sachin D. Patel, Managing Director & CEO in previous three 
financial years is as follows:

Period of payment Total Remuneration 
(in Rs.)from

DD/MM/yyyy
To

DD/MM/yyyy
01/04/2016 31/03/2017 75,81,333
01/04/2017 31/03/2018 63,12,000
01/04/2018 31/03/2019 67,01,100

3. Recognition and Awards:- 

The Royal Society of Chemistry Price in Analytical Chemistry in the year 1995. Glaxo Wellcome 
Price in Organic Chemistry in the year 1995 and Nehru Hinduja Fellowship in the year 2000.

4. Job Profile and her suitability:-

Responsible for overall management of the Company and to oversee the Company’s affairs 
in the area of Research activities, co-marketing arrangements for research based products, 
strengthening Company’s marketing activities of formulation products in India as well as 
new business developments in India and abroad for Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients and 
formulations.

5. Remuneration proposed:-

The terms of remuneration are detailed in the Explanatory Statement to Item No. 12 of this 
Notice. 

6. Comparative remuneration profile with respect to industry, size of the company profile of the 
position and person:-

Taking into consideration the size of the Company, profile of Dr. Sachin D. Patel, Managing 
Director & CEO, responsibility shouldered on him and the industry standard, the remuneration 
proposed is commensurate with the remuneration packages paid to Managerial Personnel in 
similar other companies.
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7. Pecuniary relationship directly or indirectly with the Company, or relationship with the 
managerial personnel, if any:-

Dr. Sachin D. Patel, Managing Director & CEO does not have any other pecuniary relationship 
with the Company directly or indirectly. Dr. Sachin D. Patel is a relative of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel 
(Father), Executive Vice Chairman, Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel (Mother), Whole-Time Director and 
Mrs. Reena S. Patel (Spouse), Alternate Director.

III. OTHeR INfORMATION

Reasons of loss or inadequate profits: - 

The loss during the year under review is mainly on account of stoppage of supplies of a key product of 
the Company since July, 2018 arising out of a regulatory order followed by a related ongoing litigation and 
increase in the litigation expenses due to the said litigation.

Steps taken or proposed to be taken for improvement:-

The Company has taken steps for improvement of sales/profitability for the FY 2019-20 and subsequent 
years. As a part of improvement, the following are the major steps taken by the Company:

• Efforts are made for achieving sales target by trade and other divisions of the Company.

• The Company has now acquired pan India presence and registered with agencies such as ESIC for 
supply of researched products.

• The Company has also registered itself with many countries for marketing its products and has 
received positive response from new markets.

Expected increase in productivity and profits in measurable terms:-

The Company has realigned its field force for its Pharma division with a view to achieving greater efficiency. 
As regards the Critical care Division of the Company, the Company has introduced many more anesthetic 
injections and pain relieving injections. The Company has received good response from various doctors 
and hospitals.

Also in pharma division of the Company, the anti malarial and other tablets and injections are getting good 
responses from various doctors. So the Company is expecting healthy growth during the FY 2019-20 in 
Company’s trade activity.

Further, the Company is very conscious about improvement in productivity and undertakes constant 
measures to improve it. With the above mentioned steps and measures taken from time to time in 
respect of product development, new product introduction in the market, capacity improvement, new 
market taping in India and overseas countries as well as measures of cost reduction being undertaken on 
a continuous basis. The management feels that the productivity and the profitability of the Company will 
improve significantly over a period of time in the years to come.

DISCLOSuReS

All the relevant information required to be disclosed in the Board of Directors’ Report under the heading 
“Report on Corporate Governance” attached to the Annual Report will be disclosed as and when required.
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Directors’ Report
The Members,
Themis Medicare Limited
Your Directors take pleasure in presenting the 49th 
Annual Report along with the Audited Financial 
Statements for the financial year ended 31st March, 
2019. The Company operates only in one business 
segment viz., “Pharmaceuticals” and this report covers 
its Pharmaceutical business performance.
1. fINANCIAL STATeMeNTS & ReSuLTS:

a. fINANCIAL ReSuLTS: 
The Company's performance during the year 
ended 31st March, 2019 as compared to the 
previous financial year, is summarized below:

(Rs. in lakhs)

Particular 2018-19 2017-18
Income 18,680.04 21,474.20
Less: Expenses 20,133.38 20,534.53
Profit/(Loss) before tax (1,453.34) 939.67
Deferred tax (183.74) 10.18
Profit after Tax (1,269.60) 929.49

APPROPRIATION

Final Dividend - -
Tax on distribution of 
dividend

- -

Transfer to General 
Reserve

- -

Balance carried to 
Balance sheet

(1,269.60) 929.49

b. OPeRATIONS:
The Company continues to be engaged in 
the activities pertaining to manufacturing 
of pharmaceutical products, especially in 
Formulation and API activity.
There was no change in nature of the business of 
the Company, during the year under review.

c. RePORT ON PeRfORMANCe Of SuBSIDIARIeS, 
ASSOCIATeS AND JOINT VeNTuRe COMPANIeS:
As on the last day of the financial year, the 
Company had two non material subsidiaries 
namely, Artemis Biotech Limited and Themis 
Lifestyle Private Limited and one Joint Venture 
Company in UK namely, Carpo Medical Limited.
The performance and financial position of each 
of the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 
companies for the year ended 31st March 2019 in 

Form AOC-1 is attached and marked as Annexure 
I and forms part of this Report.

d. DIVIDeND:
In view of the loss incurred by the Company, your 
Directors have not recommended dividend for 
the financial year under review. 

e. TRANSfeR TO ReSeRVeS:
In view of the loss incurred during the year, 
your Board has not recommended transfer of 
any amount during the year under review. The 
Company has not transferred any amount to 
reserves and not withdrawn any amount from 
the reserves.

f. ReVISION Of fINANCIAL STATeMeNT:
There was no revision of the financial statements 
for the year under review.

g. DePOSITS:
Except for unclaimed deposits of Rs. 1.65 
lakhs, the Company does not have outstanding 
deposits from public. The Company has repaid 
outstanding deposits from Directors and 
Promoter Members for which the Hon’ble 
Company Law Board, Regional Bench, Mumbai, 
had allowed repayment on or before 31.03.2018 
on the original terms & conditions of deposits.
Your Company has not accepted any deposits 
falling within the purview of provisions of Section 
73 of the Companies Act 2013 (“the Act”) read 
with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposit) 
Rules, 2014 during the year under review. 
Hence, the requirement for furnishing of details 
of deposits which are not in compliance with 
Chapter V of the Act is not applicable.

h. DISCLOSuReS uNDeR SeCTION 134(3)(l) Of THe 
COMPANIeS ACT, 2013:
Except as disclosed elsewhere in this report, no 
material changes and commitments which could 
affect the Company’s financial position have 
occurred between the end of the financial year 
of the Company and date of this report.

i. STATeMeNT ON DeCLARATION uNDeR SeCTION 
149(6) Of THe COMPANIeS ACT , 2013:
The Independent Directors of the Company have 
given the declaration and confirmation to the 
Company as required under Section 149(7) of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25(8) 
of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
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Requirements) Regulations, 2015 confirming 
that they meet the criteria of independence and 
that they are not aware of any circumstance or 
situation, which exists or may be reasonably 
anticipated, that could impair or impact their 
ability to discharge their duties with an objective 
independent judgement and without any 
external influence.

j. STATeMeNT uNDeR SeCTION 178:
Your Company has constituted Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee as well as Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee as provided under 
section 178(1) of the Companies Act, 2013. 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
considers that the qualifications, experience 
and positive attributes of the Directors on the 
Board of the Company are sufficient enough 
to discharge their duties as such. In view of 
inadequacy of profits, remuneration is being 
paid to Managing and Whole time Directors 
in line with Schedule V of the Companies Act, 
2013 as also only sitting fees are paid to other 
Directors for attending Board and Audit and Risk 
Management Committee meetings at present. 
Policy on Nomination and Appointment of 
Directors/Criteria for appointment of Senior 
Management and Remuneration Policy as 
formulated under Section 178(3) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 is annexed as Annexure II 
and forms part of this Report.

k. COMMeNTS Of THe BOARD ON AuDITORS’ 
RePORT:
i. Observations of Statutory Auditors on 

Accounts for the year ended 31st March, 
2019: There are no qualifications, reservations 
or adverse remarks or disclaimer made by 
the Statutory Auditors in respect of financial 
statements as on and for the year ended 31st 
March, 2019.

ii. Secretarial Audit Report for the year ended 
31st March, 2019: Provisions of Section 204 
read with Section 134(3) of the Companies 
Act, 2013, mandates to obtain Secretarial 
Audit Report from a Practicing Company 
Secretary. M/s. Shirish Shetye and Associates, 
Practicing Company Secretaries were 
appointed to conduct Secretarial Audit and 
issue Report for the financial year 2018-19. 
Secretarial Audit Report issued by M/s. Shirish 

Shetye & Associates, Practicing Company 
Secretaries in Form MR-3 for the financial 
year 2018-19 forms part of this report.  The 
Secretarial Audit Report is annexed herewith 
as Annexure - III.
In respect of the observations made in the 
Secretarial Audit report, following are the 
explanations and comments offered by the 
Board.
• The Company was required to spend 

Rs.24.56 lakhs as CSR contribution for the 
financial year 2018-19, which was not spent.
→ Every year the Company tries to 

identify the deserving set of people 
who can take benefit of Company’s CSR 
activities. During the year 2019-20, the 
Company tried to identify such group 
of people. However, it took more 
than considerable time to identify the 
people for CSR activity. Therefore, the 
Company could not spend on the CSR 
activities during the year under review. 
However, the Company is committed to 
spend during the current financial year 
the amount which may be required to 
be spent for CSR activities during the 
current year.

• The Company has not made payment 
of minimum wages to Plant Workman 
category employees, at Hyderabad Unit, 
as required to be paid in Telangana State.
→ The Company normally engages 

some workers in the plant through 
a contractor. The workmen are the 
employees of the contractor and 
as per the agreement between the 
Company and the contractor(s) it is 
his basic responsibility to ensure the 
wages are paid. Minimum Wages Act 
The Company has already instructed to 
ensure that differential wages are paid 
to those workmen to comply with the 
provisions of the Minimum Wages  Act.

l. PARTICuLARS Of LOANS, GuARANTeeS, 
INVeSTMeNTS AND SeCuRITIeS:
Details of Loans granted, Guarantees given or 
Investments made during the year under review, 
covered under the provisions of Section 186 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 are given in the notes 
to the Financial Statements.
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m. PARTICuLAR Of CONTRACTS OR ARRANGeMeNT 
WITH ReLATeD PARTIeS:
Contracts/arrangements/transactions entered 
by the Company during the financial year with 
related parties were on an arm’s length basis and 
in the ordinary course of business. 
All related party transactions are placed 
for the approval before the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and also before the 
Board and Shareholders wherever necessary in 
compliance with the provisions of the Act and 
Listing Regulations. The Audit Committee had 
granted omnibus approval for Related Party 
Transactions as per the provisions contained 
in the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. During the 
year, the Company has not entered into any 
contracts / arrangements / transactions with 
related parties which could be considered 
material in accordance with policy of the 
Company on material related party transactions 
or under section 188(1) of the Act. Accordingly, 
there are no particulars to report in Form AOC-2.
The policy on materiality of related party 
transactions and dealing with related party 
transactions as approved by the Board has 
been adopted by the Company and uploaded 
on the Company’s website at the link: http://
www.themismedicare.com/wp-content/
uploads/2015/08/Related-Party-Policy.pdf 

n. DISCLOSuRe Of INTeRNAL fINANCIAL 
CONTROLS:
The Internal Financial Controls with reference 
to financial statements as designed and 
implemented by your Company are adequate. 
During the year under review, no material or 
serious observations were received from the 
Internal Auditors of the Company for inefficiency 
or inadequacy of such controls.
The Internal Financial Controls followed by the 
Company are adequate and commensurate 
with the size and nature of the business and 
were operating effectively during the year under 
review.
Internal Audit function of the Company is carried 
out through Independent Chartered Accountants 
Firms to test and verify the Company’s Internal 
Control System. The Company’s assets are 
adequately safeguarded against significant 
misuse or loss. The Company has in place, 

adequate Internal Financial Controls with respect 
to maintenance of accounting records and 
financial transactions. Proper systems have been 
devised to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of all applicable laws and that such systems were 
adequate and operating effectively.

o. DISCLOSuRe Of ORDeRS PASSeD By 
ReGuLATORS OR COuRTS OR TRIBuNAL:
There are no orders passed by the regulators or 
courts or Tribunals for/or against the Company 
during the year under review.

p. DISCLOSuRe uNDeR SeCTION 43(a)(ii) Of THe 
COMPANIeS ACT, 2013:
The Company has not issued any shares with 
differential rights and hence no information as 
per provisions of Section 43(a) (ii) of the Act read 
with Rule 4(4) of the Companies (Share Capital 
and Debenture) Rules, 2014 is furnished.

q. DISCLOSURE UNDER SECTION 54(1)(d) OF THE 
COMPANIeS ACT, 2013:
The Company has not issued any sweat equity 
shares during the year under review and hence 
no information as per provisions of Section 
54(1)(d) of the Act read with Rule 8(13) of the 
Companies (Share Capital and Debenture) Rules, 
2014 is furnished.

r. DISCLOSuRe uNDeR SeCTION 62(1)(b) Of THe 
COMPANIeS ACT, 2013:
As per provisions of Section 62(1)(b) of the Act 
read with Rule 12(9) of the Companies (Share 
Capital and Debenture) Rules, 2014 and other 
applicable Regulations, details of equity shares 
issued, if any, under Employees Stock Option 
Scheme during the financial year under review 
is furnished in Annexure IV attached herewith 
which forms part of this Report.

s. DISCLOSuRe uNDeR SeCTION 67(3) Of THe 
COMPANIeS ACT, 2013:
The provisions of Section 67(3) as well as 
disclosure under rule 16(4) of Companies (Share 
Capital and Debentures) Rules 2014 are not 
applicable in respect of Equity shares allotted 
against ESOPs granted to employees.

2. MATTeRS ReLATeD TO DIReCTORS AND Key 
MANAGeRIAL PeRSONNeL
During the year under review, following changes 
took place in the Board Composition and Key 
Managerial Personnel: 
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Dr. Gabor Gulacsi, ceased to be a Director of the 
Company on account of vacation of his office as 
Director of the Company pursuant to Section 167(1)
(b) of the Companies Act, 2013 with effect from 26th 
March, 2019. 
Mrs. Reena S. Patel, an Alternate Director to Mr. 
Lajos Kovacs resigned as an Alternate Director to 
Mr. Lajos Kovacs with effect from 26th March, 2019 
in accordance with the provisions of second proviso 
to section 167 of the Companies Act, 2013.
Dr. Gabor Gulacsi was appointed as an Additional 
Director by the Board with effect from 29th March, 
2019, as a representative of Gedeon Richter Plc, 
Hungary, Joint Venture Partners of the Company. Dr. 
Gabor Gulacsi holds office upto the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting of the Company and is eligible for 
appointment as Director in compliance provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013. A brief profile of Dr. Gabor 
Gulacsi is given in the Notice convening the Annual 
General Meeting. The Board recommends to the 
members the appointment of Dr. Gabor Gulacsi as 
a Director in the ensuing Annual General Meeting of 
the Company.
Mrs. Reena Patel was appointed as an Alternate 
Director to Dr. Gabor Gulacsi to attend Board 
meetings of the Company during his absence from 
India with effect from 29th March, 2019.
In accordance with the provisions of the Act and the 
Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Lajos 
Kovacs (DIN 01297326), Non – Executive Director 
of the Company, retires by rotation at the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting and being eligible offers 
himself for re-appointment. The Board recommends 
to the members the appointment of Mr. Lajos 
Kovacs as a Director in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) of the Company.
Necessary resolutions for the appointment/re-
appointment of the aforesaid Directors are included 
in the Notice convening the ensuing AGM and details 
of the proposal for re-appointment are mentioned 
in the Explanatory Statement to the Notice. 

3. DISCLOSuReS ReLATeD TO BOARD, COMMITTeeS 
AND POLICIeS
a. BOARD MeeTINGS:

A calendar of regular meetings was prepared and 
circulated in advance to the Directors. Pursuant 
to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
rules made thereunder, the Board met five (5) 
times during the year, the details of which are 

given in the Corporate Governance Report that 
forms part of this Annual Report. The intervening 
gap between the meetings was within the period 
prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 
and SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 

b. DIReCTORS’ ReSPONSIBILITy STATeMeNT:
In terms of Section 134(5) of the Companies 
Act, 2013, in relation to the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 
31st March, 2019, the Board of Directors hereby 
confirms that:
i. in the preparation of the annual accounts, the 

applicable accounting standards had been 
followed and there is no material departure 
according to the accounting standards;

ii. such accounting policies have been selected 
and applied consistently and the Directors 
made judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company as at 31st March, 2019 and of the 
profit of the Company for that year;

iii. proper and sufficient care was taken for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of this Act 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting fraud and 
other irregularities;

iv. the annual accounts of the Company have 
been prepared on a going concern basis; 

v. internal financial controls have been laid 
down to be followed by the Company and that 
such internal financial controls are adequate 
and were operating effectively ;

vi. Proper systems have been devised to 
ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems were 
adequate and operating effectively.

c. COMMITTeeS Of THe BOARD Of DIReCTORS
In compliance with the requirement of applicable 
laws and as part of best governance practices, 
the Company has following Committees of the 
Board as on 31st March, 2019:
i. Audit and Risk Management Committee
ii. Stakeholders Relationship Committee
iii. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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iv. Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
The details with respect to the aforesaid 
Committees forms part of the Corporate 
Governance Report.

d. VIGIL MeCHANISM POLICy/ WHISTLe BLOWeR 
POLICy fOR THe DIReCTORS AND eMPLOyeeS: 
The Board of Directors of the Company has, 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 177(9) of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the 
Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) 
Rules, 2014, framed “Vigil Mechanism Policy” 
for Directors and employees of the Company to 
inter alia provide a mechanism which ensures 
adequate safeguards to employees and Directors 
from any victimization on raising of concerns of 
any violations of legal or regulatory requirements, 
incorrect or misrepresentation of any financial 
statements and reports, etc.
As per SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
(Amendment) Regulation, 20l8 which amends 
SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulation, 
20l5, a listed company shall have a whistle—
blower policy and make employees aware of such 
policy to enable employees to report instances of 
leak of unpublished price sensitive information.
Considering the above amendment in SEBI (PIT) 
Regulations, 2015, the Vigil Mechanism Policy 
of the Company was amended with effect from 
1st April, 2019 to enable employees to report 
instances of leak of unpublished price sensitive 
information.
The employees of the Company have the right/
option to report their concern/grievance to the 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee.
The said Policy is available on the website of the 
Company at http://www.themismedicare.com/
wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Vigil-Mechanism-
Whistle-Blower-Policy.pdf
The Company is committed to adhere to the 
highest standards of ethical, moral and legal 
conduct of business operations.

e. RISK MANAGeMeNT:
We have an integrated approach to managing 
risks inherent in various aspect of our business.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
the Board discuss various aspects involved in 
Business risks to the Company and the manner 
to mitigate the same.

f. CORPORATe SOCIAL ReSPONSIBILITy POLICy:
As per the provisions of Section 135 of the 
Act read with Companies (Corporate Social 
Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014, the Board 
of Directors has constituted a Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Committee.
The composition of the CSR Committee of the 
Company is as under:
i. Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir, Chairman of the 

Committee, 
ii. Mr. H. Subramaniam, Member and 
iii. Dr. Sachin D. Patel, Member
The Company has formulated policy for CSR 
activities and is placed on the website of the 
Company at http://www.themismedicare.com/
wp-content/uploads/2016/12/CSR-Policy.pdf 
Annual report on CSR activities as required under 
the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy) Rules, 2014 has been appended as 
Annexure - V and forms an integral part of this 
Report.
In terms of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Companies (Corporate Social 
Responsibility) Rules, 2014 as amended (“CSR 
Rules”) and in accordance with the CSR Policy, 
during the financial year 2018-19, the Company 
could not spend two percent of the average 
net profits of the Company during the three 
immediately preceding financial years.

g. ANNuAL eVALuATION Of DIReCTORS, 
COMMITTee AND BOARD:
The Board of Directors at its meeting held on 8th 
Feb, 2019 has carried out an annual evaluation 
of its own performance, Board Committees and 
Individual Directors pursuant to the provisions 
of the Act and the corporate governance 
requirements as prescribed by Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements), Regulations 2015 
(“SEBI Listing Regulations”).
The performance of the Board was evaluated 
by the Board with the help of inputs received 
from all the Directors on the basis of the criteria 
such as the Board Composition and structure, 
effectiveness of Board processes, information 
and functioning, etc. 
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The performance of the Committees was 
evaluated by the Board with the help of inputs 
received from the Committee members on the 
basis of the criteria such as the composition 
of Committees, effectiveness of Committee 
meetings, etc. The Board concluded that all 
Board Committees were discharging its functions 
effectively.
The Board and the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee reviewed the performance of the 
Individual Directors on the basis of the criteria 
such as the contribution of the Individual 
Director to the Board and Committee meetings 
like ability to contribute and monitor our 
corporate governance practices, meaningful and 
constructive contribution in the issues discussed 
in meetings, etc. In addition, the Chairman was 
also evaluated on the key aspects of his role.
In a separate meeting of Independent Directors, 
performance of Non-Independent Directors, 
performance of the Board as a whole and 
performance of the Chairman was evaluated, 
taking into account the views of Executive 
Directors and Non-Executive Directors. The 
same was discussed in the Board meeting 
that followed the meeting of the Independent 
Directors, at which the performance of the 
Board, its committees and individual directors 
was also discussed. Performance evaluation of 
Independent Directors was done by the entire 
Board, excluding the Independent Director being 
evaluated. 
The Board was overall of the opinion that 
the Independent Directors have contributed 
through the process of Board and Committee 
meeting of which they are members in effective 
manner as per as their expertise in their field 
and needs of the organization. The suggestions 
and contributions of the Independent Directors 
in the working of the Board\Committee were 
satisfactory and the value addition made by such 
Independent Directors individually and as a team 
is commendable.
Also the Company had provided facility of 
performance evaluation to Directors through 
online platform for convenience of the Board 
members.

h. DISCLOSuRe uNDeR SeCTION 197(12) Of 
THe COMPANIeS ACT, 2013 AND OTHeR 
DISCLOSuReS AS PeR RuLe 5 Of COMPANIeS 
(APPOINTMeNT & ReMuNeRATION) RuLeS, 
2014:
The ratio of the remuneration of each Director 
to the median remuneration of the employees of 
the Company for the financial year under review 
has been mentioned in the Annexure to this 
Report marked as Annexure VI.

i. PAyMeNT Of ReMuNeRATION / COMMISSION 
TO DIReCTORS fROM HOLDING OR SuBSIDIARy 
COMPANIeS:
None of the managerial personnel i.e. 
Managing Director and Whole time Directors 
of the Company is in receipt of remuneration/
commission from the Holding or Subsidiary 
Company of the Company.

4. AuDITORS’ RePORTS:
a. APPOINTMeNT Of AuDITORS:

M/s. R. P. Sardar & Co., Chartered Accountants 
(FRN - 109273W), the Statutory Auditors of the 
Company, were appointed by the members at the 
47th Annual General Meeting (AGM) to hold such 
office till conclusion of the 52nd AGM subject to 
ratification of their appointment by the members 
at every intervening AGM held after 47th AGM.
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), vide 
its commencement Notification No. SO 1833(E) 
dated 7th May, 2018, has notified and amended 
the relevant provision of the Companies Act, 
2013 relating the requirement of placing the 
matter relating to ratification of appointment of 
Statutory Auditors by members at every Annual 
General Meeting. The said amendment has 
done away with the requirement of Ratification 
of appointment of the Statutory Auditors. 
Therefore, M/s. R. P. Sardar & Co., Chartered 
Accountants (FRN - 109273W), will continue 
to hold office till conclusion of the 52nd AGM 
and their appointment will not be subject to 
ratification by the members at every intervening 
AGM held after 47th AGM.

b. MAINTeNANCe Of COST ReCORDS : 
Maintenance of cost records is required as 
specified by the Central Government under sub-
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section (1) of section 148 of the Companies Act, 
2013, and accordingly such accounts and records 
are made and maintained.

c. COST AuDITORS:
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 148 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies 
(Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, the Board 
of Directors on recommendation of the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee, appointed B. 
J. D. Nanabhoy & Co., Cost Accountants as the 
Cost Auditors of the Company for the financial 
year 2019-20 for the applicable Product.
Pursuant to Section 148 of the Act read with the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
appropriate resolutions seeking your ratification 
to the remuneration of the said Cost Auditors are 
appearing in the Notice convening the 49th AGM 
of the Company.

d. SeCReTARIAL AuDITORS:
The Board of Directors of the Company appointed 
M/s. Shirish Shetye & Associates, Practising 
Company Secretaries, Mumbai, to conduct 
Secretarial Audit for the financial year 2019-20. 
The Secretarial Audit Report of M/s. Shirish Shetye 
& Associates, Practising Company Secretaries for 
the financial year 2018-19, is annexed herewith 
as Annexure III. 
During the year under review, the Company has 
complied with the applicable provisions of the 
Secretarial Standards.

5. OTHeR DISCLOSuReS
Other disclosures as per provisions of Section 134 of 
the Act read with Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 
are furnished as under:
a. eXTRACT Of ANNuAL ReTuRN:

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 134(3)
(a) and Section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with Rule 12 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, 
the Annual Return of the Company as at March 
31, 2019 is uploaded on the website of the 
Company and can be accessed at https://www.
themismedicare.com.

b. CONSeRVATION Of eNeRGy, TeCHNOLOGy 
ABSORPTION AND fOReIGN eXCHANGe 
eARNINGS AND OuTGO:
The particulars as required under the provisions 
of Section 134(3) (m) of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) 

Rules, 2014 in respect of conservation of energy, 
technology absorption, foreign exchange 
earnings and outgo etc. are furnished in Annexure 
VII which forms part of this Report.

c. CORPORATe GOVeRNANCe: 
Report on Corporate Governance and Certificate 
of Practising Company Secretary regarding 
compliance of the Conditions of Corporate 
Governance as stipulated in regulation 17 to 
27 and clauses (b) to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of 
regulation 46 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 with 
the Stock Exchanges, are enclosed as a separate 
section and forms part of this report.

d. PReVeNTION Of SeXuAL HARASSMeNT:
We have zero tolerance for sexual harassment 
at the workplace and have adopted a Policy on 
prevention, prohibition and redressal of sexual 
harassment at the workplace in line with the 
provisions of the Sexual Harassment of Women 
at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and 
Redressal) Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder 
for prevention and redressal of Complaints of 
Sexual Harassment at the workplace.
During the financial year ended 31st March, 2019, 
your Company has not received any complaint 
relating to sexual harassment. 

6. MANAGeMeNT DISCuSSION & ANALySIS:
(a) Industry structure and developments: 

During the year 2018-19, the Indian economy 
regained momentum after a slowdown due to 
demonetisation and the implementation of GST 
(Goods and Services Tax). Sustained GDP growth 
is likely to continue though there is a decline in 
growth projections. It is expected that Budget 
focus over rural and unorganised sector will 
stimulate the demand and boost rural growth.
India’s cost of production is significantly lower 
than that of the US and almost half of that of 
Europe. It gives a competitive edge to India over 
others. 
Increase in the size of middle class households 
coupled with the improvement in medical 
infrastructure and increase in the penetration of 
health insurance in the country will also influence 
in the growth of pharmaceuticals sector.
The Industry consisting of Indian and foreign 
players is witnessing increased spends on R&D 
initiatives focusing on expanding traditional 
generic portfolios.
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(b) Opportunities and Threats:
Pharma business being associated with basic 
human needs, introduction of newer and cost 
effective medicines in different therapeutic 
groups enjoys maximum opportunities in a 
densely populated country like India. 
Due to increasing population, income levels and 
awareness, demand for drugs is expected to rise. 
Growing demand could open up the market for 
production of drugs in India.
The government has allocated Rs 31,745 crore 
(US$ 4.64 billion) towards the National Health 
Mission under which rural and urban people 
will get benefited. The increased expenditure 
on healthcare is expected to benefit the 
pharmaceutical sector as well.
India’s generic drug producers hold a strong 
position in the global supply chain and play an 
integral role in developing the pharmaceutical 
industry.
With 70 per cent of India’s population residing 
in rural areas, pharma companies have immense 
opportunities to tap this market. Demand for 
generic medicines in rural markets has seen a 
sharp growth. Various companies are investing in 
the distribution network in rural areas.
Availability of sub-standard products in the 
market, fierce competition as well as Government 
intervention in the pricing policies continue to 
be major threats to the business stability for a 
relatively small size company like ours. However, 
the management is taking all necessary steps 
and continuously adopting strategies not only to 
survive in the market but to perform impressively 
under the current scenario. Your Company’s 
strong foothold on R&D has contributed for 
introduction of many new products over the 
years. The present thrust is mainly in introduction 
of marketing of differentiated injectables in India 
and abroad.
The regulations concerning price control of 
drugs, or making prescriptions of medicines 
by their generic name instead of brand names 
mandatory, too, remain key threats for the 
industry.
Indian pharma companies will face competition 
from big pharma companies, backed by huge 
financial muscle. Generic drugs offer a cost 
effective alternative to drug innovators which 
will result significant savings to customers.

(c) Segment–wise or product-wise performance:
The Company operates in a single segment i.e. 
pharmaceuticals. However, the Company has 
given more thrust for the last many years on 
Formulations SKUs as compared to API. The 
results of the Company under review also depict 
that Formulation business has grown at a much 
faster rate than APIs. 

(d) Outlook: India continues to be one of the 
fastest growing economies in the world and 
this is expected to continue in the financial year 
2019-20. The demand trends in the markets 
is stable and the government initiatives such 
as increases in Minimum Support Price (MSP) 
for Agricultural Produce, provision of health 
insurance like Ayushman Bharat Yojana, Pradhan 
Mantri Bhartiya Jan Aushadhi Pariyojana Kendra, 
direct money transfer etc. will lend further 
impetus to the rural economy. Inclusive GDP 
growth will augur well for the overall economy. 
Commodity inflation, potential disruptions due 
to global events and a likelihood of below normal 
monsoon this year are possible headwinds which 
the business will need to navigate with caution.
Your Company’s strategy to lead premiumisation, 
market development, build channels of the 
future whilst keeping the sustainable living plan 
at its core, will enable it to create long-term value 
for all stakeholders. 
Your Company will continue to focus on being 
Purpose-led and Future fit.

(e) Risks and concerns: Like all businesses, the 
business of your Company is also exposed to few 
risks.
In the past few years, the Government of India 
has made frequent changes in the drug pricing 
and other laws impacting the operations of 
the Company. Further, adverse changes in 
government policies with respect to essential 
medicines and pricing with respect to the 
products may reduce margins of the Company. 
Besides, actions taken by the competition 
can result in adverse orders being passed by 
Governmental and regulatory authorities leading 
to severe disruption in your Company’s business, 
unwanted litigation thereby severely impacting 
the Company and its business partners.
Risks, liabilities and losses are part and parcel of 
any industry and need to be tackled through well 
forecasted strategies and actions. To mitigate and 
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avoid risks in the current scenario, the Company 
is focusing on shifting API to Formulation 
business and also improving its market access 
for the existing products. We have a robust risk 
management system, wherein we proactively 
identify potential risks and accordingly devise 
our short-term and long-term strategies 
to mitigate any risk which could materially 
impact your Company’s long-term goals.
Besides, the risks in Domestic market there are 
various risks in the International markets as well, 
an important one being regulatory risk, Plant 
inspections, vendor approvals, etc. 

(f) Internal control systems and their adequacy: 
The Company has proper and adequate system 
of internal audit and controls which ensure 
that all the assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition and that 
all transactions are authorised, recorded and 
reported correctly. The Company continuously 
strives to improve upon/evolve and implement 
best practices for each of its major functional 
areas with a view to strengthen its internal 
control systems. The Company has assigned 
internal audit function to leading firms of 
Chartered Accountants at its different locations. 
Regular internal audit and checks are carried 
out to ensure that the responsibilities are 
discharged effectively. All major findings and 
suggestions arising out of internal audit are 
reported and reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. The Management 
ensures implementation of these suggestions 
and reviews them periodically.
Other statutory requirements especially, in 
respect of pharmaceutical business are also 
vigorously followed in order to have better 
internal controls over the affairs of the Company.

(g) Discussion on financial performance with 
respect to operational performance:
The operational performance during the year 
under review was not on expected lines. There was 
a major disruption in the Company’s business due 
to a restrictive order passed by Governmental/
Regulatory authroties in respect of one the 
important products resulting in a major litigation 
and quarantining the stocks of the product 
pending outcome of the litigation.AS on date the 
matter is still sub judice. Shift of business focus to 
Formulation activity has started showing positive 
operational performance results. 

(h) Material developments in Human Resources / 
Industrial Relations front, including number of 
people employed: In the current age of dynamic, 
challenging and changing business environment, 
your Company believes that its ‘People’ i.e. 
‘Human Capital’ is its important and vital asset. 
Your Company continues to harness and improve 
competencies and skills of its Human Capital 
through training and development programs. 
The core of the Human Resource philosophy at 
Themis is empowering human resources towards 
achievement of Company aspirations. The 
overall industrial industrial relations atmosphere 
continued to be cordial. Your Company has 
a diverse mix of youth and experience which 
nurtures the business. As on March 31, 2019 the 
total employee strength was 1113. Our objective 
to build organizational capability through skill 
development across levels ensures that we invest 
in training and enhancing people skills in line with 
the dynamic business needs. In our endeavour to 
be employee centric, your Company revamped 
existing HR policies to be more people friendly 
and offered them a better work life balance. 
We continued to rely on technology to reach 
out to employees and improve efficiencies by 
automating policies and work flows. During 
the current year, HR would focus on enabling 
change to deliver the desired business outcomes. 
The objective is to create an HR organisation 
focusing on responding to business challenges of 
tomorrow.

7. ACKNOWLeDGeMeNTS AND APPReCIATION:
Your Directors take this opportunity to thank 
the customers, shareholders, suppliers, bankers, 
business partners/associates, collaborators, 
employees, financial institutions and Central and 
State Governments for their consistent support and 
encouragement to the Company.

for and on behalf of the Board of Directors

              Sd/-                                                     Sd/-
Dr. Sachin D. Patel  H. Dhanrajgir
Managing Director & CEO Independent Director
DIN: 00033353 DIN: 00004006

Place: Mumbai
Dated: 28th May, 2019
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Annexure I
PeRfORMANCe Of SuBSIDIARIeS, ASSOCIATeS AND JOINT VeNTuRe COMPANIeS 

(Information in respect of each subsidiary / Associate Companies /  
Joint Venture Companies to be presented with amounts in `)

form AOC-1

Part-A

Name of the subsidiary/Joint 
Venture/Associate Companies

Subsidiary Companies
Artemis Biotech Ltd.
(CIN No. U24233 
MH2011PLC212359)

Themis Lifestyle Pvt. Ltd
(CIN No. U33111 
MH2010PTC209797)

Carpo Medical Limited 
(UK)(2)

1 Reporting period for the subsidiary 
concerned, if different from the 
holding company’s reporting 
period

NA NA NA

2 Reporting currency and Exchange 
rate as on the last date of the 
relevant Financial Year in the case 
of foreign subsidiaries.

INR INR GBP (£)

3 Share capital INR. 5,00,000/-, 50000 
Equity Shares of `10/- 

each

INR. 1,00,000/-,
10000 Equity Shares of 

`10/- each

INR 84,280/-, 1000 
Equity Shares of GBP (£) 

1 each.
4 Reserves and Surplus 582417.01 (119655) (75,47,695.37)
5 Total Assets 60381.99 21549 44,83,226.12
6 Total Liabilities 142799 41204 1,27,85,274.31
7 Investments NIL Nil Nil
8 Turnover NIL Nil Nil
9 Profit before taxation (506278.51) (45011) (18,19,963.16)
10 Provision for taxation NIL Nil Nil
11 Profit after taxation (506278.51) (45011) (18,19,963.16)
12 Proposed Dividend - - Nil
13 % of shareholding 95% 99% 90%

1) Financial reporting period of all subsidiaries is 31st March, 2019.
2) Exchange rate considered for translation of financial statement of Carpo Medical Limited (UK) is as per Ind AS 21.

3) Figures in the bracket indicates ‘Negative’ figures.

Names of the subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations.
- Artemis Biotech Ltd. (CIN No. U24233MH2011PLC212359)

- Themis Lifestyle Pvt. Ltd. (CIN No. U33111MH2010PTC209797)

Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year: NA
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Part-B

Statement Pursuant to Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate Companies and 
Joint Ventures

Name of Associate /  
Joint Venture

Associates Joint Venture
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Ltd 

(CIN No. L24230 
GJ1981PLC004878)

Long Island Nutritionals. 
Pvt. Ltd.

(CIN No. u15500 
MH1995PTC087434)

Richter Themis Medicare 
(India) Pvt. Ltd.

(CIN No. u24230 
GJ2004PTC044969)

1.  Latest audited Balance 
Sheet Date

31.03.2019 31.03.2019 31.03.2019

2.  Shares of Associate held 
by the company on the 
year end

Equity Shares Equity Shares Equity Shares

3. No.  of Shares 33,69,605 26,208 68,60,000

4.  Amount of Investment in 
Associates (`)

3,36,96,000 38,06,000 6,86,00,000

5. Extend of Holding% 23.19% 37.14% 49%

6.  Description of how there 
is significant influence

Since there is 23.19% 
investment and also 

representing the Board

Since there is 37.14% 
investment and also 

representing the Board

Since it’s a Joint Venture 
and Company holds 49% of 

Share Capital.

7.  Reason why the associate 
/ joint venture is not 
consolidated

Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated

8.  Networth attributable to 
shareholding as per latest 
audited Balance Sheet 

4,29,46,708 (2,36,26,558) 15,43,57,512

9. Profit/Loss for the year

i. Considered in Consolidation 1,48,62,443 (19,09,039) 2,29,09,558

ii.  Not Considered in 
Consolidation

4,92,27,437 (32,31,077) 2,38,44,642

Notes:

1. Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations: Nil

2. Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year: Nil
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PReAMBLe
Pursuant to Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 
and Regulation 19 of Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”) , the Board 
of Directors of every listed Company shall constitute 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The 
Company has already constituted Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee comprising of three Non-
Executive Independent Directors as members of the 
Committee as required under Listing Regulations.
OBJeCTIVeS
The Key Objectives of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee would be:
a) To guide the Board in relation to appointment and 

removal of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel 
and Senior Management;

b) To evaluate the performance of the members of 
the Board and provide necessary report to the 
Board for further evaluation;

c) To recommend to the Board on Remuneration 
payable to the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel 
and Senior Management;

d) To provide to Key Managerial Personnel and Senior 
Management reward linked directly to their effort, 
performance, dedication and achievement relating 
to company’s performance;

e) To retain, motivate and promote talent and 
to ensure long term sustainability of talented 
managerial persons and create competitive 
advantage;

f) To enable the company for competing effectively 
in the labour market and to recruit and retain high 
caliber staff;

g) To operate at minimum rate of labour turnover.
DefINITIONS
“Act” means the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules 
framed thereunder as amended from time to time.
“Board” means Board of Directors of the Company.
“Company” means “Themis Medicare Limited.”
“Directors” mean Directors of the Company.
“Employees’ Stock Option” means the option given 

to the Directors, officers or employees of a company 
or of its holding company or subsidiary company or 
companies, if any, which gives such Directors, officers 
or employees, the benefit or right to purchase, or to 
subscribe for, the shares of the company at a future 
date at a pre-determined price.
“Independent Director” means a Director referred to 
in Section 149 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013.
“Key Managerial Personnel” (KMP) means:
• Chief Executive Officer or the Managing Director or 

the Manager,
• Company Secretary,
• Whole-time Director,
• Chief Financial Officer and
• Such other officer as may be prescribed.
“Nomination and Remuneration Committee” 
shall mean a Committee of Board of Directors of 
the Company, constituted in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 
and the Listing Agreement.
“Policy or This Policy” means, “Nomination and 
Remuneration Policy.”
“Remuneration” means any money or its equivalent 
given or passed to any person for services rendered 
by  him and includes perquisites as defined under the 
Income-tax Act, 1961.
“Senior Management” means personnel of the 
Company who are members of its core management 
team excluding Board of Directors. This would include 
all members of management one level below the 
executive Directors, including all the functional heads.
INTeRPReTATION
Terms that have not been defined in this Policy shall 
have the same meaning assigned to them in the 
Companies Act, 2013, Listing Agreement and/or any 
other SEBI Regulation(s) as amended from time to time.
GuIDING PRINCIPLeS
The Policy ensures that
− The level and composition of remuneration is 

reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and 
motivate Directors of the quality required to run 
the Company successfully.

Annexure II
Nomination and Remuneration Policy
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− Relationship of remuneration to performance 
is clear and meets appropriate performance 
benchmarks and

− Remuneration to Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and Senior Management involves a 
balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting 
short and long term performance objectives 
appropriate to the working of the Company and its 
goals.

ROLe Of THe COMMITTee
The role of the Committee inter alia will be the following:
a) To formulate a criteria for determining qualifications, 

positive attributes and independence of a Director.
b) Formulate criteria for evaluation of Independent 

Directors and the Board.
c) Identify persons who are qualified to become 

Directors and who may be appointed in Senior 
Management in accordance with the criteria laid 
down in this policy.

d) To carry out evaluation of every Director’s 
performance.

e) To recommend to the Board the appointment and 
removal of Directors and Senior Management.

f) To recommend to the Board policy relating to 
remuneration for Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and Senior Management.

g) Ensure that level and composition of remuneration 
is reasonable and sufficient, relationship of 
remuneration to performance is clear and meets 
appropriate performance benchmarks.

h) To devise a policy on Board diversity.
i) To carry out any other function as is mandated 

by the Board from time to time and / or enforced 
by any statutory notification, amendment or 
modification, as may be applicable.

j) To perform such other functions as may be 
necessary or appropriate for the performance of 
its duties.

MeMBeRSHIP
a) The Committee shall comprise at least three (3) 

Directors, all of whom shall be non-executive 
Directors and at least half shall be Independent.

b) The Board shall reconstitute the Committee as and 
when required to comply with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and applicable statutory 
requirement.

c) Minimum two (2) members shall constitute a 
quorum for the Committee meeting.

d) Membership of the Committee shall be disclosed 
in the Annual Report.

e) Term of the Committee shall be continued unless 
terminated by the Board of Directors.

CHAIRMAN
a) Chairman of the Committee shall be an Independent 

Director. 
b) In the absence of the Chairman, the members of 

the Committee present at the meeting shall choose 
one amongst them to act as Chairman.

c) Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee could be present at the Annual General 
Meeting or may nominate some other member to 
answer the shareholders’ queries.

fReQueNCy Of MeeTINGS
The meeting of the Committee shall be held at such 
regular intervals as may be required.
COMMITTee MeMBeRS’ INTeReSTS
a) A member of the Committee is not entitled to 

be present when his or her own remuneration 
is discussed at a meeting or when his or her 
performance is being evaluated.

b) The Committee may invite such executives, as 
it considers appropriate, to be present at the 
meetings of the Committee.

VOTING
a) Matters arising for determination at Committee 

meetings shall be decided by a majority of votes of 
Members present and voting and any such decision 
shall for all purposes be deemed a decision of the 
Committee.

b) In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman of 
the meeting will have a casting vote.

APPOINTMeNT AND ReMOVAL Of DIReCTOR, KMP 
AND SeNIOR MANAGeMeNT
• Appointment criteria and qualifications:

a) The Committee shall identify and ascertain the 
integrity, qualification, expertise and experience 
of the person for appointment as Director, KMP 
or at Senior Management level and recommend 
to the Board his / her appointment.

b) A person should possess adequate qualification, 
expertise and experience for the position he / she 
is considered for appointment. The Committee 
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has discretion to decide whether qualification, 
expertise and experience possessed by a person 
are sufficient / satisfactory for the concerned 
position.

c) The Company shall not appoint or continue 
the employment of any person as Managing 
Director/Whole-time Director/Manager who 
has attained the age of seventy years. Provided 
that the term of the person holding this 
position may be extended beyond the age of 
seventy years with the approval of shareholders 
by passing a special resolution based on the 
explanatory statement annexed to the notice 
for such motion indicating the justification for 
extension of appointment beyond seventy 
years.

• Term / Tenure:
(a) Managing Director / Whole-time Director / 

Executive Director:
The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any 
person as its Executive Chairman, Managing 
Director, Whole Time Director or Executive 
Director for a term not exceeding five years at a 
time. No re-appointment shall be made earlier 
than one year before the expiry of term. 
At the time of appointment of Whole Time 
Director it should be ensured that number 
of Boards on which such Director serves is 
restricted to three listed companies as an 
Independent Director in case such person is 
serving as a Whole-time Director of a listed 
company or such other number as may be 
prescribed from time to time.

(b) Independent Director:
An Independent Director shall hold office for 
a term up to five consecutive years on the 
Board of the Company and will be eligible 
for re-appointment on passing of a special 
resolution by the Company and disclosure of 
such appointment in the Board's Report.
No Independent Director shall hold office for 
more than two consecutive terms of upto 
maximum of 5 years each, but such Independent 
Director shall be eligible for appointment after 
expiry of three years of ceasing to become 
an Independent Director. Provided that an 
Independent Director shall not, during the 
said period of three years, be appointed in or 
be associated with the Company in any other 
capacity, either directly or indirectly.

At the time of appointment of Independent 
Director it should be ensured that number of 
Boards on which such Independent Director 
serves is restricted to seven listed companies as 
an Independent Director or such other number 
as may be prescribed from time to time.

(c) Evaluation
The Committee shall carry out evaluation of 
performance of every Director, Key Managerial 
Personnel and Senior Management Personnel 
at regular interval.

(d) Removal
Due to reasons for any disqualification 
mentioned in the Act or under any other 
applicable Act, rules and regulations there 
under, the Committee may recommend, to 
the Board with reasons recorded in writing, 
removal of a Director, Key Managerial Personnel 
or Senior Management Personnel subject to the 
provisions and compliance of the said Act, rules 
and regulations.

(e) Retirement
The Director, Key Managerial Personnel and 
Senior Management Personnel shall retire as 
per the applicable provisions of the Act and the 
prevailing policy of the Company. The Board 
will have the discretion to retain the Director, 
Key Managerial Personnel, Senior Management 
Personnel in the same position / remuneration 
or otherwise even after attaining the retirement 
age, for the benefit of the Company.

PROVISIONS ReLATING TO ReMuNeRATION 
Of MANAGeRIAL PeRSON, KMP AND SeNIOR 
MANAGeMeNT
• General:

1. The remuneration / compensation / commission 
etc. to Managerial Person, KMP and Senior 
Management Personnel will be determined by 
the Committee and recommended to the Board 
for approval. The remuneration / compensation 
/ commission etc. shall be subject to the prior/
post approval of the shareholders of the 
Company and Central Government, wherever 
required.

2. The remuneration and commission to be paid to 
Managerial Person shall be as per the statutory 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, and the 
rules made thereunder for the time being in 
force.
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3. Increments to the existing remuneration / 
compensation structure may be recommended 
by the Committee to the Board which should be 
within the slabs approved by the Shareholders 
in the case of Managerial Person. Increments 
will be effective from the date of reappointment 
in respect of  Managerial Person and 1st April in 
respect of other employees of the Company.

4. Where any insurance is taken by the Company 
on behalf of its Managerial Person, KMP and 
any other employees for indemnifying them 
against any liability, the premium paid on such 
insurance shall not be treated as part of the 
remuneration payable to any such personnel. 
Provided that if such person is proved to be 
guilty, the premium paid on such insurance 
shall be treated as part of the remuneration.

• Remuneration to Managerial Person, KMP and 
Senior Management:
1. Fixed pay:

Managerial Person, KMP and Senior 
Management shall be eligible for a monthly 
remuneration as may be approved by the Board 
on the recommendation of the Committee in 
accordance with the statutory provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made 
thereunder for the time being in force. The 
break-up of the pay scale and quantum of 
perquisites including, employer’s contribution 
to P.F, pension scheme, medical expenses, 
club fees etc. shall be decided and approved 
by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Committee and approved by the shareholders 
and Central Government, wherever required.

2. Minimum Remuneration:
If, in any financial year, the Company has no 
profits or its profits are inadequate, the Company 
shall pay remuneration to its Managerial Person 
in accordance with the provisions of Schedule V 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and if it is not able 
to comply with such provisions, with the prior 
approval of the Central Government. 

3. Provisions for excess remuneration:
If any Managerial Person draws or receives, 
directly or indirectly by way of remuneration 
any such sums in excess of the limits prescribed 
under the Companies Act, 2013 or without 
the prior sanction of the Central Government, 

where required, he / she shall refund such 
sums to the Company and until such sum is 
refunded, hold it in trust for the Company. The 
Company shall not waive recovery of such sum 
refundable to it unless permitted by the Central 
Government.

• Remuneration to Non-Executive / Independent 
Director:
1. Remuneration / Commission:

The remuneration / commission shall be in 
accordance with the statutory provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made 
thereunder for the time being in force.

2. Sitting Fees:
The Non- Executive / Independent Director 
may receive remuneration by way of fees for 
attending meetings of Board or Committee 
thereof. Provided that the amount of such 
fees shall not exceed the maximum amount 
as provided in the Companies Act, 2013, per 
meeting of the Board or Committee or such 
amount as may be prescribed by the Central 
Government from time to time.

3. Limit of Remuneration /Commission:
Remuneration /Commission may be paid within 
the monetary limit approved by shareholders, 
subject to the limit not exceeding 1% of the net 
profits of the Company computed as per the 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013.

4. Stock Options:
An Independent Director shall not be entitled to 
any stock option of the Company.
MINuTeS Of COMMITTee MeeTING
Proceedings of all meetings must be minuted 
and signed by the Chairman of the said meeting 
or the Chairman of the next succeeding 
meeting. Minutes of the Committee meeting 
will be tabled at the subsequent Board and 
Committee meeting.
DeVIATIONS fROM THIS POLICy
Deviations on elements of this policy in 
extraordinary circumstances, when deemed 
necessary in the interests of the Company, will 
be made if there are specific reasons to do so in 
an individual case.
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Annexure III
form No. MR-3

SeCReTARIAL AuDIT RePORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2019

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No. 9 of the Companies  
(Appointment and Remuneration Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
Themis Medicare Limited,

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the 
compliance of applicable statutory provisions and 
the adherence to good corporate practices by Themis 
Medicare Limited (hereinafter called “the Company”). 
The Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner 
that provided me a reasonable basis for evaluating 
the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and 
expressing my opinion thereon.
Based on my verification of the Company’s books, 
papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 
other relevant records maintained by the Company 
and also the information provided by the Company, its 
officers, agents and authorised representatives during 
the conduct of Secretarial Audit, I hereby report that 
in my opinion, the Company has, during the audit 
period covering the financial year ended on 31st 
March, 2019, complied with the statutory provisions 
listed hereunder and also that the Company has 
proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism 
in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to 
the reporting made hereinafter:
I have examined the books, papers, minute books, 
forms and returns filed and other records maintained 
by the Company for the financial year ended on 31st 
March, 2019 according to the provisions of:
(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the 

rules made there under;
(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulations) Act, 1956 

(‘SCRA’) and the Rules made there under;
(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations 

and Bye-laws framed there under;
(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and 

the rules and regulations made there under 
to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, 
Overseas Direct Investment and External 
Commercial Borrowings;

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines 
prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):

(a) Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligation and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations 2015;

(b) The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares 
and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

(c) The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
Regulations, 2015 (as amended);

(d) The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2009 (as 
amended);

(e) The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Share Based Employee Benefits) 
Regulations, 2014;

(f) The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Registrars to an Issue and Share 
Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 (as 
amended) regarding the Companies Act 
and dealing with client;

(vi) Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act, 1952;

(vii) Employees State Insurance Act, 1948;
(viii) Employers Liability Act, 1938;
(ix) Employment Exchange (Compulsory Notification 

of Vacancies) Rules, 1968;
(x) Environment Protection Act, 1986 and other 

environmental laws;
(xi) The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 

(Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013;
(xii) Equal Remuneration Act, 1976;
(xiii) Factories Act, 1948 and the rules made there 

under;
(xiv) The Contract Labour (Regulation and Abolition) 

Act, 1970;
(xv) Water (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act, 

1974, Environment (Protection) Act, 1986, 
Air (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act, 
1981 and Hazardous Wastes (Management 
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& Handling) Rules, 1989 and Amendment 
Rule, 2003, Hazardous Wastes (Management, 
Handling and Transboundry Movement) Rules, 
2008 and amendments thereof;

(xvi) Indian Boiler Act, 1923;
(xvii) Indian Contract Act, 1872;
(xviii) Professional Tax Act, 1975;
(xix) Indian Stamp Act, 1999 read with The Bombay 

Stamp Act, 1958;
(xx) Industrial Dispute Act, 1947;
(xxi) Maternity Benefits Act, 1961;
(xxii) Minimum Wages Act, 1948;
(xxiii) Negotiable Instruments Act, 1881;
(xxiv) Payment of Bonus Act, 1965;
(xxv) Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972;
(xxvi) Payment of Wages Act, 1936 and other 

applicable labour laws;
(xxvii) The National & Festival Holidays Act, 1963;
(xxviii) Pharmacy Act, 1948;
(xxix) Drugs and Cosmetics Act, 1940;
(xxx) Drug (Prices Control) Order, 2013;
(xxxi) Drugs and Magic Remedies (Objectionable 

Advertisement) Act, 1954;
(xxxii) Food Safety & Standard Act, 2006;
(xxxiii) Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances 

Act,1985;
(xxxiv) The Medicinal & Toilet Preparations (Excise 

Duties) Act, 1955;
(xxxv) Bombay Prohibition Act, 1949;
(xxxvi) Petroleum Act,1934;
(xxxvii) Poisons Act, 1919;
(xxxviii) The Indian Copyright Act,1957;
(xxxix) The Patents Act, 1970;
(xl) The Trade Marks Act, 1999.

I have also examined compliances with the 
applicable clauses of the following:

(g) Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India.

(i) The Listing Agreements entered into by the 
Company with BSE Limited and National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited.
During the period under review the 
Company has complied with the provisions 
of the Acts, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above subject to 
the following observations:

1. The Company is required to spent Rs.24.56 
lakhs as CSR contribution for the financial 
year 2018-19, which was not spent.

2. The Company has not made payment of 
minimum wages to Plant Workman category 
employees, at Hyderabad Unit, as required 
to be paid in Telangana State.

I further report that:
The Board of Directors of the Company is duly 
constituted with proper balance of Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Director and Independent 
Directors. The changes in the composition of the 
Board of Directors that took place during the period 
under review were carried out in compliance with the 
provisions of the Act.
Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule 
the Board Meeting, agenda and detailed notes on 
agenda were sent at least seven days in advance 
and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further 
information and clarifications on the agenda items 
before the meeting and for meaningful participation 
at the meeting.
Majority decision is carried through with unanimous 
consent or while the dissenting members’ views are 
capture and recorded as part of the minutes.
I further report that there are adequate systems 
and processes in the Company commensurate with 
the size and operations of the Company to monitor 
and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and guidelines, except observations made 
above.

CS Shirish Shetye
Place: Mumbai Practicing Company Secretary
Date: 28th May, 2019 FCS 1926; CP No. 825
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Annexure IV
Disclosure of details pertaining to the shares allotted under Employees Stock Option Scheme under the 
provisions of Section 62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Share Based Employee Benefits) 
Regulations, 2014 during the year under review: 
In case if the voting rights are not directly exercised, to provide additional details as specified in Rule 16(4) of 
the Companies (Share Capital and Debenture) Rules, 2014. 
Total No. of Shares covered by eSOP Scheme approved by the Shareholders 400,000 (Four Lakhs) Equity Shares
Grant I II
Options granted (01.04.2018 to 31.03.2019) 0 0
Options vested(01.04.2018 to 31.03.2019) 0 17,920
Options exercised(01.04.2018 to 31.03.2019) 0 0
The total number of shares arising as a result of exercise of option 0 0
Options forfeited 0 0
Options lapsed (01.04.2018 to 31.03.2019) 1,500 4,050
Extinguishment or modification of options 0 0
The exercise price 77.85 334.75
Pricing formula As per the ESOS Scheme approved by 

the members of the Company.
Variation of terms of options NA NA
Money realized by exercise of options 0 0
Total number of options in force (Themis ESOS 2012) as on 31.03.2019 34,478
Employee wise details of options granted to:
- Key Managerial Personnel & Senior Managerial Personnel
- Any other employee who receives a grant of options in any one year of option amounting to 5% 

or more of options granted during that year
NA NA

Identified employees who were granted option, during any one year, equal to or exceeding 1% of the 
issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the Company at the time of grant.

NA NA

Diluted EPS calculated in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 33 NA NA

Annexure to the Secretarial Auditors Report for the financial year ended March 31, 2019

To, 28th May, 2019
The Members,
Themis Medicare Ltd.

My report of even date is to be read with this letter:
(1) Maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the company. My responsibility 

is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on my audit.
(2) I have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about 

the correctness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure 
that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. I believe that the processes and practices, I followed 
provide a reasonable basis for my opinion.

(3) I have not verified the correctness and appropriate of financial records and Books of accounts of the company.
(4) Wherever require I have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of laws, rules and 

regulations and happening of event etc.
(5) The compliance of the provisions of corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standard is the 

responsibility of management. My examination was limited to the verification of procedure on test basis.
(6) The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the company nor the 

efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the company.
                     SD/-

Shirish Shetye
  Practicing Company Secretary
  FCS 1926: CP No. 825
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Annexure V
ANNuAL RePORT ON CORPORATe SOCIAL ReSPONSIBILITy (CSR) ACTIVITIeS 

(i) A brief outline of the company's CSR Policy, including overview of projects or programs proposed to be 
undertaken and a reference to the web-link to the CSR Policy and projects or programs.
The Company has assumed the responsibility to contribute to create positive and lasting social impact by 
addressing various needs of the society through its CSR programs. The Company has adopted its CSR Policy 
striving for economic and social development that positively impacts the society at large. CSR Policy of 
the Company provides the overview of projects or programs which are proposed to be undertaken by the 
Company. 
The Policy on CSR adopted by the Company is available at http://www.themismedicare.com/wp-content/
uploads/2016/12/CSR-Policy.pdf 

(ii) The Composition of the CSR Committee : The composition of the CSR Committee is as under:
• Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir, (Chairman)
• Mr. H. Subramaniam, (Member)
• Dr. Sachin D. Patel, (Member)

(iii) Average net profit of the company for last three financial years:
Average Net Profit: 1231.18 Lakhs

(iv) Prescribed CSR expenditure (two per cent. of the amount as in item 3 above):
Average net profit Rs. 1227.88 Lakhs
CSR spending @2% = Rs. 24.56 Lakhs

(v) Details of CSR spent during the financial year
a) Total amount to be spent for the financial year: 24.56 Lakhs
b) Total amount spent for the financial year : Ni
c) Amount unspent, if any: 24.56 Lakhs
d) Manner in which the amount spent during the financial year is detailed below-
Sr. 
No.

CSR 
project or 
activity 
identified

Sector in which the 
project is covered 
(Schedule VII of the 
Companies Act, 2013)

(Note 1)

Projects or programme:
(i)  Local area or other
(ii)  Specify the State or 

District where the 
projects or programmes 
was undertaken

Amount 
outlay 
(Budget) 
project or 
programme 
wise

Amount spent on 
project or programs: 
Sub head: 1. Direct 
expenditure on project 
or programme; 2. 
Overhead

Cumulative 
expenditure 
up to the 
date of 
reporting

Amount 
spent:
Direct or 
through 
implementing
agencies*

- NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

(vi) In case the Company has failed to spend the two percent of the average net profit of the last three 
financial years or any part thereof, the Company shall provide the reasons for not spending the amount 
in its Board Report:-
Every year the Company tries to identify the deserving set of people who can take benefit of Company’s 
CSR activities. During the year 2018-19, the Company tried to identify such group of people. However, it 
took more than considerable time to identify the people for CSR activity. Therefore, the Company could not 
spend on the CSR activities during the year under review. However, the Company is committed to spend 
during the current financial year the amount which may be required to be spent for CSR activities during 
the current year.

(vii) CSR Committee hereby confirms that the implementation and monitoring of CSR Policy, is in compliance 
with CSR objectives and CSR Policy of the Company. 

for and on behalf of the Board of Directors

 SD/-         SD/-
Dr Sachin D. Patel     Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir
Managing Director / Whole Time Director Chairman – CSR Committee 

Place: Mumbai
Dated: 28th May, 2019
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Annexure VI
INfORMATION PuRSuANT TO SeCTION 197(12) Of THe COMPANIeS ACT, 2013 ReAD WITH RuLe 5(1) Of THe 
COMPANIeS (APPOINTMeNT AND ReMuNeRATION Of MANAGeRIAL PeRSONNeL) RuLeS, 2014

1. The percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
of the Company and ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the 
employees of the Company for the financial year 2018-19:

Name % Increase / (Decrease) in 
the remuneration 

Ratio of the remuneration of each Director / 
to median remuneration of the employees.  

Executive Directors
Mrs. Jayshree Dinesh Patel 8.87 35.31
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel 
(Executive Vice Chairman)

5.64 52.28

Dr. Sachin D. Patel 
(Managing Director & CEO)

6.16 49.11

Other KMPs
Mr. Sangameshwar Iyer (a)

(Company Secretary)
- N/A

Mr Tushar Dalal
(Chief Financial Officer)

27.98 N/A

Notes:
a) Mr. Sangameshwar Iyer was appointed as Company Secretary w.e.f 21.08.2017. He held the office of Company Secretary 

for the part of the Financial year 2017-18. Therefore, the remuneration paid to him for the financial year 2018-19 is not 
comparable to remuneration paid to him during the year 2017-18 for part of that year. Therefore, percentage Increase in 
the remuneration disclosure is not applicable.

b) The Company has not paid any remuneration to its Non Executive and Independent Directors except sitting fees for attending 
Board and Board Committees meeting.

2) The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the financial year : 13.68%
3) The number of permanent employees on the rolls of the Company: 1113.
4) Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial  

Personnel in the last financial year and its comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial 
remuneration and justification thereof and point out if there are any exceptional circumstances for 
increase in the managerial remuneration: 
Average percentile increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the 
last financial year i.e. 2018-19 was 8.96%, while the increase in the remuneration of managerial personnel 
was 30.60 %. 
Average percentile increase in the remuneration of the employees other than the Managerial Personnel 
and that of the managerial personnel is in line with the industry practice and is within the normal range.

5) It is affirmed that the remuneration paid to Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other Employees is 
as per the Remuneration Policy of the Company.
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(A) Conservation of energy:
Your Company has three manufacturing plants in India at Vapi. Hyderabad and Haridwar. 
Steps taken or impact on conservation 
of energy

The Company attaches a great deal of importance to energy conservation. 
Efforts to conserve Energy continued during the year through timely 
preventive maintenance and inspection of major plant and Machinery. 
Company at its Haridwar Factory has taken steps for conservation energy 
by replacing CfL lights with LeD lights which are extremely energy 
efficient and consume less power compared to CFL and other lights to 
save electricity bill

Steps taken by the company for 
utilizing alternate sources of energy

NA

Capital investment on energy 
conservation equipments

Nil

(B) Technology absorption:
Efforts made towards technology 
absorption

NA

Benefits derived like product 
improvement, cost reduction, product 
development or import substitution

NA

In case of imported technology (imported during the last three years reckoned from the beginning of the 
financial year):
• Details of technology imported NA
• year of import NA
• Whether the technology has been 

fully absorbed
NA

• If not fully absorbed, areas where 
absorption has not taken place, 
and the reasons thereof

NA

expenditure incurred on Research 
and Development

Rs. 458.46/- Lakhs 

(C) foreign exchange earnings and Outgo:
Particulars 1st April, 2018 to 

31st March, 2019
[Current F.Y.]

1st April, 2017 to 
31st March, 2018

[Previous F.Y.]
Amount in (Rs. Lakhs) Amount in (Rs. Lakhs)

Actual foreign exchange earnings 6674.95 4218.29
Actual foreign exchange outgo 442.95 612.81

Annexure VII
DISCLOSuRe PuRSuANT TO SeCTION 134(3)(M) Of THe COMPANIeS ACT 2013 ReAD WITH RuLe 8 Of THe 
COMPANIeS (ACCOuNTS), RuLeS 2014
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1. COMPANy’S PHILOSOPHy ON CODe Of GOVeRNANCe
The Governance Philosophy of your Company is based on strong foundations of ethical values and 
professionalism which over the past 50 years of the Company’s existence has become a part of its culture. 
Corporate governance is about commitment to values and ethical business conduct. It is about how an 
organisation is managed. Timely and accurate disclosure of information regarding the financial situation, 
performance, ownership and management of the Company is an important part of corporate governance. 
The Company has always been committed to the principles of good corporate governance.
At Themis, we also consider it our inherent responsibility to disclose timely and accurate information 
regarding our financials and performance, as well as the leadership and governance of the Company. All 
Themisians are committed to a balanced corporate governance system, which provides the framework for 
achieving the Company’s objectives encompassing practically every sphere of management, from action 
plans and internal controls to corporate disclosures.
Your Company is not only in compliance with the requirements stipulated under the SEBI (Listing Obligations 
& Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI LODR”) as amended from time to time, with regard 
to corporate governance, but is also committed to sound corporate governance principles and practices 
and constantly strives to adopt emerging best corporate governance practices being followed worldwide.
A report on compliance with corporate governance principles as prescribed under the SEBI LODR is given 
below.

2. BOARD Of DIReCTORS
I. Composition and Category:

→ The Board of the Company has an optimum combination of Professional Independent Directors 
as well as Executive and Non-Executive Directors to maintain the independence of the Board. 
The Independent Directors on the Board are as statutorily required, resulting in professional and 
business acumen of all fields at the Board level. The Chairman of the Board is an Independent 
Non- Executive Non-Promoter Director.

→ The present strength of the Board is Eleven Directors comprising four Indian Independent 
Professional Directors, Two Directors representing Foreign Collaborators/Promoters, Four 
Indian Promoter Directors of which one is Managing Director and CEO and two are Whole Time 
Directors and one is an Alternate Director. Besides the above, there is one Non-Executive Non-
Independent Director.

II. Appointment and Tenure:
→ The Directors of the Company are appointed by members at General Meetings and two-third 

of the Directors, other than Independent Directors are liable to retire by rotation pursuant to 
the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. The Whole time Directors on the Board serve in 
accordance with the terms of their contract of service with the Company.

III. Board Independence:
→ Based on the confirmation/disclosures received from the Directors and on evaluation of the 

relationships disclosed, all the Non-Executive – Independent Directors including the Chairman 
are independent in terms of SEBI (Listing and Obligation Disclosure Requirement), Regulation, 
2015.

Report on Corporate Governance
[Pursuant to Part C of Schedule V of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 (“Listing Regulations”)]
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IV. Composition of Board, Directorships and attendance of each Director at the Board of Directors 
Meetings and at the last AGM, is as follows:
Name of the 
Director

Designation Category No. of 
Board 

Meetings 
attended

Last AGM 
Attended

Directorships# Number of 
Committee positions 
held in other listed 

Companies##
Chairman Member

Mr. Hoshang N. 
Sinor

Chairman Independent 
Director

5 Yes 3 2 1

Mr. Humayun
Dhanrajgir

Director Independent 
Director

4 No 3 1 1

Mr. Vijay
Agarwal

Director Independent 
Director

3 No 4 4 8

Mr. Hariharan
Subramaniam

Director Independent 
Director 

1 No 1 1 1

Mr. Rajneesh
Anand

Director Non-
Executive Non 
Independent

5 Yes 1 1 0

Dr. Gabor Gulacsi* Additional 
Director

Representing
Promoter / 

Non-Executive

0 No 1 0 0

Mr. Lajos Kovacs Director Representing
Promoter / 

Non-Executive

1 No 1 0 0

Dr. Dinesh S. 
Patel@

Executive Vice 
- Chairman

Promoter/
Executive 
Director

5 Yes 2 2 1

Dr. Sachin D. Patel
@

Managing
Director and

CEO

Promoter /
Executive 
Director

5 Yes 2 2 3

Mrs. Jayshree 
Dinesh Patel@

Director 
(Executive)

Representing
Promoter / -

Executive

4  No 1 0 0

Mrs. Reena Sachin 
Patel*@

Alternate 
Director

Representing
Promoter / 

Non-Executive

4 No 1 0 0

NOTeS:
1. #Includes only Listed Companies.
2. ##No. of Committee positions (Chairmanship/Membership) held in other listed Companies is excluding Foreign, Private Ltd., 

and Section 8 Companies. Further only two Committees i.e., Audit Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee are 
considered as per Regulation 26 (1) (b) of the Regulations.

3. * Mr. Gabor Gulacsi was appointed as Additional Director w.e.f March 29, 2019.
4. @ Relatives as per provisions of Section 2(77) of The Companies Act, 2013.

• Dates of Board Meetings held during the F.Y. 
2018 -19
5 Board Meetings were held during the year on 
following dates: 

• 9th May, 2018
• 8th August, 2018
• 07th September, 2018
• 14th November, 2018
• 8th February, 2019

• Risk Management
Risk Management is a process with methods 
and tools for managing risks. Business risks are 
regularly discussed in Board Meeting and risk 
mitigation strategies are implemented in the 
Company. 

• Management Discussion and Analysis 
Report(MD and A)
The MD and A report forms part of the Annual 
Report. 
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V. Names of the listed entities where the person is a Director and the category of Directorship.

Name of the Director Name of the listed entities and category of Directorship
Mr. Hoshang N. Sinor Themis Medicare Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director, Chairman

Tata Motors Finance Ltd, Non Executive Independent Director
Cosmo Films Ltd, Non Executive Independent Director 
Tata Investment Corporation Limited, Non Executive Independent Director 

Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir Themis Medicare Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director
Neuland Laboratories Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director
Cadila Healthcare Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr. Vijay Agarwal Themis Medicare Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Ltd, Non-Executive Independent Director
MEP Infrastructure Developers Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director
Compuage Infocom Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam Themis Medicare Limited, Non-Executive Independent Director
Mr. Rajneesh Anand Themis Medicare Limited, Non-Executive Director
Dr. Gabor Gulacsi Themis Medicare Limited, Representative of Foreign Promoter,  

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lajos Kovacs Themis Medicare Limited, Representative of Foreign Promoter,  

Non-Executive Director
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel Themis Medicare Limited, Promoter, Executive Director

Gujarat Themis Biosyn Ltd, Non Executive Director
Dr. Sachin D. Patel Themis Medicare Limited, Promoter, Executive Director

Gujarat Themis Biosyn Ltd, Promoter, Non Executive Director
Mrs. Jayshree Dinesh Patel Themis Medicare Limited, Promoter, Executive Director
Mrs. Reena Sachin Patel Themis Medicare Limited, Promoter, Non-Executive Director

VI. Matrix setting out the core skills/expertise/competence of the Board of Directors
The Board skill matrix provides a guide as to the core skills, expertise, competencies and other criteria 
(collectively referred to as ‘skill sets’) considered appropriate by the Board of the Company in the 
context of its business and sector(s) for it to function effectively and those actually available with 
the Board. The skill sets will keep on changing as the organization evolves and hence the Board may 
review the matrix from time to time to ensure that the composition of the skill sets remains aligned 
to the Company’s strategic direction.
The skill sets identified by the Board along with availability assessment is as under:

Core Skills/experience/Competence Actual Availability with current board 
Industry knowledge/experience 
Healthcare Industry Knowhow Available 
Creating value through Intellectual Property Rights Available 
Global Operations Available 
Value Spotting and Inorganic Growth Available 
Previous Board Experience on similarly sized or bigger companies Available 
Technical skills/experience 
Strategic planning Available 
Risk and compliance oversight Available 
Marketing Available 
Policy Development Available 
Accounting, Tax, Audit and Finance Available 
Legal Available 
Sales/ Customer Engagement Available 
Public Relations and Liasoning Available 
Information Technology Available 
Behavioural Competencies 
Integrity & ethical standards Available 
Mentoring abilities Available 
Interpersonal relations Available 
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VII. Confirmation on the independence of the Independent Directors
The Board of Directors hereby confirms that in their opinion, the Independent Directors fulfil the 
conditions specified in the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
and are Independent of the Management.

VIII. Shareholdings of Non - Executive Directors in the Company as on 31st March, 2019:

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director No. of Equity shares 
of Rs.10/- each held

% holding

1. Mr. Hoshang N. Sinor 7100* 0.08
2. Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir NIL NIL
3. Mr. Rajneesh Anand 5600 0.06
4. Mr. Vijay Agarwal NIL NIL
5. Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam NIL NIL
6. Dr. Gabor Gulacsi NIL NIL
7. Mr. Lajos Kovacs NIL NIL
8. Mrs. Reena S. Patel  

(Alternate Director to Mr. Lajos Kovacs)
371491 4.04

9. TOTAL 384191 4.18
*2100 Shares held as second holder.

IX. Separate Meeting of Independent Directors:
As stipulated by the Code for Independent Directors under the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing 
Regulations, separate meeting of the Independent Directors of the Company was held once i.e. on 
8th February, 2019 to inter alia review the performance of Non-independent Directors (including the 
Chairman) and the entire Board. At their meeting, the Directors reviewed the performance of Non-
Independent Directors and the Board as a whole, reviewed the performance of the Chairman of the 
Company, taking into account the views of Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors, assess 
the quality, quantity and timeliness of flow of information between the Company management and 
the Board that is necessary for the Board to effectively and reasonably perform its duties. 

X. Familiarization Programme for Independent Directors:
All Directors inducted on the Board are introduced to our Company culture through appropriate 
orientation sessions. Presentations are made by Executive Directors and senior management to 
provide an overview of our operations, and to familiarize the new Non-Executive Directors with our 
operations. They are also introduced to our organization structure, our services, group structure and 
subsidiaries, constitution, Board procedures, matters reserved for the Boards and our major risks and 
management strategy. They seek to enable the Independent Directors to understand the business 
and strategy and leverage their expertise and experience to the maximum benefit of the Company. 
Details of programs conducted by the Company for the financial year 2017-2018 are available on 
the website of the Company at http://www.themismedicare.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/
Directors-Familiarisation-Programme.pdf

XI. Committees of the Board:
The Board Committees are set up to carry out clearly defined roles which are considered to be 
performed by members of the Board as a part of good governance practice. Minutes of proceedings 
of Committee meetings are circulated to the Directors and placed before Board Meetings for noting. 
The Board has currently constituted the following statutory and non-statutory Committees:
A. Audit and Risk Management Committee: 

Pursuant to Regulation 21 of the Listing Regulations, the Company does not come in the list of 
top 100 entities which have to mandatorily constitute a Risk Management Committee. However, 
the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 5th November, 2015 renamed the Audit Committee 
as Audit and Risk Management Committee to monitor and review risk management plan on 
regular basis.
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The members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee have wide exposure and knowledge 
in area of Pharma business, finance and accounting. The terms of reference of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee are in line with Regulation 18 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015 and Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013. The 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, inter alia, provides reassurance to the Board on the 
existence of an effective internal control environment.
The terms of reference of the Committee are briefly described below: 
1. Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial 

information. 
2. Recommending to the Board, the appointment, re-appointment and, if required, the 

replacement or removal of the statutory auditor and the fixation of audit fees. 
3. Reviewing and monitoring the auditor’s independence and performance.
4. Recommending to the Board, the appointment and remuneration of Cost Auditor. 
5. Approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the Statutory 

Auditors 
6. Reviewing, with the management, the annual financial statements and quarterly financial 

statements. 
7. Reviewing with the management, performance of internal auditors and adequacy of the 

internal control systems. 
8. Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the 

internal audit department, staffing and frequency of internal audit. 
9. Discussing with Internal Auditors any significant findings and follow-up thereon. 
10. Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the Internal Auditors into matters 

where there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a 
material nature and reporting the matter to the Board. 

11. Discussion with Statutory Auditors before the audit commences. 
12. To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture 

holders, shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors. 
13. To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism. 
14. Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the Company with related 

parties. 
15. To evaluate internal financial controls and risk managements systems. 
16. Approval of appointment of CFO.
Composition:
The Company has already constituted an Audit and Risk Management Committee comprising 5 
members out of which 4 are Independent Directors and 1 is an Executive Director. 
Meetings:
During the period under consideration, 4 (Four) Meetings of the Committee were held as follows:
- 9th May, 2019
- 8th August, 2018
- 14th November, 2018
- 5th February, 2019
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Audit and Risk Management Committee attendance during the year are as under: 

Name Status No. of Meetings Attended
Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir Chairman 4
Mr. Hoshang N. Sinor Member 4
Mr. Vijay Agarwal Member 3
Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam Member 1
Dr. Sachin D. Patel Member 5

Invitees / Participants:
The Statutory, Internal and Cost Auditors are also invited to attend the meetings. The Company 
Secretary acted as Secretary to the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

B. NOMINATION and ReMuNeRATION COMMITTee:
In terms of Section 178(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligation and Disclosure Requirement), Regulation, 2015, deals with the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee (“NRC”). 
The role of Nomination and Remuneration Committee in brief is as follows:
(1) formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and 

independence of a Director and recommend to the Board of Directors a policy relating to, 
the remuneration of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other employees;

(2) Formulation of criteria for evaluation of performance of independent Directors and the 
Board of Directors;

(3) Devising a policy on diversity of Board of Directors;
(4) identifying persons who are qualified to become Directors and who may be appointed 

in senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, and recommend to the 
Board of Directors their appointment and removal;

(5) Whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent Director, on 
the basis of the report of performance evaluation of Independent Directors.
• Composition: 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee was constituted by the Board with 3 
Independent Directors.
The Company Secretary acts as the Secretary to the Committee.

• Meetings: 
During the period under consideration, 4 (Four) Meetings of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Company were held as follows:
- 9th May, 2019
- 8th August, 2018
- 14th November, 2018
- 5th February, 2019

• Nomination and Remuneration Committee attendance during the year are as under: 

Name Status No. of Meetings Attended
Mr. Vijay Agarwal Chairman 3
Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir Member 4
Mr. H. Subramaniam Member 1
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• Board Evaluation
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee specified the evaluation criteria 
for performance evaluation of Directors, Board and its Committees. The Board 
is committed for evaluating its own performance as a Board and individual 
performance of Directors, in order to identify strengths and areas in which it may 
improve functioning. Further, overall effectiveness of the Board shall be measured to 
decide the appointments, reappointments of Directors. The details of annual Board 
Evaluation process for Directors have been provided in the Board’s Report.
Following are the major criteria applied for performance evaluation —
1. Attendance and contribution at Board and Committee meetings and application 

of his/her expertise, leadership qualities and knowledge to give overall strategic 
direction for enhancing the shareholder value.

2. His/her ability to create a performance culture that drives value creation and a 
high quality of debate with robust and probing discussions.

3. His/her ability to monitor the performance of management and satisfy himself/
herself with integrity of the financial controls and systems in place, etc.

4. Independent Directors performance is evaluated also based on his/her help 
in bringing an independent judgment to bear on the Board’s deliberations 
especially on issues of strategy, performance, risk management, resources, key 
appointments and standards of conduct and his/her ability to bring an objective 
view in the evaluation of the performance of the Board and management.
The Company had provided facility of performance evaluation to Directors on 
online platform for convenience of the Board members. 

Retirement Policy for Directors of the Company:
The age of retirement for all Executive Directors is 70 years as per Companies Act 
requirements. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee may, at its discretion 
and subject to shareholders’ approval, determine their continuation as members of 
the Board upon superannuation/retirement.
The term of retirement for Non-Executive Directors and independent Directors is as 
per the Companies Act requirements. 

C. Remuneration of Directors:
a. Pecuniary relationship or transactions of the Non-Executive Directors.

The Company has no pecuniary relationship or transaction with its Non-Executive and 
Independent Directors other than payment of sitting fees to them for attending Board and 
Committee meetings and fees for rendering services in their professional capacity.
Non-Executive Directors are paid Rs. 40,000/- for attending each Board and Audit and Risk 
Management Committee Meetings.

b. Criteria of making payments to non-executive Directors. 
Criteria of making payments to Non-Executive Directors is disclosed and the same is 
available on http://www.themismedicare.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Criteria-Of-
Making-Payments-To-Non-Executive-Directors.pdf 
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c. Disclosures with respect to remuneration: in addition to disclosures required under the 
Companies Act, 2013, the following disclosures shall be made:
i. The Executive Directors are paid Salary as permissible under the provisions of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and Schedule V therein. 
ii. Details of fixed component and performance linked incentives, along with the 

performance criteria : NA
iii. Service contracts, notice period, severance fees: For Executive Directors service 

contract is normally 5 years, renewable at the discretion of Board. Notice period is 90 
days from either side.

iv. Stock option details, if any and whether issued at a discount as well as the period over 
which accrued and over which exercisable.- NA

The details of Remuneration and Sitting Fees paid to Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors for the year 2018-19 are as follows: 

(In `)
Sr. No. Name of Director Salary Perquisites Sitting Fees Total

1. Mr. Hoshang N. Sinor NA NA 360000 360000
2. Mr. Humayun

Dhanrajgir
NA NA 320000 320000

3. Mr. Rajneesh Anand NA NA 200000 200000
4. Mr. Vijay Agarwal NA NA 400000 240000
5. Mr. Hariharan Subramaniam NA NA 240000 240000
6. Mrs. Jayshree Dinesh Patel 4941728 NA 0 4941728
7. Mrs. Reena Sachin Patel NA NA 0 0
8. Dr. Gabor Gulacsi@ NA NA 0 0
9. Mr. Lajos Kovacs NA NA 0 0

10. Dr. Sachin D. Patel 6701100 NA NA 6701100
11. Dr. Dinesh S. Patel 70,99,000 NA NA 70,99,000

Note:  1) Gratuity is included in computation of remuneration paid to Executive Directors. 
2) @ Appointed by resolution passed by circulation by the Board on 29th March, 2019 
3) Mrs. Reena S. Patel is paid remuneration as a Whole Time employee.

D. STAKeHOLDeRS ReLATIONSHIP COMMITTee
• Composition: 

The Stakeholders Relationship Committee is constituted in line with the provisions of 
Regulation 20 of SEBI Listing Regulations read with section 178 of the Act. Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee has been constituted to monitor and review investors’ grievances. 
The Company Secretary acts as Compliance Officer for redressal of Shareholders/ Invertors’ 
grievances.

• Meetings:
The broad terms of reference of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee are as under:
→ Consider and resolve the grievances of security holders of the Company including 

redressal of investor complaints such as transfer or credit of securities, non-receipt 
of dividend / notice / annual reports, etc. and all other securities-holders related 
matters.
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→ Consider and approve issue of share certificates (including issue of renewed or 
duplicate share certificates), transfer and transmission of securities, etc
Four Stakeholders Relationship Committee meetings were held during the year 2018-
19 of the Company as follows:
- 9th May, 2018
- 8th August, 2018
- 14th November, 2018
- 5th February, 2019

• The composition of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee and the details of meetings 
attended by its members are given below:

Sr. No. Name Status No. of Meetings Attended
1. Mr. H. Subramaniam Chairman 1
2. Mr. Rajneesh Anand Member 4
3. Dr. Sachin D. Patel Member 4

• Name, designation and address of Compliance Officer: 
Mr. Sangameshwar R. Iyer, Company Secretary.
Themis Medicare Ltd.
11/12 Udyog Nagar,
S.V. Road, Goregaon (West),
Mumbai - 400 104.

• Details of investor complaints received and redressed during the year 2018- 19 are as 
follows:

Number of shareholders’ 
complaints received 

number not solved to the 
satisfaction of shareholders

number of pending 
complaints

03 00 00
Code of Conduct 
Whilst the Themis Code of Conduct is applicable to the Whole-time Directors and employees 
of the Company, the Board has also adopted a Code of Conduct for Non-Executive 
Directors, which incorporates the duties of Independent Directors as laid down in Schedule 
IV (Code for Independent Directors) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25 of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 2015, both of which are available on the 
Company’s website.
All the Board members and Senior Management of the Company as on 31st March, 2019 
have affirmed compliance with their respective Codes of Conduct. A Declaration to this 
effect, duly signed by the Managing Director, forms part of this report. 
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XII. General Body Meetings:
The details of the last three Annual / Extraordinary General Meetings are as follows:

AGM/
eGM

Date and 
Time

Location Special Resolution

EGM 10.06.2016 
at 10.30 am

Registered Office Special Resolution passed under Section 42 and 62 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 to authorize Board to issue and allot 
5,00,000 Equity Shares having face value of Rs 10/- each, on 
preferential basis, to Non promoters and issue of 1,25,000 
Warrants convertible into equal number of Equity Shares to 
promoters. 

46th AGM 14.09.2016
At 10.30 am

Registered Office NA

47th AGM 27.09.2017
at 10.30 am

Registered Office Special Resolution passed under Section 148 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 for ratification of Remuneration of Cost Auditor, 
Appointment of Mr. Gabor Gulacsi as a Non Executive Director, 
Appointment of Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel as a Whole time Director, 
Re-Designation of Dr. Dinesh S. Patel as Executive Vice Chairman 
and Re-Designation of Dr. Sachin D. Patel as a Managing Director 
and CEO of the Company. 

48th AGM 07.09.2018 
at 10.30 am

Registered Office Revision in Remuneration payable to Mrs. Jayshree D. Patel 
(DIN : 00033316) as a Whole-Time Director, Continuation of 
Mr. Humayun Dhanrajgir (DIN : 00004006) as an Independent 
Director of the Company who has attained the age of Seventy-
five years.

• whether any Special Resolution passed last year through postal ballot – details of voting pattern : NA
• whether any Special Resolution is proposed to be conducted through postal ballot : NA
• Procedure for Postal Ballot : NA

XIII. Means of Communication:
The Company regularly interacts with shareholders through multiple channels of communication such 
as results announcement, annual report, media releases, Company’s website and subject specific 
communications. 
(a) and (b) The Quarterly, Half yearly and Annual results were published in widely circulated 
newspapers viz, Times of India and Economic Times – Surat Edition. 
(c) All the data related to quarterly, half yearly and Annual Financial Results, Shareholding Pattern, 
News release etc. is provided on the website - www.themismedicare.com/investors/reports
(d) The Quarterly Results, Shareholding Pattern and all other corporate communication to the Stock 
Exchanges are filed through NSE Electronic Application Processing System (NEAPS) and BSE Listing 
Centre, for dissemination on their respective websites. 
(e) During the financial year, the Company has not made presentation to the institutional investors /
analysts.
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XIV. General Shareholders Information:

Annual General Meeting  Date and Time : 27th August, 2019 at 10.30 AM
Venue : Plot no. 69A, G.I.D.C. 

Vapi, Dist - Valsad, Gujarat – 396195
Financial Calendar (Tentative) : April to March

Results for the Quarter ending 
(With Limited Review by the
Statutory Auditors)
first Quarter Results
Half yearly Results
Third Quarter Results
Audited Results for the year 

:

On or before 14th August, 2019
On or before 14th November, 2019
On or before 14th February, 2020
On or before 30th May, 2020

Dates of Book Closure/ Record Date : 21st August, 2019 to 27th August, 2019 (both days 
inclusive)

Listing on Stock Exchanges at :

:

BSe Limited.
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers,
Dalal Street,
Mumbai 400 001

National Stock Exchange of India Ltd.
Exchange Plaza, 
Bandra Kurla Complex,
Bandra (East), 
Mumbai – 400 051.

Listing Fees paid for 2018-19 : The Company has paid listing fees to the above 
Stock Exchanges 

Stock Code 
Bombay Stock Exchange, Mumbai
National Stock Exchange, Mumbai 

:
:

530199
THEMISMED

DeMAT ISIN Number for NSDL and CDSL : INE083B01016
Websites : www.bseindia.com

www.nseindia.com
XV. Market Price Data and Performance in comparison to BSe Sensex

High/low of market price of the Company’s shares traded on Bombay Stock 
Exchange, Mumbai and National Stock Exchange, Mumbai during the financial year 2018-19 is 
furnished below:

STOCK PRICe and BSe SeNSeX DATA
MONTH BSE SENSEX BSE Limited , MUMBAI NATIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE OF INDIA LIMITED

HIGH 
PRICE

LOW 
PRICE

MONTHLY 
VOLUME (NOS.)

HIGH PRICE LOW PRICE MONTHLY 
VOLUME (NOS.)

Apr-18 35160.36 603.95 521 5939 594.50 519.40 16021.
May-18 35322.38 543.7 415 6288 561 401 53483
Jun-18 35423.48 455.35 375 4870 444.45 375.50 180
Jul-18 37606.58 418.9 312.05 4596 413 310 17684
Aug-18 38645.07 384 305 7439 387 319.9 44805
Sep-18 36227.14 371 304 3802 383.90 303 30356
Oct-18 34442.05 349.95 253 14944 359.30 271.05 31894
Nov-18 36194.3 437.1 320 9235 439 302.85 43240
Dec-18 36068.33 381 325 48852 378.75 311.5 27708
Jan-19 36256.69 364.3 275 6370 380 275 48406
Feb-19 35867.44 336 274 27154 308.95 276.50 20328
Mar-19 38672.91 320 280.95 6619 322.55 277.6 23906
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XVI. Share Transfer System: 
All the transfers received are processed by the Registrar and Share Transfer Agent and are approved 
by the Share Transfer Committee, which normally meets as and when required. Share transfers are 
registered and returned within maximum of 15 days from the date of lodgment if documents are 
complete in all respects.

XVII. Distribution of Equity Shareholding:

As on 31st March, 2019
Holding of shares (In Nos) No. of Shareholders % of Shareholders Shares % of Shareholders

1 to 500 3642 88.3337 383996 4.1825
501 to 1000 183 4.4385 146603 1.5968

1001 to 2000 108 2.6195 158545 1.7269
2001 to 3000 56 1.3582 139789 1.5226
3001 to 4000 29 0.7034 101357 1.1040
4001 to 5000 20 0.4851 92385 1.0063
5001 to 10000 37 0.8974 249809 2.7210

10001 and Above 48 1.1642 7908458 86.1399
Total 4123 100.0000 9180942 100.0000

Dematerialisation of shares : 9027040 Shares i.e. 98.32% of the paid-up capital 
has been dematerialized as on 31.03.2019. 

Outstanding GDRs / ADRs / Warrants or any 
Convertible instruments conversion date and 
Likely impact of equity.

: Not Applicable

Commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk 
and hedging activities;

: Not Applicable

Plant Locations : Vapi Plant 
Plot no. 69A, G.I.D.C.
Vapi – 396 195,
Dist. Valsad, Gujarat

: Hyderabad Plant
Plot no. 1 and 5, Industrial Development Area,
Jeedimatla, Hyderabad – 500 855.

: Haridwar Plant
Sector 6-A, Plot no.16, 17 and 18,
IIE, BHEL, Haridwar-249 403

Address for Correspondence : Secretarial Department,
Themis Medicare Ltd.
11/12 Udyog Nagar, S.V. Road, Goregaon (West),
Mumbai-400 104.
Tel No: 91-22-67607080 | Fax No. 91-22-67607019

Contact person for Investors 
Complaints  

: Mr. Sangameshwar R. Iyer
Company Secretary
E-mail: sangameshwar.iyer@themismedicare.com

Registrar and Share Transfer Agent : Link Intime India Pvt. Ltd.
C 101, 247 Park, L.B.S. Marg, Vikhroli 
(West),Mumbai, Maharashtra,400083 
Tel : +91 22 49186270 
Fax : +91 22 49186060
E-mail: rnt.helpdesk@linkintime.co.in
Web site: www.linkintime.co.in
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XVIII. Other Disclosures:
a) Materially significant related party transactions:

The related party transactions in case of our Company are not materially significant which 
requires Members’ approval. However, the Management, Audit & Risk Management Committee 
and the Board ensure such transactions are at arm’s length.
The policy on related party transactions as approved by the Board is uploaded on the 
Company’s website and the link for the same is http://www.themismedicare.com/wp-content/
uploads/2015/08/Related-Party-Policy.pdf 

b) Disclosure of Pending Cases/Instances of Non Compliance
There were no non-compliances by the Company and no instances of penalties and strictures 
imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchanges or SEBI or any other statutory authority on 
any matter related to the capital market during the last three years. 

c) Whistle Blower Policy/ Vigil Mechanism
The Board of Directors of the Company has, pursuant to the provisions of Section 177(9) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) 
Rules, 2014, framed “Vigil Mechanism Policy” for Directors and employees of the Company 
to provide a mechanism which ensures adequate safeguards to employees and Directors from 
any victimization on raising of concerns of any violations of legal or regulatory requirements, 
incorrect or misrepresentation of any, financial statements and reports, etc. 
The employees of the Company have the right/option to report their concern/grievance to the 
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee.

d) Mandatory Requirements 
The Company has complied with all mandatory requirements of Corporate Governance of SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and has also followed non-
mandatory requirements as stated below.

e) Non-Mandatory Requirements
i. The Company maintains Non-Executive Chairman’s office at its own expense. The Company 

from time to time reimburses/pays the expenses in relation to the Chairman’s office in 
connection with performance of his duties as Chairman of the Company.

ii. Shareholder Rights – Half yearly results
As the Company’s half yearly results are published in English newspapers having a circulation 
all over India and in a Gujarati newspaper (having a circulation in Gujarat), the same are 
not sent to the shareholders of the Company but hosted on the website of the Company.

iii. Audit Qualification
There are no qualifications contained in the Audit Report.

iv. Separate Posts of Chairman and Managing Director and CEO.
The Chairman of the Board is an Independent Non-executive Director and his position is 
separate from that of the Managing Director and CEO.

v. Reporting of Internal Auditors 
The Internal Auditors of the Company report to the Audit & Committee and make detailed 
presentation / discussion at quarterly meetings.

vi. The Company has framed a policy for determining “material” subsidiary. However, the 
Company does not have any material subsidiary as of the close of the financial year.

vii. The Company is not dealing in commodity and hence disclosure relating to commodity 
price risks and commodity hedging activities.
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viii. Instances of not accepting any recommendation of the Committee by the Board: There is 
no such instance where Board had not accepted any recommendation of any Committee 
of the Board which is mandatorily required, in the relevant financial year.

ix. Certificate from Practising Company Secretaries: The Company has received a certificate 
from M/s. KRS & Co., Practising Company Secretaries confirming that none of the Directors 
on the Board of the Company has been debarred or disqualified from being appointed 
or continuing as Directors of companies by the Securities and Exchange Board of India/
Ministry of Corporate Affairs/Reserve Bank of India or any such statutory authority.

x. Disclosure under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition 
and Redressal) Act, 2013: The Company has in place a Policy on prevention of Sexual 
Harassment in line with the requirements of The Sexual Harassment of Women at the 
Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013. Internal Complaints Committee 
(ICC) has been set up to redress complaints received regarding sexual harassment. All 
employees (permanent, contractual, temporary, trainees) are covered under this policy. 
During the year, no complaint was received by the Company.

xi. There is no Non-Compliance of any requirement of Corporate Governance Report of sub-
para (2) to (10) of the Part C of Schedule V of the Listing Regulations.

xii. Disclosure of the Compliance with Corporate Governance Requirements the Company has 
complied with provisions of Regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of sub- regulation (2) 
of regulation 46.

DeCLARATION ReGARDING COMPLIANCe By BOARD MeMBeRS AND 
SeNIOR MANAGeMeNT PeRSONNeL WITH THe COMPANy’S CODe Of CONDuCT

I, Dr. Sachin D. Patel, Managing Director and CEO of Themis Medicare Limited, hereby declare that all the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Senior Management personnel have affirmed compliance with the 
Code of Conduct, applicable to them as laid down by the Board of Directors in terms of Schedule V (D) of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations And Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 for the year ended 31st March, 2019.

For Themis Medicare Limited

              SD/-
Place: Mumbai Dr. Sachin D. Patel
Date: 28th May, 2019 Managing Director & CEO
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Certificate on Corporate Governance
The Members, 
Themis Medicare Ltd.

I have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Themis Medicare Limited 
(“the Company”) for the year ended on 31st March, 2019, as stipulated as per the relevant provisions of Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘Listing 
Regulations’) as referred to in regulation 15(2) of the Listing Regulations for the year ended 31st March 2019. 

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Company’s management. My 
examination was limited to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the 
compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on 
the financial statements of the Company. 

In my opinion, and to the best of my information and according to the explanations given to me, I certify that 
the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above-mentioned 
Listing Regulations, as applicable. 

I further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the 
efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For KRS AND CO
Practicing Company Secretaries 

            SD/-
Mr. Ketan R Shirwadkar

 Proprietor
Place: Mumbai ACS No. 37829
Date: 28th May, 2019 COP No. 15386
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CEO-CFO Certificate
To, 
The Board of Directors 
Themis Medicare Limited,

We, the undersigned, in our respective capacities as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and (Chief 
Financial Officer of Themis Medicare Limited (“the Company”), to the best of our knowledge and belief certify 
that: 

(a) We have reviewed the financial statements and the cash flow statement for the financial year ended  
31st March, 2019 and based on our knowledge and belief, we state that: 

(i) these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain any 
statements that might be misleading. 

(ii) these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance 
with the existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. 

(b) We further state that to the best of our knowledge and belief, there are no transactions entered into by the 
Company during the year, which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s Code of Conduct. 

(c) We are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls and for evaluating the effectiveness 
of the same over the financial reporting of the Company and have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit 
Committee, deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the 
steps we have taken or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies. 

(d) We have indicated, based on our most recent evaluation, wherever applicable, to the Auditors and Audit & 
Risk Management Committee: 

(i) significant changes, if any, in the internal control over financial reporting during the year; 

(ii) significant changes, if any, in the accounting policies made during the year and that the same has been 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements; and 

(iii) Instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of 
the management or an employee having significant role in the Company’s internal control system over 
financial reporting. 

For Themis Medicare Ltd. For Themis Medicare Ltd.

             SD/-                SD/-
Dr. Sachin D. Patel Mr. Tushar Dalal
Managing Director & CEO  Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of 
Themis Medicare Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Themis Medicare Limited (the “Parent”) 
and its subsidiaries, (the Parent and its subsidiaries together referred to as the “Group”) which includes the 
Group’s net share of loss in its associates and joint ventures, which comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at March 31, 2019, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive 
Income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. In 
our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed 
under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended 
(‘Ind AS’) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the 
Group as at March 31, 2019, and their consolidated profit, their consolidated total comprehensive income, their 
consolidated changes in equity and their consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
specified under section 143 (10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of 
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by other auditors in 
terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters section below is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the 
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
Key Audit Matters How was the matter addressed in our Audit
Revenue Recognition – the Parent:
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when control of the products 
being sold is transferred to the customer and when there are no longer 
any unfulfilled obligations. The performance obligations in the contracts 
are fulfilled at the time of dispatch, delivery or upon formal customer 
acceptance depending on customer terms. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, after deduction of any trade discounts, volume rebates 
and any taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government such as 
goods and services tax, etc.
The company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can 
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of 
the company’s activities as described below. The company bases its 
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of 
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Our Audit Procedure Included:
We performed substantive testing by selecting samples 
of revenue transactions recorded during the year by 
verifying the underlying documents, which included 
goods dispatch notes and shipping documents. 
We inspected, on a sample basis, key customer 
contracts to identify terms and conditions relating 
to goods acceptance and rebates and assessing 
the Company’s revenue recognition policies with 
reference to the requirements of the applicable 
accounting standards.
We assessed the appropriateness of the revenue 
recognition accounting policies, including those 
relating to rebates and discounts by comparing with 
applicable accounting standards.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
• The Parent’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 

the information included in the Board’s Report including Annexures to Board’s Report, Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report and Business Responsibility Report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements, standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

• Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

• In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information, compare with the financial statements of the subsidiaries and joint ventures audited by the 
other auditors, to the extent it relates to these entities and, in doing so, place reliance on the work of the 
other auditors and consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. Other information so far as it relates to the subsidiaries and joint ventures is traced 
from their financial statements audited by the other auditors.

• If based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated financial Statements
The Parent’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect 
to the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated 
changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group including its associates and joint ventures in 
accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The respective Board 
of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the 
assets of the Group and its associates and its joint ventures and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgements and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the Parent, as aforesaid. In preparing 
the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group and of its 
associates and joint ventures to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate or 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group and of its associates and joint ventures are also responsible for overseeing the financial 
reporting process of the Group and of its associates and joint ventures.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the Parent has adequate internal financial controls system in place and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group and its associates and joint ventures to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and its associates 
and joint ventures to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the business activities 
within the Group and its associates and joint ventures to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial 
statements of such business activities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are 
the independent auditors. For the business activities included in the consolidated financial statements, 
which have been audited by the other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion. Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, 
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable 
user of the consolidated financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and 
qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; 
and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated financial statements. We 
communicate with those charged with governance of the Parent and such other entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. From the matters communicated with those 
charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matters
We did not audit the financial statements of one out of three subsidiaries whose financial statements reflect total 
assets of Rs.10.06 lakhs and Net assets of Rs. (14.63) Lakhs as at 31 March 2019, total revenues of Rs. NIL and 
net cash inflow amounting to Rs.1.52 lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the Consolidated 
Ind AS financial results. Two subsidiaries are located in India. One subsidiary which is located outside India whose 
financial statements and other financial information have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles, 
generally accepted in their country. These financial statements of the subsidiaries been furnished to us by the 
Management of the Holding company and our opinion on the Consolidated Ind AS financial results, in so far as 
it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, is based solely on such financial statements. The consolidated financial 
statements also include the Group’s share of net profit of Rs.226.83 Lakhs for the year ended 31st March, 2019 as 
considered in the Consolidated Financial Results, in respect of three associates, whose financial statements have 
not been audited by us. Financial statements of two associates are unaudited as on this date.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of the 

other auditors on the financial statements of the subsidiaries and joint ventures referred to in the Other 
Matters section above we report, to the extent applicable that: 
a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge 

and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those 
books, returns and the reports of the other auditors.

c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flow dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account 
maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Parent as on March 31, 
2019 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Company and the reports of the statutory auditors 
of its subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint venture companies incorporated in India, 
none of the directors of the Group companies, its associate companies and joint venture companies 
incorporated in India is disqualified as on March 31, 2019 from being appointed as a director in terms 
of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A” which is based 
on the auditors’ reports of the Parent, subsidiary companies, associate companies and joint venture 
companies incorporated in India. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and 
operating effectiveness of internal financial controls over financial reporting of those companies.

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, the remuneration paid by the Parent to its directors 
during the year is in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act.

h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 
of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given to us:
i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated 

financial position of the Group, its associates and joint ventures.
ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable 

law or accounting standards, for material foreseeable losses on long-term contracts including 
derivative contracts.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Parent and its subsidiary companies, associate companies 
and joint venture companies incorporated in India.

For R. P. Sardar & Co.
Chartered accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.-109273W)

Raju P. Sardar
Place: Mumbai (Proprietor)
Date: 28th May, 2019 (Membership No. 037845)
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Annexure - A to the independent Auditors’ Report
(Referred to in paragraph (f) under the ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our 
report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over  F inancial  Report ing under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 
of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

1. In conjunction with our audit of the Consolidated Ind AS financial statements of the Company as of and for 
the year ended 31 March 2019, we have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of 
THeMIS MeDICARe LIMITeD, (hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) and its subsidiary companies, 
its associate companies and jointly controlled companies, which are companies incorporated in India, as of that 
date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal financial Controls

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, and its subsidiary companies, its associate 
companies and jointly controlled companies, which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible 
for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the “Internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential component of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by 
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI).” These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to respective company’s 
policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 
required under Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (“the Guidance Note”) issued by The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 143(10) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to 
our audit of internal financial controls and both issued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls 
over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all 
material respects.

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial control system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls 
over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion on the internal financial controls system over financial reporting of the Holding Company and 
its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and jointly controlled companies.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting

6. A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal 
financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management 
and directors of the company; and 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls 
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over 
financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and jointly controlled 
companies, which are companies incorporated in India, have in all material respects, an adequate internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting 
were operating effectively as at 31 March 2019, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria 
established by the respective companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.

For R. P. Sardar & Co.
Chartered accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.-109273W)

Raju P. Sardar
Place: Mumbai (Proprietor)
Date: 28th May, 2019 (Membership No. 037845)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2019
(` in Lakhs)

Particulars Notes March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
ASSeTS 
Non-Current Assets 
(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 4  12,176.17  12,404.17 
(b) Capital Work-in-Progress 4  245.49  247.00 
(c) Intangible Assets 5  164.40  186.24 
(d) Investments accounted for using the equity method 6  2,638.88  2,412.06 
(e) Financial Assets 

(i) Investments 6A  24.88  26.09 
(ii) Other Financial Assets 6A  25.79  25.02 

(f) Deferred Tax Asset (Net) 12  663.74  477.86 
(g) Other Non-Current Assets 11  485.29  446.29 

 16,424.64  16,224.73 
Current assets 
(a) Inventories 7  5,363.49  4,957.53 
(b) Financial Assets 

(i) Trade Receivables 8  7,290.73  6,862.74 
(ii) Cash and Cash Equivalents 9  175.47  449.34 
(iii) Bank Balances Other than (ii) above 10  169.61  242.12 
(iv) Other Financial Assets 6A  407.04  393.84 

(c) Other Current Assets 11  1,579.97  1,397.98 
 14,986.31  14,303.55 

Total  31,410.95  30,528.28 

eQuITy AND LIABILITIeS 
Equity 
(a) Equity Share capital 13  918.09  918.09 
(b) Other Equity 14  14,890.93  15,972.49 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  15,809.02  16,890.58 
Non Controlling Interest  (1.75)  (6.30)
Total Equity  15,807.27  16,884.28 

  
Liabilities 
Non Current Liabilities 
(a) Financial Liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 15  935.10  1,149.72 
(b) Provisions 19  -    -   

 935.10  1,149.72 
Current Liabilities 
(a) Financial Liabilities

(i) Borrowings 15  6,685.50  6,373.50 
(ii) Trade Payables 17
 Total outstanding dues of Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  28.98  122.69 
 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises 
 3,475.03  2,932.45 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 16  4,162.95  2,761.87 
(b) Other Current Liabilities 18  209.34  214.15 
(c) Provisions 19  106.78  89.62 

 14,668.58  12,494.28 
Total  31,410.95  30,528.28 

Significant Accounting Policies and  
Notes forming Part of the financial Statements

1 to 45

As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Notes  2018-19  2017-18 
ReVeNue
Revenue from operations (net) 20  18,375.47  21,170.67 
Other income 21  266.72  301.03 
Total Revenue (I)  18,642.19  21,471.70 
eXPeNSeS
Cost of materials consumed 22  4,923.25  5,326.79 
Purchases of stock-in-trade 23  1,957.58  1,988.47 
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-process and Stock-in-Trade 24  (50.31)  (148.89)
Excise duty  -    220.34 
Employee benefits expense 25  4,569.40  4,464.93 
Finance costs 26  1,182.12  1,186.68 
Depreciation and amortization expense 27  799.03  741.51 
Other expenses 28  6,747.64  6,818.15 
Total expenses (II)  20,128.71  20,597.98 
Profit/(loss) before share of profit/(loss) of an associate and a joint venture, exceptional items and tax(I-II)  (1,486.52)  873.72 
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate and a joint venture  226.80  259.30 
Profit / (loss) before exceptional items and tax  (1,259.72)  1,133.02 
Exceptional Items  -    -   
Profit / (loss) before tax  (1,259.72)  1,133.02 
Tax expense:
Current tax  -    -   
Adjustment of tax relating to earlier periods  -    -   
Deferred tax  (183.74)  10.18 
Profit / (Loss) for the period  (1,075.98)  1,122.84 
OTHeR COMPReHeNSIVe INCOMe
A. Other Comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent periods:

Remeasurement of gains (losses) on defined benefit plans  (7.34)  (22.87)
Income tax effect  2.14  7.92 
Share of Other Comprehensive Income of Associates and Joint Ventures accounted using equity method  0.03  0.74 

B. Other Comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent periods:  -  - 
Exchange differences in translating the financial statements of a foreign operation  0.46  1.77 
Other Comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (4.71)  (12.44)

TOTAL COMPReHeNSIVe INCOMe fOR THe PeRIOD, NeT Of TAX  (1,080.69)  1,110.40 
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax attributable to:
Profit for the year attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent  (1,074.16)  1,129.13 
Non-controlling interests  (1.82)  (6.29)

Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent  (4.44)  (12.08)
Non-controlling interests  (0.27)  (0.36)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent  (1,078.60)  1,117.05 
Non-controlling interests  (2.09)  (6.65)

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity shareholders 30
Basic EPS  (11.72)  12.23 
Diluted EPS  (11.72)  12.21 

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements 1 to 45
As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Cash flows for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars  2018-19  2017-18 
CASH fLOWS fROM OPeRATING ACTIVITIeS:
Profit/(Loss) before income tax from:  (1,259.72)  1,133.02 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense  799.03  741.51 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  -    -   
Employee share-based payment expense  5.49  20.68 
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  1.21  8.24 
Dividend and interest income classified as investing cash flows  (175.35)  (207.08)
Finance costs  1,182.12  1,186.68 
Reversal of loss allowance on financial assets  88.37  -   
Share of (profit) Loss from joint ventures and associates  (226.83)  (257.53)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables  (516.36)  (2,038.08)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories  (405.96)  (113.44)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  448.41  (108.19)
(Increase) in other financial assets  (13.96)  (38.58)
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (185.08)  44.27 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (4.21)  (28.60)
(Increase)/Decrease in Other bank balance  72.52  41.53 
Increase/(decrease) in Other financial liabilities  1,317.24  233.67 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  (4.81)  102.82 
Cash generated from operations  1,122.11  720.92 
Less: (Income taxes paid)/ refund received (Net)  (29.76)  64.62 
Net cash inflow from operating activities  1,092.35  785.54 
CASH fLOWS fROM INVeSTING ACTIVITIeS:
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (563.48)  (960.51)
Proceeds from sale of investments (Payments for investments)(Net)  -    101.13 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  15.81  647.87 
Dividends received  150.92  157.24 
Interest received  24.43  50.63 
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (372.32)  (3.64)
CASH fLOWS fROM fINANCING ACTIVITIeS:
Proceeds from issues of shares -  510.14 
Proceeds from current borrowings (Net)  312.00  1,028.09 
Repayment of non Curent borrowings  (264.23)  (1,341.79)
Money received against ESOP/share warrants  -   -
Interest paid  (1,041.67)  (1,107.19)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities  (993.90)  (910.75)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (273.87)  (128.85)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  449.34  578.19 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the year  175.47  449.34 
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per the cash flow statement:
Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprise of the following:
Balances with banks on current accounts  167.51  442.40 
Cash on hand  7.96  6.94 
Balances as per statement of cash flows  175.47  449.34 

Significant Accounting Policies and  
Notes forming Part of the financial Statements

1 to 45
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
1 Corporate Information

These statements comprise consolidated financial statements of Themis Medicare limited (CIN: 
L24110GJ1969PLC001590) (the 'Holding Company') and its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
(collectively, the 'Group' or the Company') for the year ended March 31, 2019. The Holding company is 
a public company domiciled in India and is incorporated on May 31, 1969 under the provisions of the 
Companies Act applicable in India. Its shares are listed on two recognised stock exchanges in India. The 
registered office of the company is located at Plot No 69A, G.I.D.C Industrial Estate, Vapi district Valsad, 
Gujarat -396 195.

The Group is principally engaged in the activities pertaining to manufacturing of pharmaceutical products, 
especially in Formulation and API activity. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on May 
28, 2019.

2 Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the group have been prepared and presented in accordance 
with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015 as amended by the Companies(Indian Accounting Standards)(Amendment) Rules, 2016 and 
the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the 
following assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value or revalued amount:

- Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or at amortised cost depending on the 
classification(refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments),

- Employee defined benefit assets/(obligations) are recognised as the net total of the fair value of 
plan assets, plus actuarial losses, less actuarial gains and the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations, and

- Long term borrowings, except obligations under finance leases, are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where a newly issued accounting 
standard is initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the 
accounting policy hitherto in use.

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct 
the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.



2018   2019

69

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.

The Group combines the financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries line by line adding 
together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses. InterGroup transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to 
same reporting date as that of the parent Group, i.e., year ended on March 31. When the end of 
the reporting period of the parent is different from that of a subsidiary, the subsidiary prepares, 
for consolidation purposes, additional financial information as of the same date as the financial 
statements of the parent to enable the parent to consolidate the financial information of the 
subsidiary, unless it is impracticable to do so.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
balance sheet respectively.

(ii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint 
control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting 
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after 
initially being recognised at cost.

(iii) Joint arrangements

Under Ind AS 111 Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either 
joint operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and 
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group 
has investment in joint ventures.

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method (see(iv) below), after 
initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

(iv) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of 
the investee in profit and loss, and the Group’s share of other comprehensive income of the 
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and 
joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its 
interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
other entity.

The carrying amount of equity accounted investments are tested for impairment in accordance 
with the policy described in below.

(v) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of 
control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results 
in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests 
to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised 
within equity.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of 
control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured 
to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value 
becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the 
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted 
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Freehold land are stated at cost. The cost comprises purchase price, 
borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset 
to its working condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in 
arriving at the purchase price.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to 
the total cost of the item is depreciated separately. When significant parts of plant and equipment 
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their 
specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the 
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book 
value only if it increases the future benefits from its previously assessed standard of performance. 
All other expenses on existing property, plant and equipment, including day-to-day repair and 
maintenance expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are charged to the statement of profit and 
loss for the period during which such expenses are incurred. 
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition of property, plant and equipment which take 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent they relate 
to the period till such assets are ready to be put to use.

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each 
balance sheet date is classified as capital advances under other non-current assets.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is de-recognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit and loss when 
the Property, plant and equipment is de-recognized.

Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalized. Indirect expenditure incurred 
during construction period is capitalized to the extent to which the expenditure is indirectly related 
to construction or is incidental thereto. Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing costs) 
incurred during the construction period which is neither related to the construction activity nor is 
incidental thereto is charged to the statement of profit and loss.

Costs of assets not ready for use at the balance sheet date are disclosed under capital work- in- progress.

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value

Depreciation is calculated on straight line basis using the useful lives estimated by the management, 
which are equal to those prescribed under Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013. If the 
management's estimate of the useful life of a item of property, plant and equipment at the time of 
acquisition or the remaining useful life on a subsequent review is shorter than the envisaged in the 
aforesaid schedule, depreciation is provided at a higher rate based on the management's estimate 
of the useful life/ remaining useful life.

The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s 
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the company will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. Leasehold land is 
amortised on a straight line basis over the balance period of lease.

The residual values are not more than 5% of the original cost of the asset.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

(c) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are measured initially at cost. After initial recognition, 
an intangible asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits from the 
specific asset to which it relates. An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use and disposal.
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

Losses arising from retirement and gains or losses arising from disposal of an intangible asset are 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

Amortisation methods and periods

Intangible assets comprising of trade marks are amortized on a straight line basis over the useful life 
of ten years which is estimated by the management.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets and the amortisation period are reviewed at the end 
of each financial year and the amortisation method is revised to reflect the changed pattern, if any.

(d) Research and development

Revenue expenditure pertaining to research is charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Development costs of products are also charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year 
it is incurred, unless a product’s technological feasibility has been established, in which case such 
expenditure is capitalised. These costs are charged to the respective heads in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss in the year it is incurred. The amount capitalised comprises of expenditure that can 
be directly attributed or allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis for creating, producing and 
making the asset ready for its intended use. Fixed assets utilised for research and development are 
capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the policies stated for Tangible Fixed Assets and 
Intangible Assets.

(e) Impairment of non financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are 
taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. After impairment, depreciation 
is provided on the revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life.

When there is indication that an impairment loss recognised for an asset in earlier accounting 
periods no longer exists or may have decreased, such reversal of impairment loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss, to the extent the amount was previously charged to the Statement 
of Profit and Loss.
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

(f) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the entity are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The financial statements are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is Group’s functional and 
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are recognised in statement of 
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in 
the statement of profit and loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses 
are presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other gains/(losses).

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet

- income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When a foreign operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to 
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

(g) financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Initial Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and ancillary costs related 
to borrowings) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in Statement of Profit and Loss.
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Classification and Subsequent Measurement: Financial Assets

The Group classifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) on the basis of 
following:

- the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

(i) Amortised Cost

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at amortised cost if both of the following 
conditions are met:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(ii) fair Value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following 
conditions are met:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(iii) Fair Value through Profit or Loss

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised 
cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement: Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or ‘other financial liabilities’.

(i) Financial Liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is held for trading 
or are designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Gains or Losses on liabilities held for 
trading are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(ii) Other Financial Liabilities:

Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit 
losses on financial asset. In case of trade receivables, the Group follows the simplified 
approach permitted by Ind AS 109 – Financial Instruments for recognition of impairment 
loss allowance. The application of simplified approach does not require the Group to track 
changes in credit risk. The Group calculates the expected credit losses on trade receivables 
using a provision matrix on the basis of its historical credit loss experience.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
is recognised in profit or loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise been recognised in 
profit or loss on disposal of that financial asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.
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Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. 
Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial 
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

(h) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received.

(i) Convertible financial instrument

Convertible instruments are separated into liability and equity components based on the terms 
of the contract.

On issuance of the convertible instruments, the fair value of the liability component is determined 
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is classified as a 
financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is extinguished on 
conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and 
included in equity since conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification. 
Transaction costs are deducted from equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying amount 
of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible 
instrument based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the 
instruments are initially recognised.

(j) Taxes

(i) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where 
the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised 
in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate.
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(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is recognized using the balance sheet approach, deferred tax is recognized 
on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the  deferred income tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(iii) Minimum alternate Tax

MAT payable for a year is charged to the statement of profit and loss as current tax. The 
Company recognizes MAT credit available in the statement of profit and loss as deferred tax 
with a corresponding asset only to the extent that there is probability that the Company will pay 
normal income tax during the specified period, i.e., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to 
be carried forward. The said asset is shown as ‘MAT Credit Entitlement’ under Deferred Tax. The 
Company reviews the same at each reporting date and writes down the asset to the extent the 
Company does not have probable certainty that it will pay normal tax during the specified period.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as 
follows:

Raw materials: cost includes cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

finished goods and work in progress: cost includes cost of direct materials and labour and a 
proportion of manufacturing overheads based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding 
borrowing costs. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

Traded goods: cost includes cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
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Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The net realizable value of 
work-in-progress is determined with reference to the selling prices of related finished products. Raw 
materials and other supplies held for use in production of finished products are not written down 
below cost except in cases where material prices have declined and it is estimated that the cost of 
the finished products will exceed their net realizable value.

(l) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed 
as revenue are inclusive of excise duty and net of returns, trade allowances, rebates, value added 
taxes and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when the 
amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described 
below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of 
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Effective April 1, 2018, the Company adopted Ind AS 115,Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
using the cumulative catch-up transition method, applied to contracts that werenot completed as 
of April 1, 2018. In accordance with the cumulative catch-up transition method, the comparatives 
have not been retrospectively adjusted

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an 
amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services.

Recognising revenue from major business activities

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. Revenue from the sale 
of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns 
and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.

(ii) Interest income

For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR).

(iii) Dividend income

Revenue is recognised when the company’s right to receive the payment is established, which is 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend.

(m) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the 
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.
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(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for earned leave and sick leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. They are 
therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method. The benefits are discounted using the market yields at the end of the reporting 
period that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

(iii) Post-employment obligations

The company operates the following post-employment schemes:

(a) defined benefit plans viz gratuity,

(b) defined contribution plans viz provident fund.

Gratuity obligations

The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the 
fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
government bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit 
expense in the statement of profit and loss.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive 
income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the 
balance sheet.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments 
or curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service cost.

Defined contribution plans

The Group pays provident fund contributions to publicly administered provident funds as per local 
regulations. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
paid. The contributions are accounted for as defined contribution plans and the contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is 
available.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
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(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the 
normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits.

(v) Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Employee Option Plan.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the Employee Option Plan is recognised as an employee 
benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.

- including any market performance conditions

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions, and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting 
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

(n) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfillment of 
the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

(i) As a lessee

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. Leases of 
property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred 
to the Group as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 
are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease unless the 
payments are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for 
the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.

(ii) As a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer from the Group to the lessee. Amounts due from lessees under finance 
leases are recorded as receivables at the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease 
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on 
the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019



2018   2019

81

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to increase in line 
with expected general inflation to compensate for the expected inflationary cost increases. The 
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature.

(o) Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably estimated, will be 
required to settle such an obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows to net present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. Unwinding of the discount is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
as a finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate.

A present obligation that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made, is disclosed 
as a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities are also disclosed when there is a possible obligation 
arising from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non 
-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Claims against the Group where the possibility of any outflow of resources in settlement is remote, 
are not disclosed as contingent liabilities.

Contingent assets are not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition 
of income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, 
then the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognised.

(p) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing 
of funds and is measured with reference to the effective interest rate (EIR) applicable to the respective 
borrowing. Borrowing costs include interest costs measured at EIR and exchange differences arising 
from foreign currency borrowings to the extent they are regarded as an adjustment to the interest 
cost.

Borrowing costs, allocated to qualifying assets, pertaining to the period from commencement of 
activities relating to construction / development of the qualifying asset up to the date of capitalisation 
of such asset are added to the cost of the assets. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended and 
charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss during extended periods when active development 
activity on the qualifying assets is interrupted.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period which they are incurred.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019



2018    2019

82

(q) Segment Reporting - Identification of Segments

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the 
Group’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions for which discrete financial information is 
available. Based on the management approach as defined in Ind AS 108, the chief operating decision 
maker evaluates the Group’s performance and allocates resources based on an analysis of various 
performance indicators by business segments and geographic segments.

(r) earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

- the profit attributable to owners of the Group

- by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted 
for bonus elements in equity shares issued during the year

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share 
to take into account:

- the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
equity

- the weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

(s) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-
term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

(t) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for disposal:

Assets are classified as held for disposal and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

To classify any Asset as "Asset held for disposal" the asset must be available for immediate sale 
and its sale must be highly probable. Such assets or group of assets are presented separately in the 
Balance Sheet, in the line "Assets held for disposal". Once classified as held for disposal, intangible 
assets and PPE are no longer amortised or depreciated.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
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(u) Current/non current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. An asset is treated as current when it is:

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle

- Held primarily for the purpose of trading

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation 
in cash and cash equivalents. The Group has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

(v) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no 
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed 
at the end of the reporting period.

(w) Rounding of amounts

All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest 
Lakh as per the requirement of Schedule III, unless otherwise stated.

3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles 
of Ind AS requires the management of the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported balances of assets and liabilities, disclosures relating to contingent liabilities as at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expense for the periods presented.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
and of items which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning 
out to be different than those originally assessed. Detailed information about each of these estimates and 
judgements is included in relevant notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each 
affected line item in the financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
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(i) fair value measurement of financial Instruments
When the fair values of financials assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using 
valuation techniques which involve various judgements and assumptions.

(ii) Estimation of net realizable value for inventories
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).
NRV for completed inventory is assessed by reference to market conditions and prices existing at the 
reporting date and is determined by the Company, based on comparable transactions identified.

(iii) Impairment of non - financial assets
The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable 
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are 
taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

(iv) Recoverability of trade receivables
In case of trade receivables, the Company follows the simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109 
– Financial Instruments for recognition of impairment loss allowance. The application of simplified 
approach does not require the Company to track changes in credit risk. The Company calculates the 
expected credit losses on trade receivables using a provision matrix on the basis of its historical credit 
loss experience.

(v) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets
The Company reviews the useful life of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets at the end 
of each reporting period. This reassessment may result in change in depreciation expense in future 
periods.

(vi) Valuation of deferred tax assets
The Company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period. 
The policy for the same has been explained under Note above.

(vii) Defined benefit plans
The cost of the defined benefit gratuity plan and other post-employment medical benefits and the 
present value of the gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation 
involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These 
include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the 
complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly 
sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019



2018   2019

85

N
ot

es
 to

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 f
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1st
 M

ar
ch

, 2
01

9
4.

 P
RO

Pe
RT

y,
 P

LA
N

T 
AN

D 
eQ

u
IP

M
eN

T 
(`

 in
 L

ak
hs

)
Pa

rti
cu

la
rs

fr
ee

ho
ld

 
La

nd
Le

as
eh

ol
d 

La
nd

 B
ui

ld
in

gs
Pl

an
t a

nd
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

ts
fu

rn
itu

re
 

an
d 

fi
xt

ur
es

Ve
hi

cl
es

O
ffi

ce
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

ts
el

ec
tr

ic
 

In
st

al
la

tio
ns

Ca
pi

ta
l W

or
k 

in
 P

ro
gr

es
s

To
ta

l

G
RO

SS
 C

AR
Ry

IN
G

 V
AL

u
e 

As
 a

t A
pr

il 
1,

 2
01

7
 3

,3
57

.1
2 

 2
,7

96
.3

2 
 1

,5
44

.7
0 

 4
,8

07
.1

1 
 1

49
.6

9 
 1

55
.3

3 
 1

5.
46

 
 6

1.
55

 
 8

94
.8

7 
13

,7
82

.1
5 

Ad
di

tio
ns

 
 -   

 -   
 3

03
.9

0 
 5

50
.7

6 
 1

01
.1

6 
 -   

 3
.0

4 
 1

.6
5 

 -   
 9

60
.5

1 
Di

sp
os

al
s

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

O
th

er
 A

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 (0

.0
2)

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 (6
47

.8
7)

 (6
47

.8
9)

As
 a

t M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
8

 3
,3

57
.1

2 
 2

,7
96

.3
2 

 1
,8

48
.6

0 
 5

,3
57

.8
5 

 2
50

.8
5 

 1
55

.3
3 

 1
8.

50
 

 6
3.

20
 

 2
47

.0
0 

14
,0

94
.7

7 
Ad

di
tio

ns
 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 5

00
.3

4 
 1

3.
58

 
 2

8.
17

 
 1

.8
0 

 1
9.

60
 

 -   
 5

63
.4

9 
Di

sp
os

al
s

 -   
 -   

 -   
 (7

.8
1)

 -   
 (2

7.
24

)
 -   

 -   
 (1

.5
1)

 (3
6.

56
)

O
th

er
 A

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

As
 a

t M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
9

 3
,3

57
.1

2 
 2

,7
96

.3
2 

 1
,8

48
.6

0 
 5

,8
50

.3
8 

 2
64

.4
3 

 1
56

.2
6 

 2
0.

30
 

 8
2.

80
 

 2
45

.4
9 

14
,6

21
.7

0 
AC

Cu
M

u
LA

Te
D 

De
PR

eC
IA

TI
O

N
/I

M
PA

IR
M

eN
T

As
 a

t A
pr

il 
1,

 2
01

7
 -   

 4
7.

90
 

 5
9.

57
 

 5
46

.2
2 

 3
3.

11
 

 2
1.

94
 

 3
.0

0 
 1

2.
19

 
 -   

 7
23

.9
3 

De
pr

ec
ia

tio
n 

fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r

 -   
 4

7.
90

 
 6

1.
23

 
 5

49
.8

4 
 2

9.
21

 
 1

9.
55

 
 3

.8
4 

 8
.1

0 
 -   

 7
19

.6
7 

As
 a

t M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
8

 -   
 9

5.
80

 
 1

20
.8

0 
 1

,0
96

.0
6 

 6
2.

32
 

 4
1.

49
 

 6
.8

4 
 2

0.
29

 
 -   

 1
,4

43
.6

0 
De

pr
ec

ia
tio

n 
fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r
 -   

 4
7.

90
 

 6
9.

83
 

 5
95

.1
4 

 3
6.

69
 

 1
8.

32
 

 2
.8

3 
 6

.4
8 

 -   
 7

77
.1

9 
Di

sp
os

al
s

 -   
 -   

 -   
 (7

.8
1)

 -   
 (1

2.
94

)
 -   

 -   
 -   

 (2
0.

75
)

As
 a

t M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
9

 -   
 1

43
.7

0 
 1

90
.6

3 
 1

,6
83

.3
9 

 9
9.

01
 

 4
6.

87
 

 9
.6

7 
 2

6.
77

 
 -   

 2
,2

00
.0

4 

N
et

 C
ar

ry
in

g 
va

lu
e 

as
 a

t M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
9

 3
,3

57
.1

2 
 2

,6
52

.6
2 

 1
,6

57
.9

7 
 4

,1
66

.9
9 

 1
65

.4
2 

 1
09

.3
9 

 1
0.

63
 

 5
6.

03
 

 2
45

.4
9 

12
,4

21
.6

6 
N

et
 C

ar
ry

in
g 

va
lu

e 
as

 a
t M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 2
01

8
 3

,3
57

.1
2 

 2
,7

00
.5

2 
 1

,7
27

.8
0 

 4
,2

61
.7

9 
 1

88
.5

3 
 1

13
.8

4 
 1

1.
66

 
 4

2.
91

 
 2

47
.0

0 
12

,6
51

.1
7 



2018    2019

86

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

Notes:

i. Leased Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment includes the following amounts where the company is a lessee under 
finance lease:

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Land
Cost  2,796.32  2,796.32 
Accumulated Depreciation  (143.70)  (95.80)
Net carrying amount  2,652.62  2,700.52 

Vehicles
Cost  90.68  90.68 
Accumulated Depreciation  (38.02)  (26.29)
Net carrying amount  52.66  64.39 

The company has entered into long-term leasing arrangements for land with government authorities 
which are in the nature of finance lease. These arrangements do not involve any material recurring 
payments, hence other disclosures are not given. 

The lease term in respect of vehicles acquired under finance lease are generally for three to five years.

ii. Property, Plant and Equipment given as collateral security against borrowings by the company

Refer to Note 41 for information on property, plant and equipment given as collateral security by the 
company

iii. Deferral/Capitalisation Of Exchange Differences

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has issued the amendment dated December 29, 2011 to AS 
11 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates', to allow companies deferral/capitalization of 
exchange differences arising on long-term foreign currency monetary items. In accordance with the 
amendment/earlier amendment to AS 11 read with Para D13AA of Ind AS 101 'First time adoption of 
Indian Accounting Standard', the Company has capitalised exchange loss, 'arising on long-term foreign 
currency loan to the cost of plant and equipment.

iv. Assets under Construction

Capital work in progress comprises new building and additions to manufacturing facilities being 
constructed in India

v. Contractual Obligations

Refer to Note 33 for disclosure of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment.
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5. INTANGIBLe ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars Trademarks / 

Patent
GROSS CARRyING VALue 
As at April 1, 2017  229.92 
Additions / Deductions  - 
As at March 31, 2018  229.92 
Additions / Deductions  - 
As at March 31, 2019  229.92 

ACCuMuLATeD AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMeNT
As at April 1, 2017  21.84 
Amortisation for the year  21.84 
Impairment -
As at March 31, 2018  43.68 
Amortisation for the year  21.84 
Impairment -
As at March 31, 2019  65.52 

Net Carrying value as at March 31, 2019  164.40 
Net Carrying value as at March 31, 2018  186.24 

6. INVeSTMeNTS ACCOuNTeD fOR uSING eQuITy MeTHOD (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(A) Investments in Associates

Quoted
3,369,605 shares of INR 5 each of Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited fully paid up 
(March 31, 2018 : 3,369,605)

 889.78  741.13 

Unquoted
26,208 Equity Shares of INR 100 each fully paid up of Long Island Nutritionals 
Private Limited (March 31, 2018 : 26,208)

 (0.00)  (0.00)

(B) Investments in Joint Ventures
Unquoted
6,860,000 Equity shares of Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited of 
INR 10 each fully paid up (March 31, 2018 : 6,860,000)

 1,749.10  1,670.93 

Total  2,638.88  2,412.06 
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6A. fINANCIAL ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(A) INVeSTMeNTS

Non Current 
(1) Investments carried at fair value through Profit and Loss 

(a) Investments in Equity Instruments 
Quoted
505 Equity shares of Union Bank of India of INR 10 each fully paid 
(March 31, 2018 : 505)

 0.48  0.48 

9,000 Equity Shares of Bank of Baroda of INR 2 each fully paid 
(March 31, 2018 : 9,000)

 11.59  12.80 

Unquoted
16,000 Equity Shares of the Kapol Cooperative Bank Limited of  
INR 10 each fully paid up (March 31, 2018 : 16,000)

 1.60  1.60 

600 Equity Shares of Jeedimetla Effluent Treatment Limited of  
INR 100 each fully paid up (March 31, 2018 : 600)

 0.60  0.60 

100 Equity Shares of The Zoroastrian Cooperative Bank Limited of  
INR 25 each fully paid up (March 31, 2018 : 100)

 0.03  0.03 

(b) Investments in bonds 
Unquoted
20, 20 years Deep Discount Bonds of Sardar Sarovar Narmada Nigam 
Limited of INR 3,600 each fully paid up (March 31, 2018 : 20)

 10.00  10.00 

Total  24.30  25.51 
(2) Investments carried at Amortised Cost

Investments in Government or trust securities
Unquoted
National Savings Certificates [including INR 0.33 lakhs (March 31, 2018 
INR 0.33 lakhs) deposited as security with various Government and Semi 
Government departments](NSC worth INR 0.10 lakhs is held in the name of 
director of the Company)

 0.43  0.43 

5 1/2 years Kisan Vikas Patra (including INR 0.10 lakhs deposited as security 
with sales tax authority at Daman)

 0.15  0.15 

 0.58  0.58 
Total 24.88 26.09

Aggregate amount of quoted investments  901.85  754.40 
Market value of quoted investments  1,421.77  1,763.49 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  1,761.91  1,683.74 
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments  -  - 
Investments carried at amortised cost  0.58  0.58 
Investments carried at fair value through profit and loss  24.30  25.51 
Investments carried at cost  -  - 
Investments accounted using equity method  2,638.88  2,412.06 
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6A. fINANCIAL ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(B) OTHeR fINANCIAL ASSeTS

Non Current 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Bank Deposits with more than 12 months maturity  25.79  25.02 

Total  25.79  25.02 
Current 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Security Deposits  330.33  317.13 
Interest / Dividend Receivable  16.61  16.61 
Insurance Claim  60.10  60.10 

Total  407.04  393.84 

7. INVeNTORIeS (` in Lakhs)
 Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(Valued at lower of Cost and Net Realisable value) 
Raw materials

In Stock  962.22  822.17 
In Transit  50.11  95.69 

Work-in-process  1,342.37  1,666.19 
Finished goods  2,134.60  1,788.84 
Stores and spares  13.60  14.37 
Stock in Trade  28.22  - 
Packing Material and Power and Fuel  832.37  570.27 

Total  5,363.49  4,957.53 

8. TRADe ReCeIVABLeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Trade Receivables from customers  6,385.81  5,101.17 
Receivables from other related parties  904.92  1,761.57 

 7,290.73  6,862.74 
Breakup of Security details
Secured, considered good  -  - 
Unsecured, considered good  7,290.73  6,862.74 
Which have significant increase in credit risk  -  - 
Credit impaired  1,699.15  1,610.78 

 8,989.88  8,473.52 
Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)
Unsecured, considered good  -  - 
Doubtful  1,699.15  1,610.78 
Bad Debts  -  - 

 1,699.15  1,610.78 
Total  7,290.73  6,862.74 

Trade or Other Receivable due from directors or other officers of the company either severally or jointly with any other 
person amounted to NIL (Previous year INR NIL)
Trade or Other Receivable due from firms or private companies in which any director is a partner, a director or a member 
amounted to INR 904.92 Lakhs (Previous year INR 1,761.57 Lakhs)
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9. CASH AND CASH eQuIVALeNTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Balances with banks: 
Balances with banks on current accounts  167.51  442.40 
Cash on hand  7.96  6.94 

Total  175.47  449.34 

10. OTHeR BANK BALANCeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Balances with banks to the extent held as margin money  122.53  200.74 
Balances with banks as security against bank guarantees  46.75  41.05 
Deposits account towards share application  0.33  0.33 

Total  169.61  242.12 

11. OTHeR ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Non Current 
Other Advances  -  2.01 
Payment of Taxes (Net of Provisions)  266.51  236.74 
Gratuity Fund  218.78  204.76 
Other non current assets  -  2.78 

Total  485.29  446.29 
Current 
Advances other than Capital advances 
- Advances to Related Parties  83.81  79.81 
- Staff Advance and Imprest Cash  39.38  43.81 

Others 
- Prepaid expenses  356.46  364.82 
- Balances with Statutory, Government Authorities  991.62  816.69 
- Other current assets  108.70  92.85 

Total  1,579.97  1,397.98 

12. INCOMe TAX
Deferred Tax (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Depreciation for tax purposes  (1,300.35)  (1,624.84)
Land revalued at fair value on date of transition  (420.39)  (420.39)
Temporary difference in the carrying amount of investments  (1.91)  (1.91)
Provision for employee benefits  319.89  276.86 
Temporary difference in the carrying amount of financial instruments at amortised cost  (0.80)  (16.79)
MAT Credit entitlement  303.08  303.08 
Loss allowances on trade receivables  494.79  557.49 
Losses available for offsetting against future taxable income  1,272.54  1,410.78 
Others  (3.11)  (6.42)
Net Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities)  663.74  477.86 
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Movement in deferred tax liabilities/assets (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Opening balance as of April 1  477.86  480.13 
Tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss  183.74  (10.18)
Tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in OCI  2.14  7.92 
Closing balance as at March 31  663.74  477.86 

The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liablities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority.

Major Components of income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 are as follows:
i. Income tax recognised in profit or loss (` in Lakhs)

2018-19 2017-18
Current income tax charge  -  - 
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous year  - -
Deferred tax
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (183.74)  10.18 
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss  (183.74)  10.18 

ii. Income tax recognised in OCI
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Net loss/(gain) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  2.14  7.92 
Income tax expense recognised in OCI  2.14  7.92 

Reconciliation of tax expense and accounting profit multiplied by income tax rate for March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Accounting profit before income tax  (1,259.72)  1,133.02 
Enacted tax rate in India 29.12% 34.61%
Income tax on accounting profits  (366.83)  392.14 

Tax Effect of
Depreciation  59.01  39.64 
Expenses not allowable or considered separately under Income Tax  70.64  56.78 
Expenses allowable and others  (38.58)  (39.03)
Losses carried adjusted during the year  376.10  (328.95)
Dividend income exempt from tax  (43.96)  (53.67)
Recognition of deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (183.74)  10.18 
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate and a joint venture  (66.04)  (89.75)
Other adjustments  9.66  22.83 
Tax at effective income tax rate  (183.74)  10.18 
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13. SHARe CAPITAL
i. Authorised Share Capital (` in Lakhs)

Equity Share
Number Amount

At April 1, 2017  10,000,000  1,000.00 
Increase/(decrease) during the year  -  - 
At March 31, 2018  10,000,000  1,000.00 
Increase/(decrease) during the year  - 
At March 31, 2019  10,000,000  1,000.00 

Terms/rights attached to equity shares
The company has only one class of equity shares having par value of INR 10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is 
entitled to one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed by the 
Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case 
of Interim dividend.
In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of 
the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity 
shares held by the shareholders.

ii. Issued Capital
Number Amount

Equity shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed 
and fully paid
At April 1, 2017  9,180,942  918.09 
Issued during the period  -  - 
At March 31, 2018  9,180,942  918.09 
Issued during the period  -  - 
At March 31, 2019  9,180,942  918.09 

iii. Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company
Name of the shareholder As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018

Number % holding Number % holding
Equity shares of INR 10 each fully paid
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel  872,057  9.50  707,957  7.71 
Jayshree D. Patel  667,664  7.27  667,664  7.27 
Dr. Sachin D. Patel  551,655  6.01  551,655  6.01 
Vividh Margi Investment Private Limited  1,452,842  15.82  1,452,842  15.82 
Vividh Distributors Private Limited  716,100  7.80  716,100  7.80 
Gedeon Richter Investment Management 
Limited

 884,308  9.63  884,308  9.63 

iv.  Aggregate number of equity shares issued as bonus, shares issued for consideration other than cash and shares 
bought back during the period of five years immediately preceding the reporting date: NIL

v. Shares reserved for issue under options
For details of shares reserved for issue under the Share based payment plan of the company, please refer note 32.
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14. OTHeR eQuITy
i. Reserves and Surplus (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Capital Reserve  30.00  30.00 
Securities Premium  3,481.68  3,481.68 
General Reserve  6,733.76  6,733.76 
Share Based Payment Reserve  59.67  54.18 
Retained Earnings  1,047.85  2,093.48 
Property, Plant and Equipment Reserve  3,537.24  3,577.26 

Total  14,890.20  15,970.36 

(a) Capital Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  30.00  30.00 
Add/(Less):  -  - 
Closing balance  30.00  30.00 

Capital reserve is created as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

(b) Securities Premium (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  3,481.68  2,829.44 
Add/(Less):
Issue of equity shares  -  652.24 
Closing balance  3,481.68  3,481.68 

The amount received in excess of face value of the equity shares is recognised in Share Premium Reserve. This is not 
available for distribution of dividend but can be utilised for issuing bonus shares.

(c) General Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  6,733.76  6,733.76 
Add/(Less):  -  - 
Closing balance  6,733.76  6,733.76 

(d) Share Based Payment Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  54.18  47.78 
Add/(Less):
Employee compensation expense recognised during the year  5.49  20.68 
Transfer to retained earnings  -  (14.28)
Closing balance  59.67  54.18 

The Company has two share option schemes under which options to subscribe for the company's shares have been 
granted to certain executives and senior employees.

The Share based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity settled share based payments provided to 
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 32 for further details of 
these plans.
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(e) Retained earnings (` in Lakhs)

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 
Opening balance  2,093.48  924.26 
Net Profit/(Loss) for the period  (1,074.16)  1,129.13 
Add/(Less):
Transfer from property, plant and equipment reserve in respect of depreciation  40.02  40.02 
Transfer from share based payment reserve  -  14.28 
Others  (6.32)  - 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income directly recognised in Retained Earnings
Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligation, net of tax  (5.17)  (14.21)
Closing balance  1,047.85  2,093.48 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

Opening balance  3,577.26  3,617.28 
Add/(Less):
Transfer to retained earnings in respect of depreciation on leasehold land  (40.02)  (40.02)
Closing balance  3,537.24  3,577.26 
Property, Plant and Equipment Reserves represents reserve created on revaluation of freehold land on the date of 
transition to Ind AS. It is a non distributable reserve.

ii. Components of Other Comprehensive Income (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 
Exchange differences on translating the financial statement of a foreign operation 0.73 2.13

Total 0.73 2.13

15. BORROWINGS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 
Non Current Borrowings 

Secured 
(a) Term Loans From Banks  -  206.40 
(b) Long term maturity of Finance Lease Obligations  20.75  10.82 

unsecured 
(c) Foreign Currency Term Loan from a Foreign Promoter  1,474.04  1,409.22 

(A)  1,494.79  1,626.44 
Current Maturity of Non Current Borrowings 
Secured 
(a) Term Loans From Banks  -  205.58 
(b) Long term maturity of Finance Lease Obligations  6.33  10.42 

unsecured 
(c) Foreign Currency Term Loan from a Foreign Promoter  553.36  260.72 

(B)  559.69  476.72 
Total (A)-(B)  935.10  1,149.72 
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15. BORROWINGS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

Current Borrowings 
Secured 
(a) Loans repayable on demand from Banks 

- Cash Credit  3,340.40  3,655.71 
- Bills Discounted  1,222.24  1,227.73 
- Advance as Packing Credit for Export  917.51  827.80 

unsecured 
(b) Intercorporate Deposits  1,205.35  662.26 

Total  6,685.50  6,373.50 

NON CuRReNT BORROWINGS
SeCuReD BORROWING

(A) TeRM LOANS fROM BANKS

Secured by an equitable mortgage created by deposit of title deeds of the Company's factory land and 
buildings situated at Vapi, Hyderabad, Haridwar and Baroda and hypothecation of Plant and Machinery 
both present and future and also secured by personal guarantees of Directors of the Company.

Terms of Repayment 

(I) Term Loan from Bank of Baroda INR 228.66 lakhs which is Repayable in 16 quarterly installments after a 
holiday period of one year from first disbursement.

(II) Term Loan from Union Bank of India is INR 2306.88 lakhs and from Bank of Baroda is INR 430.33 lakhs 
Repayable in 20 quarterly installments commencing from September 2013.

(B) LONG TeRM MATuRITIeS Of fINANCe LeASe OBLIGATION

Secured By hypothecation of vehicles acquired under hire purchase arrangement.

Repayable in 36 equated Monthly Installments as per various arrangements.

uNSeCuReD BORROWING 

(A) TeRM LOAN 

Company have foreign currency loan from its foreign promoter which is repayable in 19 quarterly installments 
up to December 31, 2021.

CuRReNT BORROWINGS

Cash Credit facility from banks

Cash Credits against hypothecation of raw materials, Stock in Process, finished goods, packing material and 
book debts and also guaranteed by the Directors of the Company.
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Net debt Reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current Borrowings  6,685.50  6,373.50 
Non-current Borrowings  1,494.79  1,626.44 
Net Debt  8,180.29  7,999.94 

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Liabilities from  

financing activities
Total

Non Current 
Borrowings

Current 
Borrowings

Net Debt as at March 31, 2017  2,890.69  5,345.41  8,236.10 
Cash Inflow  - 
Foreign Exchange Adjustments  4.96  -  4.96 
Cash Outflow  (1,341.78)  -  (1,341.78)
Net Receipt on Current Borrowings  -  1,028.09  1,028.09 
Fair Value  72.57  -  72.57 
Interest Expense  1,107.19 
Interest Paid  (1,107.19)
Net Debt as at March 31, 2018  1,626.44  6,373.50  7,999.94 
Cash Inflow
Foreign Exchange Adjustments  0.43  -  0.43 
Cash Outflow  (264.23)  -  (264.23)
Net Receipt on Current Borrowings  -  312.00  312.00 
Fair Value  132.15  -  132.15 
Interest Expense  1,041.67 
Interest Paid  (1,041.67 )
Net Debt as at March 31, 2019  1,494.79  6,685.50  8,180.29 

16. OTHeR fINANCIAL LIABILITIeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Current maturities of long term debts  553.36  466.30 
Current maturities of finance lease obligations  6.33  10.42 
Unclaimed dividend  1.74  3.72 
Unclaimed matured deposits  1.79  3.34 
Deposits from Dealers and Suppliers  484.49  443.49 
Rent Deposits  10.96  - 
Others
Book Overdraft  394.91  1.31 
Other Payables  2,709.37  1,833.29 

Total  4,162.95  2,761.87 
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17. TRADe PAyABLeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Trade Payable to Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  28.98  122.69 
Trade Payables to Related Parties  0.51  - 
Trade Payable to Creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises  3,474.52  2,932.45 

Total  3,504.01  3,055.14 

18. OTHeR LIABILITIeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Advance received from Customers  165.68  159.21 
Statutory Liabilities*  41.82  53.42 
Advance received from Related Parties  0.70  0.60 
Auditors Remuneration Payable  0.64  0.59 
Professional Fees Payable  0.50  0.33 

Total  209.34  214.15 
*Includes GST, Excise duty, Service tax and TDS

19. PROVISIONS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Non Current 
Provision for employee benefits - -
Leave encashment -  - 

Total -  - 
Current 
Provision for employee benefits - -
Leave encashment  106.78  89.62 

Total  106.78  89.62 

20. ReVeNue fROM OPeRATIONS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Sale of products (inclusive of excise duty) 
Sale of Products  18,257.63  21,081.15 
Other Operating Revenues 
Others  117.84  89.52 

Total  18,375.47  21,170.67 

21. OTHeR INCOMe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Interest Income on Bank fixed deposits  24.43  49.84 
Dividend income  150.92  157.24 
Other Non Operating Income 
Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Gain  79.64  - 
Sundry balances written back  -  5.37 
Miscellaneous Income  11.73  88.58 

Total  266.72  301.03 
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22. COST Of MATeRIALS CONSuMeD (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Raw Material 
As at beginning of the year  822.17  873.88 
Add: Purchases  4,293.09  4,102.81 
Less: Samples classified under other expenses  (178.66)  (218.86)
Less : As at end of the year  (962.22)  (822.17)

 3,974.38  3,935.66 
Packing Material  948.87  1,391.13 

Total  4,923.25  5,326.79 

23. PuRCHASeS Of STOCK-IN-TRADe  (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
 Traded Goods  1,957.58  1,988.47 

Total  1,957.58  1,988.47 

24.  CHANGeS IN INVeNTORIeS Of fINISHeD GOODS,  
WORK-IN-PROCeSS AND STOCK-IN-TRADe (` in Lakhs)

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Inventories as at the beginning of the year 
Work - in - process  1,666.19  1,400.15 
Finished goods  1,788.84  1,905.99 
Stock-in-trade  -  - 

Total  3,455.03  3,306.14 
Less : Inventories as at the end of the year 
Work - in - process  1,342.37  1,666.19 
Finished goods  2,134.60  1,788.84 
Stock - in - Trade  28.37  - 

Total  3,505.34  3,455.03 
 Net decrease / (increase) in inventories  (50.31)  (148.89)

25. eMPLOyee BeNefITS eXPeNSe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Salaries, wages and bonus  4,273.14  4,144.74 
Contribution to provident and other funds  260.78  269.41 
Share based payments to employees  5.49  20.68 
Staff welfare expenses  29.99  30.10 

Total  4,569.40  4,464.93 

26. fINANCe COST (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Interest expense on debts and borrowings  1,040.67  1,042.74 
Bank Charges  141.45  143.94 

Total  1,182.12  1,186.68 

27. DePReCIATION AND AMORTISATION eXPeNSe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Depreciation on tangible assets  777.19  719.67 
Amortisation on intangible assets  21.84  21.84 

Total  799.03  741.51 
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28. OTHeR eXPeNSeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Consumption of stores and spares  121.79  134.18 
Power and fuel  969.86  840.99 
Processing charges  1,061.92  1,109.34 
Rent  93.03  93.97 
Repairs and maintenance 

Building  2.60  22.65 
Plant and Machinery  36.63  35.55 
Others  72.82  52.88 

Insurance  66.53  70.58 
Rates and taxes  51.43  35.48 
Travelling and conveyance expenses  993.85  1,110.99 
Freight and Forwarding charges  449.48  375.32 
Legal and professional charges  544.14  544.23 
Foreign exchange fluctuation loss  -  8.43 
Commission  576.48  550.99 
Advertisement and Sales promotion expenses  745.03  900.73 
Allowance for doubtful debts and advances  88.37  (48.31)
Payments to Auditors (Refer Note below)  7.98  8.23 
Fair value loss on financial instrument at Fair value through profit and loss  1.20  8.24 
Pre-Operative Expenses to be Capitalised  0.33  - 
Management charges  -  29.04 
Miscellaneous expenses  864.17  934.65 

Total  6,747.64  6,818.15 

(a) Details of Payments to auditors (` in Lakhs)
2018-19 2017-18 

As auditor 
Audit Fee  7.50  7.80 

In other capacity 
Other services (certification fees)  0.16  0.14 
Re-imbursement of expenses  0.32  0.29 

Total  7.98  8.23 

(b) Corporate social responsibility expenditure (` in Lakhs)
2018-19 2017-18 

Contribution to Rural Development Programme of the Bombay Mothers and 
Children Welfare Society

 -  24.69 

Contribution to Sanitary Manufacturing Unit at Jaiwadi Tribal Village  -  - 
Total  -  24.69 

Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act  24.56  24.62 
Amount spent during the year on 
(i) Construction/acquisition of an asset  -  - 
(ii) on purposes other than (i) above  -  24.69 
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29. ReSeARCH AND DeVeLOPMeNT COSTS
The Company during the period has incurred cost on research and development activities which are not eligible for 
capitalisation in terms of Ind AS 38 and therefore they are recognised in other expenses under statement of profit and 
loss. Amount charged to profit or loss during the period ended March 31, 2019: INR 458.46 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 
528.35 Lakhs) details of which are as follows:

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
On Revenue Account :
Manufacturing expenses
Material  17.73  80.05 
Other Expenses  440.73  448.30 
Total Research & Development expenditure  458.46  528.35 

30. eARNINGS PeR SHARe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
(a) Basic earnings per share (INR)  (11.72)  12.23 

(b) Diluted earnings per share (INR)  (11.72)  12.21 

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating basic 
earnings per share

 (1,075.98)  1,122.84 

Diluted earnings per share
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating basic 
earnings per share

 (1,075.98)  1,122.84 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:  -  - 

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share

 (1,075.98)  1,122.84 

(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic earnings per share

 9,180,942  9,180,942 

Adjustments for calculation of dilluted earnings per share:
Employee Stock Options  -  17,740 
Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculating 
diluted earnings per share

 9,180,942  9,198,682 
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31. eMPLOyee BeNefIT OBLIGATIONS (` in Lakhs)

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current Non Current Total Current Non Current Total

Provisions
Leave obligations  106.78  -  106.78  89.62  -  89.62 

Employee Benefit Obligations  106.78  -  106.78  89.62  -  89.62 
Plan Assets
Gratuity  -  218.78  218.78  -  204.76  204.76 
Employee Benefit Plan Assets  -  218.78  218.78  -  204.76  204.76 

(i) Leave Obligations
The leave obligations cover the company's liability for sick and earned leave.

The amount of the provision of INR 106.78 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 89.62 Lakhs) is presented as current, 
since the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations.

(ii) Post Employment obligations
a) Gratuity

The company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. 
Employees who are in continuous service for a period of five years are eligible for gratuity. The amount 
of gratuity payable on retirement/ termination is the employees last drawn basic salary per month 
computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied by number of years of service.

The gratuity plan is a funded plan and the company makes contributions to recognised funds in India. 
The company does not fully fund the liability and maintains a target level of funding to be maintained 
over a period of time based on estimations of expected gratuity payments.
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The amount recognised in the balance sheet and the movement in the net defined benefit obligation 
over the period are as follows (` in Lakhs)

Present value 
of obligation

fair value of 
plan assets Net amount

As at April 1, 2017  153.55  358.29  204.74 

Current service cost  31.57  -  (31.57)
Interest expense/(income)  11.89  27.49  15.60 
Error in Reconciliation  -  (3.14)  (3.14)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  43.45  24.35  (19.10)

Remeasurements
Return of plan assets, excluding amount included in interest (income)  -  (23.91)  (23.91)
(Gain)/Loss from change in financial assumptions  (5.49)  -  5.49 
Experience (gains)/losses  4.45  -  (4.45)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income  (1.04)  (23.91)  (22.87)

Employer contributions  -  42.00  42.00 
Benefit payments  (22.14)  (22.14)  - 
As at March 31, 2018  173.83  378.59  204.76 

Current service cost 37.16  -  (37.16)
Interest expense/(income) 14.03 30.55  16.52 
Error in Reconciliation  -  -  - 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  51.19  30.55  (20.64)

Remeasurements
Return of plan assets, excluding amount included in interest (income)  -  (6.38)  (6.38)
(Gain)/Loss from change in financial assumptions  5.19  -  (5.19)
Experience (gains)/losses  (4.23)  -  4.23 
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income  0.96  (6.38)  (7.34)
Employer contributions  -  42.00  42.00 
Benefit payments  (25.21)  (25.21)  - 
As at March 31, 2019  200.77  419.55  218.78 

The major categories of plan assets of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Contribution to LIC  419.55  378.59 

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Discount rate 7.78% 8.07%
Expected return on plan assets 7.78% 8.07%
Salary growth rate 4.00% 4.00%
Employee turnover rate 1.00% 1.00%
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A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at March 31, 2019 is shown below: (` in Lakhs)
Assumptions Discount rate employee turnover rate Salary growth rate
Sensitivity Level 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease

March 31, 2019
Impact on defined 
benefit obligation

 (8.80)  9.59  3.30  (3.58)  9.90  (9.14)

% Impact -4.38% 4.78% 1.65% -1.78% 4.93% -4.55%

March 31, 2018
Impact on defined 
benefit obligation

 (7.76)  8.44  3.11  (3.37)  8.75  (8.09)

% Impact -4.46% 4.86% 1.79% -1.94% 5.03% -4.65%
The sensitivity analysis above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on 
defined beenfit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occuring at the end of the 
reporting period.

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years: (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

1st following year  29.71  17.63 
2nd following year  6.72  5.02 
3rd following year  11.56  18.54 
4th following year  12.25  10.36 
5th following year  14.92  11.05 
Sum of Years 6 to 10  88.92  84.06 
Sum of Years 11 and above  371.49  340.57 
Total expected payments  535.57  487.23 
The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 11 years (March 31, 
2018: 11 years)

iii) Defined contribution plans
The company also has defined contribution plans. Contributions are made to provident fund in India for 
employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The contributions are made to registered 
provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the company is limited to the amount 
contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation. The expense recognised during 
the period towards defined contribution plan is INR 214.31 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 214.59 Lakhs).
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32. SHARe BASeD PAyMeNTS

(a) Employee option plan
The Company implemented Themis Medicare Employee Stock Option Scheme 2012 (herein after 
referred to as "Themis Medicare ESOS 2012"" or “the Scheme”) as approved by the Shareholders of the 
Company and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors.
The purpose of this Scheme is to promote the success of the Company and its subsidiaries and the 
interest of its shareholders by rewarding, attracting, motivating, and retaining Employees for high levels 
of individual performance, for efforts to improve the financial performance of the Company.
The Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) is designed to provide incentives to eligible employees to 
deliver long term returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which vest upon completion 
of 1 year of service from the grant date. Participation in the plan is at the board's discretion and no 
individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.
The Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) is designed to provide incentives to eligible employees to 
deliver long term returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which vest upon completion 
of 1 year of service from the grant date. Participation in the plan is at the board's discretion and no 
individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.
Once vested, the options remain exercisable for a period of 5 years. When exercisable, each option is 
convertible into one equity share.

Movement during the period
The number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of the options and movement during the period is as follows

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Number of options WAeP Number of options WAeP

Opening balance  40,028  302.66  64,397  293.26 
Granted duing the period  -  -  -  - 
Exercised during the period*  -  -  16,509  250.72 
Forfeited during the period  -  -  -  - 
Expired during the period  5,550  265.32  7,860  334.75 
Closing balance  34,478  308.67  40,028  302.66 
Vested and exercisable  34,478  308.67  21,108  273.90 

* The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options during the period ended March 31, 2019 was INR 
NIL (March 31, 2018: INR 567.23).

Share options outstanding at the end of the period have the following expiry date and exercise prices

Grant expiry date exercise price 
(INR)

Share options Share options
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

G1-31/07/2012 31/07/2020 77.85  3,500  5,000 
G2-10/02/2016 10/02/2024 334.75  30,978  35,028 

Total  34,478  40,028 
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of 
period.

1.6 years 2.6 years

(b) Expense arising from share based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefit expense were as follows:

(` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Employee stock option  5.49  20.68 
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33. COMMITMeNTS AND CONTINGeNCIeS
A. Commitments (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

(a) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account 
and not provided for

 -  - 

(b) Uncalled liability on shares and other investments partly paid  -  - 
(c) Other commitments

(i) Liability on account of Custom duty on goods in bonded warehouse or 
in transit is, as per the Company's practice charged to Profit and Loss 
Account only in the year in which the goods are cleared from the Custom. 
This accounting policy has no effect on the Profit for the year.

 -  - 

 -  - 

B. Contingent Liabilities (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

i. Claim against the company not acknowledged as debt
(i) The Ministry of Chemicals & Fertilizers ,Government of India has raised 

demand under Drug Price Control Order,1979 / 1995 for difference in 
actual price and price of respective bulk drug allowed while fixing the 
prices of certain life saving formulations which are disputed by the 
Company. The Company has preferred Appeals before Honorable High 
Courts of Gujarat and Bombay in respect of Bulk Drug Rifampicin and 
Ethambutol respectively, for grant of ad interim stay. While allowing the 
stay, The Honorable High Court Gujarat directed the Company to deposit 
Principal Liability of INR 34.80 lakhs out of the total liability of INR 126.08 
lakhs as worked out by the Department of Chemicals & Fertilizers, Govt. 
of India. The Company has already complied with the directions of the 
Honorable Court. In respect of Liability for Bulk Drug Ethambutol, the 
Honorable Bombay High Court had directed the Company to submit 
Bank Guarantee of Principle amount with Court & stayed the matter. 
The Company has complied with the direction of the Honorable High 
Court. Similarly, a demand notice is received during a previous year from 
NPPA, New Delhi, in respect of Formulation Tetracox, The Company has 
preferred Writ Petition at Honorable High Court Uttarakhand, Nainital, as 
well for stay of demand. The matter is pending before the High Court. 

 435.98  435.98 

(ii) Others  0.87  0.87 
ii. Guarantees excluding financial guarantees

Bank Guarantees  239.99  136.47 
iii. Other money for which the company is contingently liable

(i) In respect of Letter of Credit  34.74  74.65 
(ii) Disputed VAT Liability as the matters are in appeal  17.60  17.60 
(iii) Customs duty payable on raw materials imported under duty exemption 

scheme in case of non-fulfillment of export obligation.
 259.56  222.18 

(iv) Disputed Income Tax Liability as the matters are in appeal.  29.47  - 
 1,018.21  887.75 

C. financial Guarantees
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited (refer note)  250.00  250.00 

Note: Financial guarantee given by Themis Medicare Limited to the lenders of Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited.
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34. INTeReST IN OTHeR eNTITIeS
(a) Subsidiaries

The group's subsidiaries at March 31, 2019 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital 
consisting solely of equity shares that are held directly by the group, and the proportion of ownership interests held 
equals the voting rights held by the group. The county of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of 
business.

Name of entity Place of business 
/ incorporation

Principal 
activities

Ownership interest 
held by the group

Ownership interest held 
by non controlling interest

March 
31, 2019

March 
31, 2018

March 31, 
2019

March 31, 
2018

Carpo Medical Limited United Kingdom 90% 90% 10% 10%
Themis Life Style Private Limited India 99% 99% 1% 1%
Artemis Biotech Limited India 95% 95% 5% 5%

(b) Interest in associates and joint ventures

(i) Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of the group as at March 31, 2019 which, in the opinion of the 
directors, are material to the group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of equity shares, 
which are held direclty by the ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held

Name of entity Place of 
Business

% of ownership 
interest

Relationship Accounting 
Method

Carrying Amount
March 31, 

2019
March 31, 

2018
Long Island Nutrionals 
Private Limited

India 37.14% Associate Equity 
Method

 (0.00)  (0.00)

Gujarat Themis Biosyn 
Limited

India 23.19% Associate Equity 
Method

 889.78  741.13 

Richter Themis Medicare 
(India) Private Limited

India 49.00% Joint Venture Equity 
Method

 1,749.10  1,670.93 

Name of entity Carrying Amount Quoted fair Value
March  

31, 2019
March  

31, 2018
March  

31, 2019
March  

31, 2018
Long Island Nutrionals Private Limited **  (0.00)  (0.00)  -  - 
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited  889.78  741.13  1,324.25  1,408.49 
Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited **  1,749.10  1,670.93  -  - 

** Unlisted entity - no quoted price available

(ii) Summarised financial information for associates and joint ventures

The table below provides summarised financial information for those joint ventures and associates that are 
material to the group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of 
the relevant associates and joint ventures and not group's share of those amounts. They have been amended to 
reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustements made at 
the time of acquisition and modification for differences in accounting policies.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
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Summarised balance sheet Long Island Nutrionals 

Private Limited
Gujarat Themis Biosyn 

Limited
Richter Themis Medicare 

(India) Private Limited
March 31, 

2019
March 31, 

2018
March 31, 

2019
March 31, 

2018
March 31, 

2019
March 31, 

2018
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents * * * *  402.98  863.02 
Other assets * * * *  5,088.54  5,467.19 
Total current assets  111.16  196.93  834.78  784.03  5,491.52  6,330.21 
Total non current assets  210.30  232.46  2,441.01  1,265.14 6511.86  6,022.93 

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
(excluding trade payables)

* * * *  331.60  920.49 

Other liabilities * * * * 917.49  1,733.22 
Total current liabilites  119.64  207.55  1,281.33  791.85  1,249.09  2,653.71 

Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities (excluding trade 
payables)

* * * *  6,912.13  5,701.07 

Other liabilities * * * *  692.00  343.01 
Total non current liabilties  836.65  806.59  142.51  46.40  7,604.14  6,044.08 
Net Assets  (634.83)  (584.75)  1,851.95  1,210.93  3,150.15  3,655.35 

* indicates disclosures that are not required for investments in associates
Reconciliation to carrying amounts
Particulars Long Island Nutrionals 

Private Limited
Gujarat Themis Biosyn 

Limited
Richter Themis Medicare 

(India) Private Limited
March  

31, 2019
March  

31, 2018
March  

31, 2019
March  

31, 2018
March  

31, 2019
March  

31, 2018
Opening net assets  (584.75)  (477.48)  1,210.93  821.00  3,655.35  3,371.88 
Profit for the year  (50.09)  (107.27)  640.90  386.72  467.54  654.17 
Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  3.21  -  - 
Dividends paid  -  -  -  -  (308.00)  (308.00)
Other adjustments - -  -  -  (664.74)  (62.70)
Closing net assets  (634.83)  (584.75)  1,851.82  1,210.93  3,150.15  3,655.35 

Group's share in % 37.14% 37.14% 23.19% 23.19% 49.00% 49.00%
Group's share in INR  (235.78)  (217.18)  429.44  280.81  1,543.58  1,791.12 
Goodwill - -  460.35  460.32 - -
Other adjustments - - - -  205.52  (120.20)
Carrying amount  -  -  889.78  741.13  1,749.10  1,670.93 
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Summarised statement of 
profit and loss

Long Island Nutrionals 
Private Limited

Gujarat Themis Biosyn 
Limited

Richter Themis Medicare 
(India) Private Limited

March  
31, 2019

March  
31, 2018

March  
31, 2019

March  
31, 2018

March  
31, 2019

March  
31, 2018

Revenue from operations  63.02  63.04  4,104.99  3,879.99  6,974.03  8,031.05 
Interest income * * * *  -  70.06 
Depreciation and amortisation * * * *  457.56  499.66 
Interest expense * * * *  242.95  117.53 
Income tax expense * * * *  442.13  318.28 
Profit for the year  (50.09)  (107.27)  640.90  386.72  467.54  654.17 
Other comprehensive income  -  - -  3.21  -  - 
Total comprehensive income  (50.09)  (107.27)  640.90  389.93  467.54  654.17 
Dividends paid  -  -  -  -  308.00  308.00 

* indicates disclosures that are not required for investments in associates

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Share of profits from associates  148.62  89.68 
Share of profits from joint ventures  78.18  169.63 
Total share of profits from associates and joint ventures  226.80  259.30 



2018   2019

109

N
ot

es
 to

 C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 f
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

ed
 3

1st
 M

ar
ch

, 2
01

9
35

. D
IS

CL
O

Su
Re

S 
Re

Q
u

IR
eD

 B
y 

SC
He

Du
Le

 II
I

N
am

e 
of

 th
e 

En
tit

y 
in

 th
e 

G
ro

up
N

et
 A

ss
et

s,
 i.

e.
 to

ta
l 

as
se

ts
 m

in
us

 to
ta

l 
lia

bi
liti

es

Sh
ar

e 
in

 p
ro

fit
 o

r l
os

s
Sh

ar
e 

in
 o

th
er

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e
Sh

ar
e 

in
 to

ta
l

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 in

co
m

e

As
 %

 o
f 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 
ne

t a
ss

et
s

Am
ou

nt
As

 %
 o

f 
co

ns
ol

id
at

ed
 

pr
ofi

t o
r l

os
s

Am
ou

nt
As

 %
 o

f c
on

so
lid

at
ed

 
ot

he
r c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
in

co
m

e
Am

ou
nt

As
 %

 o
f t

ot
al

 
co

m
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
in

co
m

e
Am

ou
nt

Pa
re

nt
Th

em
is 

M
ed

ic
ar

e 
Li

m
ite

d
83

.9
0%

 1
3,

26
2.

64
 

11
8.

00
%

(1
,2

69
.6

2)
11

0.
29

%
 (5

.2
1)

11
7.

96
%

(1
,2

74
.8

2)
Su

bs
id

ia
rie

s
In

di
an

Th
em

is 
Li

fe
 S

ty
le

 P
riv

at
e 

Li
m

ite
d

0.
00

%
 (0

.2
0)

0.
04

%
 (0

.4
5)

0.
00

%
 - 

0.
04

%
 (0

.4
5)

Ar
te

m
is 

Bi
ot

ec
h 

Li
m

ite
d

-0
.0

1%
 (0

.8
2)

0.
47

%
 (5

.0
6)

0.
00

%
 - 

0.
47

%
 (5

.0
6)

fo
re

ig
n

Ca
rp

o 
M

ed
ic

al
 L

im
ite

d
-0

.5
3%

 (8
3.

02
)

1.
69

%
 (1

8.
20

)
58

.7
6%

 (2
.7

7)
1.

94
%

 (2
0.

97
)

N
on

-c
on

tr
ol

lin
g 

In
te

re
st

s i
n 

al
l 

su
bs

id
ia

rie
s

-0
.0

1%
 (1

.7
5)

0.
17

%
 (1

.8
2)

5.
77

%
 (0

.2
7)

0.
19

%
 (2

.0
9)

As
so

ci
at

es
 (I

nv
es

tm
en

t a
s p

er
 th

e 
eq

ui
ty

 m
et

ho
d)

In
di

an
Lo

ng
 Is

la
nd

 N
ut

rio
na

ls 
Pr

iv
at

e 
Li

m
ite

d
0.

00
%

-
0.

00
%

-
0.

00
%

 - 
0.

00
%

 - 
Gu

ja
ra

t T
he

m
is 

Bi
os

yn
 L

im
ite

d
5.

63
%

 8
89

.7
8 

-1
3.

81
%

 1
48

.6
2 

-0
.6

1%
 0

.0
3 

-1
3.

76
%

 1
48

.6
5 

Jo
in

t V
en

tu
re

s (
in

ve
st

m
en

t a
s p

er
 th

e 
eq

ui
ty

 m
et

ho
d)

In
di

an
Ri

ch
te

r T
he

m
is 

M
ed

ic
ar

e 
(In

di
a)

 P
riv

at
e 

Li
m

ite
d

11
.0

7%
 1

,7
49

.1
0 

-7
.2

7%
 7

8.
18

 
0.

00
%

 - 
-7

.2
3%

 7
8.

18
 

To
ta

l E
lim

in
ati

on
/ 

co
ns

ol
id

ati
on

 
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
-0

.0
5%

 (8
.4

7)
0.

71
%

 (7
.6

3)
-7

4.
20

%
 3

.5
0 

0.
38

%
 (4

.1
3)

To
ta

l
10

0.
00

%
 1

5,
80

7.
27

 
10

0.
00

%
(1

,0
75

.9
8)

10
0.

00
%

 (4
.7

2)
10

0.
00

%
(1

,0
80

.7
0)



2018    2019

110

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
36. ReLATeD PARTy TRANSACTIONS

(i) List of related parties as per the requirements of Ind-AS 24 - Related Party Disclosures
Name of Related Party Country of Incorporation
Associate
Long Island Nutrionals Private Limited India
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited India

Joint Venture
Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited India

Enterprises over which KMPs are able to exercise significant influence
Themis Distributors Private Limited India
Vividh Distributors Private Limited India
Vividh Margi Investments Private Limited India

Key Managerial Personnel
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel (Executive Vice Chairman)
Dr. Sachin D. Patel (Managing Director and CEO)
Jayshree D. Patel
Tushar J. Dalal (Chief Financial Officer)
Sangameshwar Iyer (Company Secretary) 
Humayun Dhanrajgir (Director)
Vijay Gopi Kishan Agarwal (Director)
Hoshang Noshirwan Sinor (Director)
Rajneesh Kedarnath Anand (Director)
Hariharan Subramaniam (Director)
Lajos Kovacs (Director)
Gulasci Mihaly Gabor (Director)

Relatives of Key Managerial Personnel
Meena A. Patel
Hemlata B. Patel
Reena S. Patel
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
(ii) Transactions with related parties (` in Lakhs)
Name Nature of Transaction March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Vividh Distributors Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  794.83  1,070.86 
Freight and other Expenses  1.67  2.37 
Electricity Charges  -    -   
Telephone Charges  -    -   

Themis Distributors Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  1,004.77  2,028.32 
Freight and other Expenses  0.38  0.19 
Electricity Charges  -    0.18 
Telephone Charges  -    0.07 

Vividh Margi Investments Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  485.08  892.49 
Freight and other Expenses  1.08  1.38 
Electricity Charges  3.96  3.10 
Telephone Charges  0.02  0.13 

Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  -    5.55 
Purchase of goods  111.82  191.87 
Dividend Income  150.92  150.92 

Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  114.44  219.37 
Purchase of goods  131.35  230.21 

Long Island Nutrionals Private Limited Purchase of goods  -    47.16 

Dr. Dinesh S. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -    13.11 

Dr. Sachin D. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -    6.01 

Mrs. Jayashree D. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -    25.04 
Remuneration paid -  45.39 

Mrs. Meena A. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -    0.64 

Mrs Hemlata B. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -    0.69 

(iii) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods (` in Lakhs)
Name March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Trade Receivables
Vividh Distributors Private Limited  300.44  456.26 
Themis Distributors Private Limited  437.37  1,025.34 
Vividh Margi Investments Private Limited  78.83  279.65 
Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited  38.09  37.99 
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited  85.54  80.78 
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
(iv) Key management personnel compensation (` in Lakhs)

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Short term employee benefits  235.43  171.27 
Post-employment benefits  -    -   
Long term employee benefits*  -    -   
Directors sitting fees  12.00  17.60 
Employee share based payment  -    1.40 

Total  247.43  190.27 

* The amounts of Long term employee benefits cannot be seperately identified from the composite amount advised by 
the actuary/valuer.

(v) Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. The 
Company has issued financial guarantees to the lender on behalf of its associate Company amounted to INR 250.00 Lakhs 
(March 31, 2018 : INR 250.00 Lakhs). For the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company has not recorded any impairment 
of receivables relating to amount owed by related parties (March 31, 2018: NIL). This assessment is undertaken each 
financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and market in which the related party operates.

37. SeGMeNT RePORTING
The company primarily operates in one business segment only i.e. Pharmaceuticals, which is the only reportable segment. 
There is no other segment which requires reporting as per Ind AS 108 "Operating Segments.

Information about geographical areas
Revenue from external customers
The Holding company is domiciled in India. The amount of its revenue from external customers broken down by location 
of the customers is shown in the table below:

(` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

India  11,582.68  16,862.86 
Outside India  6,674.95  4,218.29 

Total  18,257.63  21,081.15 

Revenue arising from sale of products to one customer amounted to INR 2,005.32 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: two customers 
amounted to INR 2,374.16 Lakhs and 2,115.96 Lakhs), exceeds 10% of revenue from operations of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
38. fAIR VALue MeASuReMeNTS
i. financial Instruments by Category (` in Lakhs)

Particulars Carrying Amount fair Value
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

fINANCIAL ASSeTS
Amortised cost
Investments in Government Securities  0.58  0.58  0.58  0.58 
Trade Receivables  7,290.73  6,862.74  7,290.73  6,862.74 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  175.47  449.34  175.47  449.34 
Security Deposits  330.33  317.13  330.33  317.13 
Other Bank Balances  169.61  242.12  169.61  242.12 
Other Financial Assets  102.50  101.74  102.50  101.74 

fVTPL
Investment in Equity Instruments  14.30  15.51  14.30  15.51 
Investments in Bonds  10.00  10.00  10.00  10.00 

Total  8,093.52  7,999.16  8,093.52  7,999.16 

fINANCIAL LIABILITIeS
Amortised cost
Borrowings  8,180.29  7,999.94  8,180.29  7,999.94 
Trade Payables  3,504.01  3,055.14  3,504.01  3,055.14 
Other financial liabilities  3,603.26  2,285.15  3,603.26  2,285.15 

Total  15,287.56  13,340.23  15,287.56  13,340.23 

The management assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalent, trade receivables, trade payables and 
other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short term 
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of non current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using  a current borrowing rate. 
They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs, 
including own credit risk.

ii. fair Value Hierarchy
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 
instruments that are recognised and measure at fair value. To provide an indication about the reliability of 
the inputs used in determing fair value, the company has classified its financial instruments into three levels 
prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows underneath the table:
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the year ended 31st March, 2019
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value - recurring fair value measurement: (` in Lakhs)

Particulars

March 31, 2019

Total

March 31, 2018

Total

fair value measurement using fair value measurement using
Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3)

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

financial Assets
Investment in Equity 
Instruments

 12.07  -    2.23  14.30  13.27  -    2.23  15.50 

Investments in Bonds 
and Debentures

 -    -    10.00  10.00  -    -    10.00  10.00 

Total Assets  12.07  -    12.23  24.30  13.27  -    12.23  25.50 

There have been no transfers among Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the period
Level 1 - Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed 
equity instruments, mutual funds that have quoted price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are 
traded in the stock exchanges is valued using the closing price as at the reporting period. The mutual funds are 
valued using the closing NAV.
Level 2 - The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is 
included in level 2.
Level 3 - If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3. 
iii. Valuation technique used to determine fair value

Specific Valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
- the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments
- the fair value of the remaining financial instruments is determined using discounted cash flow analysis
The fair value of unquoted equity instruments and unquoted bonds is not significantly different from their 
carrying value and hence the management has considered their carrying amount as fair value.

iv. Valuation processes
The finance department of the company includes a team that performs the valuations of financial assets and 
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. This team reports directly to 
the chief financial officer (CFO) and the audit committee (AC). Discussions of valuation processes and results 
are held between the CFO, AC and the valuation team at least once every three months, in line with the 
company's quarterly reporting periods.



2018   2019

115

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
39. fINANCIAL RISK MANAGeMeNT
The Company's activity exposes it to market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. Company's overall risk management 
focuses on the unpredictibility of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the company. This note explains the sources of risk which the entity is exposed to and 
how the company manages the risk.
(A) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations leading to a financial loss. Credit risk 
arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial assets carried at amortised cost and deposits with banks 
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers including outstanding receivables.
i. Credit risk management
Credit risk has always been managed by the company through credit approvals, establishing credit limits 
and continuously monitoring the creditworthiness of customers to which the company grants credit terms 
in the normal course of business.
The company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess 
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the company compares the risk of a default occurring 
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers 
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
In general, it is presumed that credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition if the payments 
are more than 30 days past due.
A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty  fails to make contractual payments of when they 
fall due. This definition of default is determined by considering the business environment in which entity 
operates and other macro-economic factors.
ii. Provision for expected credit losses

The company follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of loss allowance on Trade receivables
As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance 
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default 
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At 
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

iii. Reconciliation of loss allowance provision - Trade receivables
(` in Lakhs)

Particulars
Loss allowance on April 1, 2017  1,659.09 
Changes in loss allowance  (48.31)
Loss allowance on March 31,2018  1,610.78 
Changes in loss allowance  88.37 
Loss allowance on March 31, 2019  1,699.15 
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the year ended 31st March, 2019
(B) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. The Company consistently generated sufficient cash flows from 
operations to meet its financial obligations. Also, the Company has unutilized credit limits with banks.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the company's liquidity position (comprising the undrawn 
borrowing facilities) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. In addition, the 
company’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid 
assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external 
regulatory requirements.
Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay. In the table below, borrowings include both 
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest rates are floating rate, the undiscounted amount 
is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period.

(` in Lakhs)
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities Contractual cash flows
Particulars Carrying Amount Total Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years
March 31, 2019
Borrowings  8,180.29  8,913.07  8,036.82  876.25  -   
Trade payables  3,504.01  3,504.01  3,504.01  -    -   
Other financial liabilities  3,603.26  3,603.26  3,603.26  -    -   
Total financial liabilities  15,287.56  16,020.34  15,144.09  876.25  -   

March 31, 2018
Borrowings  7,999.94  8,832.71  7,589.01  1,243.70  -   
Trade payables  3,055.14  3,055.14  3,055.14  -    -   
Other financial liabilities  2,285.15  2,285.15  2,285.15  -    -   
Total financial liabilities  13,340.23  14,173.00  12,929.30  1,243.70  -   

(C) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of change in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk 
and other price risk such as commodity risk.

(i) foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk of impact related to fair value or future cash flows of an exposure in 
foreign currency, which fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to 
the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the external commercial borrowings 
and export receivables.
The Company evaluates exchange rate exposure arising from foreign currency transactions and follows 
established risk management policies and standard operating procedures to mitigate the risks.
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(a) The company exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period expressed in INR lakhs, 
are as follows

(` in Lakhs)
uSD euRO AuD Total

March 31, 2019
Trade Receivables  1,519.78  219.92  -    1,739.69 
Trade Payable  (264.64)  -    (13.16)  (277.80)
Foreign Currency Borrowings  (1,474.04)  -    -    (1,474.04)
Other receivables  -    -    -    -   
Net exposure to foreign currency risk  (218.90)  219.92  (13.16)  (12.15)

March 31, 2018
Trade Receivables  890.20  40.43  -    930.63 
Trade Payable  (295.33)  (0.57)  (19.72)  (315.62)
Foreign Currency Borrowings  (1,663.32)  -    -    (1,663.32)
Other receivables  -    -    -    -   
Net exposure to foreign currency risk  (1,068.45)  39.86  (19.72)  (1,048.31)

(b) Foreign currency sensitivity
1% increase or decrease in foreign exchange rates will have the following impact on profit before tax:

2018-19 2017-18
1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease

USD  (2.19)  2.19  (10.68)  10.68 
EURO  2.20  (2.20)  0.40  (0.40)
AUD  (0.13)  0.13  (0.20)  0.20 
Net Increase/(decrease) in profit or loss  (0.12)  0.12  (10.48)  10.48 

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which 
expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. Company policy is to maintain most of its borrowings 
at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary. During March 31, 2019 and March 
31, 2018 , the company’s borrowings at variable rate were mainly denominated in USD.
The company’s fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. They are therefore not subject to 
interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows 
will fluctuate because of a change in market.

(a) Interest rate risk exposure
The exposure of the company’s borrowing to interest rate changes at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Variable rate borrowings  1,474.04  1,409.22 
Fixed rate borrowings  6,706.25  6,590.73 
Total borrowings  8,180.29  7,999.94 
% of borrowings at variable rate 18% 18%
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(b) Sensitivity
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings as a result of changes in 
interest rates.

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Impact on profit before tax

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Interest rates - increase by 50 basis points*  7.37  7.05 
Interest rates - decrease by 50 basis points*  (7.37)  (7.05)
*holding all other variables constant.

(iii) Commodity Price risk
The Group's operating activities involve purchase and sale of Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (API), 
whose perices are exposed to the risk of fluctuation over short periods of time. Commodity price risk 
exposure is evaluated  and  managed through procurment and other related operating policies. As 
of March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018  the Company had not entered into any material derivative 
contracts to hedge exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices.

40. CAPITAL MANAGeMeNT
For the purpose of the company's capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, share premium 
and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the 
Company's capital management is to maximise the shareholder value.
The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company 
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The 
company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The 
company includes within debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and 
cash equivalents.

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Borrowings  8,180.29  7,999.94 
Trade payables  3,504.01  3,055.14 
Other Financial Liabilities  3,603.26  2,285.15 
Less: cash and cash equivalents  (175.47)  (449.34)
Less: Other Bank Balance  (169.61)  (242.12)
Net Debt  14,942.48  12,648.77 
Equity Share capital  918.09  918.09 
Other Equity  14,889.18  15,966.19 
Total Capital  15,807.27  16,884.28 
Capital and net debt  30,749.75  29,533.05 
Gearing ratio  48.59  42.83 
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41. ASSeTS GIVeN AS COLLATeRAL SeCuRITy AGAINST BORROWINGS
The carrying amount of assets given as collateral security for current and non current borrowings are: (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
CuRReNT ASSeTS
Trade Receivables  7,290.73  6,862.74 
Inventories  5,363.49  4,957.53 
Total current assets  12,654.22  11,820.27 

NON CuRReNT ASSeTS
Property, plant and equipment  12,176.17  12,404.17 
Total non current assets  12,176.17  12,404.17 

42.  DeTAILS Of DueS TO MICRO AND SMALL eNTeRPRISeS AS DefINeD 
uNDeR MICRO, SMALL AND MeDIuM eNTeRPRISeS DeVeLOPMeNT 
ACT, 2006 (MSMeD ACT, 2006) (` in Lakhs)

Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Principal amount due to suppliers under MSMED Act, 2006*  28.98  122.69 
Interest accrued and due to suppliers under MSMED Act, on the above amount  -  - 
Payment made to suppliers ( other than interest ) beyond the appointed day, 
during the year

 -  - 

Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act, ( other than Section 16 )  -  - 
Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act, ( Section 16 )  -  - 
Interest due and payable to suppliers under MSMED Act, for payment already 
made

 -  - 

Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the year to suppliers under 
MSMED Act, 2006

 -  - 

*Amount includes due and unpaid of INR 28.98 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 122.69 Lakhs)

The information has been given in respect of such vendors to the extent they could be identified as "Micro and Small" 
enterprises on the basis of information available with the Company.

43. DefeRRAL/CAPITALISATION Of eXCHANGe DIffeReNCeS
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has issued the amendment dated December 29, 2011 to AS 11 "The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates", to allow companies deferral/capitalization of exchange differences arising on long-
term foreign currency monetary items. In accordance with the amendment/earlier amendment to AS 11, the Company 
has capitalised exchange loss, 'arising on long-term foreign currency loan to the cost of plant and equipments.

Accordingly foreign exchange gain/(loss) adjusted against: (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Cost of the assets / Capital work in progress  71.59  4.46 
Amortised in the current year  24.80  14.50 

44.  DISCLOSuReS ReQuIReD uNDeR SeCTION 186(4) Of THe COMPANIeS ACT, 2013
Name of the Party Nature Purpose March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited - 
Associate

Corporate 
Guarantee

Borrowings  250.00  250.00 
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45. STANDARDS ISSueD BuT NOT yeT effeCTIVe
The amendment to standard issued up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements, but not 
yet effective as of the date of the Company’s financial statements is disclosed below. The Company intends to 
adopt the amendment to standard when it becomes effective.

Amendment to Ind AS 12, Income taxes:

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued amendments to the guidance in Ind AS 12, Income 
Taxes, in connection with accounting for dividend distribution taxes.

The amendment clarifies that an entity shall recognize the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or 
loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognized those past 
transactions or events.

 Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 1, 2019. The 
Company is currently evaluating the effect of this amendment on the standalone financial statements.

Ind AS 12, Appendix C, uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments:

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS 12, Appendix C, Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments which is to be applied while performing the determination of taxable profit (or loss), tax 
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments 
under Ind AS 12. According to the appendix, companies need to determine the probability of the relevant tax 
authority accepting each tax treatment, or group of tax treatments, that the companies have used or plan to 
use in their income tax filing which has to be considered to compute the most likely amount or the expected 
value of the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 
credits and tax rates.

 The standard permits two possible methods of transition:

• Full retrospective approach – Under this approach, Appendix C will be applied retrospectively to each 
prior reporting period presented in accordance with Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors, without using hindsight, and

• Retrospectively with cumulative effect of initially applying Appendix C recognized by adjusting equity on 
initial application, without adjusting comparatives. 

The effective date for adoption of Ind AS 12 Appendix C is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2019. 
The Company will adopt the standard on April 1, 2019 and has decided to adjust the cumulative effect in 
equity on the date of initial application i.e. April 1, 2019 without adjusting comparatives. 

The effect on adoption of Ind AS 12 Appendix C would be insignificant in the standalone financial statements.

Amendment to Ind AS 19, plan amendment, curtailment or settlement: 

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued amendments to Ind AS 19, Employee Benefits, 
in connection with accounting for plan amendments, curtailments and settlements.

Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019
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Notes to Consolidated financial Statements for  
the year ended 31st March, 2019

Significant Accounting Policies and Notes  
forming Part of the financial Statements. 1 to 45 

As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019

The amendments require an entity:

• To use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the 
period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and 

• To recognize in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction in a 
surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognized because of the impact of the asset ceiling. 

Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 1, 2019. The 
Company does not have any impact on account of this amendment

Ind AS 116, Leases:

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS 116, Leases. Ind AS116 will replace 
the existing leases standard, Ind AS 17,Leases, and related interpretations. The standard sets out the 
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation anddisclosure of leases for both parties to a 
contract i.e., the lessee and the lessor. Ind AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires 
the lessee to recognize assetsand liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. Currently,operating lease expenses are charged to the Statement 
of Profitand Loss. The standard also contains enhanced disclosurerequirements for lessees. Ind AS 116 
substantially carriesforward the lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17.The effective date for the 
adoption of Ind AS 116 is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2019.  The standard permits two 
possible methods of transition:

• Full retrospective – Retrospectively to each prior period presented applying Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

• Modified retrospective – Retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard 
recognized at the date of initial application 

Under modified retrospective approach, the lessee records the lease liability as the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate and the right of use asset either as:

• Its carrying amount as if the standard had been applied since the commencement date, but discounted at 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application, or 

An amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
related to that lease recognized under Ind AS 17 immediately before the date of initial application.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of
Themis Medicare Limited

Report on the Standalone Ind AS financial Statements 
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Themis Medicare Limited (the 
“Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2019, and the Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow 
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid 
standalone financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) in the 
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed 
under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, 
(“Ind AS”) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as 
at March 31, 2019, and its profit, total comprehensive income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
specified under section 143(10) of the Act (SAs). Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ICAI’s Code of 
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion on the standalone financial statements.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key 
audit matters to be communicated in our report.
Key Audit Matters How was the matter addressed in our Audit
Revenue Recognition:
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when control of the 
products being sold is transferred to the customer and when there 
are no longer any unfulfilled obligations. The performance obligations 
in the contracts are fulfilled at the time of dispatch, delivery or upon 
formal customer acceptance depending on customer terms. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, after deduction of any trade discounts, volume rebates 
and any taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government such 
as goods and services tax, etc.
The company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can 
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each 
of the company’s activities as described below. The company bases 
its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the 
type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement.

Our Audit Procedure Included:
We performed substantive testing by selecting 
samples of revenue transactions recorded during 
the year by verifying the underlying documents, 
which included goods dispatch notes and shipping 
documents. 
We inspected, on a sample basis, key customer 
contracts to identify terms and conditions relating 
to goods acceptance and rebates and assessing 
the Company’s revenue recognition policies with 
reference to the requirements of the applicable 
accounting standards. 
We assessed the appropriateness of the revenue 
recognition accounting policies, including those 
relating to rebates and discounts by comparing 
with applicable accounting standards. 
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
• The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 

the information included in the Board’s Report including Annexures to Board’s Report, Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report and Business Responsibility Report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements, standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

• Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

• If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone financial Statements
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect 
to the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of 
the Company in accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. This 
responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 
irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgements and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statement that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the standalone 
financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Standalone financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial 
statements. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that, a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the standalone financial statements or if such disclosures are inadequate to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in 
the standalone financial statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements may be influenced. 
We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements 
in the standalone financial statements. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged 
with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. From the matters 
communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books.

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, the 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow dealt with by this Report are in 
agreement with the relevant books of account.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Ind AS specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2019 taken on 
record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors are disqualified as on March 31, 2019 from being 
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A”. Our 
report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal financial controls over financial reporting.

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended. In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, the remuneration paid by the Company to its directors 
during the year is in accordance with the provisions of section 197 of the Act.
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h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 
of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its standalone 
financial statements.

ii. The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or accounting standards, for 
material foreseeable losses on long-term contracts including derivative contracts.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (the “Order”) issued by the Central Government 
in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure B” a statement on the matters specified in 
paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

For R. P. Sardar & Co.
Chartered accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.-109273W)

Raju P. Sardar
Place: Mumbai (Proprietor)
Date: 28th May, 2019 (Membership No. 037845)
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Annexure “A” to the Independent Auditor’s Report
(Referred to in paragraph 1(f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report 
of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 
143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of THeMIS MeDICARe LIMITeD, (“the 
Company”) as of 31stMarch, 2019 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements of 
the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based 
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting issued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. These responsibilities include the 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively 
for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the 
Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India and The Standards on Auditing prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the 
extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing an devaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system 
over financial reporting.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility 
of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may 
occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us the Company has, 
in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 31st March, 2019, based on 
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the respective Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For R. P. Sardar & Co.

Chartered accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.-109273W)

Raju P. Sardar

Place: Mumbai (Proprietor)

Date: 28th May, 2019 (Membership No. 037845)
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ANNeXuRe “B”
TO THe INDePeNDeNT AuDITOR’S RePORT
(Referred to in paragraph 2 under “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” section of our report 
of even date)
(i) (a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and 

situation of fixed assets.
(b) The Company has a program of verification of fixed assets to cover all the items in a phased manner over 

a period of three years which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company 
and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the program, certain fixed assets were physically verified by the 
Management during the year. According to the information and explanations given to us, no material 
discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(c) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records examined by us and based 
on the examination of conveyance deed and other relevant documents provided to us, we report that, 
the title deeds, comprising all the immovable properties of land and buildings which are freehold, are 
held in the name of the Company as at the balance sheet date, except the following:- 

Particulars of the land 
and building

Carrying amount as at the 
balance sheet date at cost

Remarks (for exception)

Office Premises – 
Mumbai Admeasuring 
about 13770 sq. ft.

Rs. 91,00,000/- The title deeds are in the name of Indo French Timestar 
Company Ltd., erstwhile Company from which asset 
purchased in earlier year.

Training Centre Premises 
– Mumbai Admeasuring 
about 3000 sq. ft.

Rs. 1,06,35,000/- The title deeds are in the name of Indo French Timestar 
Company Ltd., erstwhile Company from which asset 
purchased in earlier year.

In respect of immovable properties of land that have been taken on lease and disclosed as fixed asset 
in the financial statements, the lease agreements are in the name of the Company, where the Company 
is the lessee in the agreement.

(ii) As explained to us, inventories were physically verified during the year by the management at reasonable 
intervals and no material discrepancies were noticed on physical verification.

(iii) (a) The Company has granted loan to a party covered in the register maintained under Section 189 of the 
Companies Act, 2013. In our opinion and according to the information and explanation provided to us, 
the terms and conditions of the grant of such loan are prima facie not prejudicial to the Company’s 
interest.

(b) The schedule of repayment of principal and payment of interest has been stipulated for the loan granted 
and the repayment / receipt is regular.

(c) The Principal and interest are not overdue in respect of loans granted to Company, firms or other parties 
listed in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 which are overdue for 
more than ninety days.

(iv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has complied 
with the provisions of Sections 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of grant of loans, providing 
guarantees and securities, as applicable. The provisions of section 186 of the Act in respect of Investments 
have been complied with by the Company.

(v) According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not accepted any deposits and 
hence reporting under clause (V) of the Order is not applicable.

(vi) The maintenance of cost records has been specified by the Central Government under Section 148(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. We have broadly reviewed the cost records maintained by the Company pursuant to 
the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, as amended, prescribed by the Central Government 
under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, and are of the opinion that, prima facie, 
the prescribed cost records have been made and maintained. We have, however, not made a detailed 
examination of the cost records with a view to determine whether they are accurate or complete.
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(vii) According to the information and explanations given to us, in respect of statutory dues:
(a) The Company has generally been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues, including Provident 

Fund, Income-tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Customs Duty, Excise Duty, Value added Tax, Goods and Services 
Tax, cess and other material statutory dues applicable to it, to the appropriate authorities.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the records of the company 
examined by us, the particulars of dues of Sales Tax & Income Tax as at 31st March, 2019 which have not 
been deposited on account of a dispute are as follows :-

Nature of the 
Statute

Nature of 
Dues

Rs. In 
Lacs

Period to which it relates forum where dispute is 
pending

Sales Tax Act/ 
VAT Act

Sales Tax / 
VAT 

17.60 Various demands for 1987–88 to 
1995-96, 1998-99 and 2011-12.

Various appellate stages in 
Sales Tax Dept.

Income Tax Act Penalty 29.47 Assessment Year 2009-10 CIT Appeals, (Valsad)
(viii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has not 

defaulted in the repayment of loans or borrowings to banks. The Company has not borrowed any money 
from financial institutions and government. The Company has not issued any debentures.

(ix) In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us, the Company did not raise 
moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including debt instruments) or Term Loans and 
hence reporting under clause (ix) of the CARO 2016 Order is not applicable.

(x) To the best of our knowledge and according to the information and explanations given to us, no fraud by the 
Company and no fraud on the Company by its officers or employees has been noticed or reported during 
the year.

(xi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has paid / 
provided managerial remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions 
of Section 197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013. 

(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company and hence reporting under clause (xii) of the CARO 2016 Order is not 
applicable.

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is in compliance 
with Sections 177 and 188 of the Companies Act 2013, where applicable, for all transactions with the 
related parties and the details of related party transactions have been disclosed in the standalone financial 
statements etc. as required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv) During the year, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or 
fully or partly convertible debentures and hence reporting under clause (xiv) of CARO 2016 is not applicable 
to the Company.

(xv) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, during the year, the Company 
has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors, or directors of its holding, Joint Venture 
Company or persons connected with them and hence provisions of Section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 
are not applicable.

(xvi) The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

For R. P. Sardar & Co.
Chartered accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.-109273W)

Raju P. Sardar
Place: Mumbai (Proprietor)
Date: 28th May, 2019 (Membership No. 037845)
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Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2019

As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Notes March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
ASSeTS 
Non-Current Assets 
(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 4  12,176.04  12,402.88 
(b) Capital Work-in-Progress 4  245.49  247.00 
(c) Intangible Assets 5  164.40  186.24 
(d) Financial Assets 

(i) Investments 6  1,102.40  1,101.11 
(ii) Other Financial Assets 6  25.79  25.02 

(e) Deferred Tax Asset (Net) 12  663.74  477.86 
(f) Other Non-Current Assets 11  485.29  441.50 

 14,863.15  14,881.61 
Current assets 
(a) Inventories 7  5,335.27  4,957.53 
(b) Financial Assets 

(i) Trade Receivables 8  7,326.09  6,862.74 
(ii) Cash and Cash Equivalents 9  172.86  448.23 
(iii) Bank Balances Other than (ii) above 10  169.61  242.12 
(iv) Other Financial Assets 6  407.04  393.84 

(c) Other Current Assets 11  1,659.42  1,457.30 
 15,070.29  14,361.76 

Total  29,933.44  29,243.37 

eQuITy AND LIABILITIeS 
Equity 
(a) Equity Share capital 13  918.09  918.09 
(b) Other Equity 14  13,415.61  14,684.92 

 14,333.70  15,603.01 
Liabilities 
Non Current Liabilities 
(a) Financial Liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 15  935.10  1,149.72 
(b) Provisions 19  -    -   

 935.10  1,149.72 
Current Liabilities 
(a) Financial Liabilities

(i) Borrowings 15  6,685.50  6,373.50 
(ii) Trade Payables 17
 Total outstanding dues of Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  28.98  122.69 
 Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises 
 3,472.93  2,931.75 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 16  4,162.95  2,761.35 
(b) Other Current Liabilities 18  207.50  211.73 
(c) Provisions 19  106.78  89.62 

 14,664.64  12,490.64 
Total  29,933.44  29,243.37 

Significant Accounting Policies and  
Notes forming Part of the financial Statements

1 to 43
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As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended  
31st March, 2019

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Notes  2018-19  2017-18 

ReVeNue
Revenue from operations (net) 20  18,410.82  21,170.67 
Other income 21  269.22  303.53 
Total Revenue (I)  18,680.04  21,474.20 
eXPeNSeS
Cost of materials consumed 22  4,923.25  5,326.79 
Purchases of stock-in-trade 23  1,957.58  1,988.47 
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-process and Stock-in-Trade 24  (21.94)  (148.89)
Excise duty  -    220.34 
Employee benefits expense 25  4,564.42  4,461.76 
Finance costs 26  1,182.08  1,186.68 
Depreciation and amortization expense 27  797.72  740.93 
Other expenses 28  6,730.27  6,758.45 
Total expenses (II)  20,133.38  20,534.53 
Profit / (Loss) before exceptional items and tax (I-II)  (1,453.34)  939.67 
Exceptional Items  -    -   
Profit / (Loss) before tax  (1,453.34)  939.67 
Tax expense:
Current tax  -    -   
Deferred tax  (183.74)  10.18 
Profit / (Loss) for the period  (1,269.60)  929.49 
OTHeR COMPReHeNSIVe INCOMe
A. Other Comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit and loss 

in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement of gains (losses) on defined benefit plans  (7.34)  (22.87)
Income tax effect  2.14  7.92 

B. Other Comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit and loss in 
subsequent periods:

 -  - 

Other Comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (5.20)  (14.95)
TOTAL COMPReHeNSIVe INCOMe fOR THe PeRIOD, NeT Of TAX  (1,274.80)  914.54 
Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity shareholders 30
Basic EPS  (13.83)  10.12 
Diluted EPS  (13.83)  10.10 

Significant Accounting Policies and  
Notes forming Part of the financial Statements

1 to 43
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Cash flow Statement for the year ended 31st March 2019
(` in Lakhs)

Particulars  2018-19  2017-18 
CASH fLOWS fROM OPeRATING ACTIVITIeS:
Profit before tax  (1,453.34)  939.67 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense  797.72  740.93 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  6.45  -   
Employee share-based payment expense  5.49  20.68 
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  1.20  8.24 
Fair valuation of financial guarantee  (2.50)  (2.50)
Dividend and interest income classified as investing cash flows  (175.35)  (207.08)
Finance costs  1,182.08  1,186.68 
Reversal of loss allowance on financial assets  88.37  (48.31)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables  (551.72)  (1,989.76)
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories  (377.74)  (113.44)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  447.48  (108.90)
(Increase)/decrease in other financial assets  (13.96)  (38.58)
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (224.01)  (10.66)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  9.82  (28.60)
(Increase)/Decrease in Other bank balance  72.52  41.53 
Increase/(decrease) in other financial liabilties  1,318.62  233.14 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  (4.23)  100.39 
Cash generated from operations  1,126.90  723.43 
Less: (Income taxes paid)/ refund received (Net)  (29.77)  64.62 
Net cash inflow from operating activities  1,097.13  788.05 
CASH fLOWS fROM INVeSTING ACTIVITIeS:
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (561.84)  (958.63)
Proceeds from sale of investments (Payments for investments)(Net)  -    95.63 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  7.85  647.87 
Dividends received  150.92  157.24 
Interest received  24.43  50.63 
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (378.64)  (7.26)
CASH fLOWS fROM fINANCING ACTIVITIeS:
Proceeds from issues of equity shares  -    510.14 
Proceeds from current borrowings (Net)  312.00  1,028.09 
Repayment of non Current borrowings  (264.23)  (1,341.79)
Money received against ESOP/share warrants  0.00  0.00 
Interest paid  (1,041.63)  (1,107.19)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities  (993.86)  (910.75)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (275.37)  (129.96)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  448.23  578.19 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the year  172.86  448.23 
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per the cash flow statement:
Cash and cash equivalents as per above comprise of the following:
Balances with banks on current accounts  165.16  441.55 
Cash on hand  7.70  6.68 
Balances as per statement of cash flows  172.86  448.23 

Significant Accounting Policies and  
Notes forming Part of the financial Statements

1 to 43

As per our report of even date attached
for R. P. Sardar & Co. for and on behalf of the Board
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 109273W Sangameshwar Iyer Hoshang Sinor
 Company Sectretary Chairman
Raju P. Sardar (Membership No.: ACS 6818) (DIN: 00074905)
Proprietor
Membership No: 037845 Tushar J. Dalal Dr. Sachin Patel
 Chief Financial Officer Managing Director & CEO
Place: Mumbai  (DIN: 00033353)
Date: May 28, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
1 Corporate Information

These statements comprise financial statements of Themis Medicare limited (CIN: L24110GJ1969PLC001590) 
('the company') for the year ended March 31, 2019. The company is a public company domiciled in India 
and is incorporated on May 31, 1969 under the provisions of the Companies Act applicable in India. Its 
shares are listed on two recognised stock exchanges in India. The registered office of the company is located 
at Plot No 69A, G.I.D.C Industrial Estate, Vapi district Valsad, Gujarat -396 195.
The Company is principally engaged in the activities pertaining to manufacturing of pharmaceutical products, 
especially in Formulation and API activity.
The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on May 
28, 2019.

2 Significant Accounting Policies
2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the company have been prepared and presented in accordance with Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 
as amended by the Companies(Indian Accounting Standards)(Amendment) Rules, 2016 and the relevant 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 "(the Act)".
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following assets and 
liabilities which have been measured at fair value or revalued amount:
- Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or at amortised cost depending on the 

classification(refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments),
- Employee defined benefit assets/(obligations) are recognised as the net total of the fair value of plan 

assets, plus actuarial losses, less actuarial gains and the present value of the defined benefit obligations, 
and

- Long term borrowings, except obligations under finance leases, are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

Accounting policies have been consistently applied except where a newly issued accounting standard is 
initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting policy 
hitherto in use.

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Freehold land are stated at cost. The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing 
costs if capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working 
condition for the intended use. Any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the purchase price.
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total 
cost of the item is depreciated separately. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required 
to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based on their specific useful 
lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of 
the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value 
only if it increases the future benefits from its previously assessed standard of performance. All other 
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019

expenses on existing property, plant and equipment, including day-to-day repair and maintenance 
expenditure and cost of replacing parts, are charged to the statement of profit and loss for the period 
during which such expenses are incurred.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition of property, plant and equipment which take 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent they relate to 
the period till such assets are ready to be put to use.
Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each balance 
sheet date is classified as capital advances under other non-current assets.
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is de-recognized 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 
or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit and loss when the 
Property, plant and equipment is de-recognized.
Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalized. Indirect expenditure incurred 
during construction period is capitalized to the extent to which the expenditure is indirectly related to 
construction or is incidental thereto. Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing costs) incurred 
during the construction period which is neither related to the construction activity nor is incidental 
thereto is charged to the statement of profit and loss.
Costs of assets not ready for use at the balance sheet date are disclosed under capital work- in- progress.
Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value
Depreciation is calculated on straight line basis using the useful lives estimated by the management, 
which are equal to those prescribed under Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013. If the management's 
estimate of the useful life of a item of property, plant and equipment at the time of acquisition or the 
remaining useful life on a subsequent review is shorter than the envisaged in the aforesaid schedule, 
depreciation is provided at a higher rate based on the management's estimate of the useful life/ 
remaining useful life.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful 
life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty 
that the company will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. Leasehold land is amortised on a 
straight line basis over the balance period of lease.
The residual values are not more than 5% of the original cost of the asset.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

(b) Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company are measured initially at cost. After initial recognition, 
an intangible asset is carried at its cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment 
loss.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits from the 
specific asset to which it relates. An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use and disposal.
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019

Losses arising from retirement and gains or losses arising from disposal of an intangible asset are 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.
Amortisation methods and periods
Intangible assets comprising of trade marks are amortized on a straight line basis over the useful life of 
ten years which is estimated by the management.
The estimated useful lives of intangible assets and the amortisation period are reviewed at the end of 
each financial year and the amortisation method is revised to reflect the changed pattern, if any.

(c) Research and development
Revenue expenditure pertaining to research is charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss. Development 
costs of products are also charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year it is incurred, unless a 
product’s technological feasibility has been established, in which case such expenditure is capitalised. 
These costs are charged to the respective heads in the Statement of Profit and Loss in the year it is 
incurred. The amount capitalised comprises of expenditure that can be directly attributed or allocated 
on a reasonable and consistent basis for creating, producing and making the asset ready for its intended 
use. Fixed assets utilised for research and development are capitalised and depreciated in accordance 
with the policies stated for Tangible Fixed Assets and Intangible Assets.

(d) Impairment of non financial assets
The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable 
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are 
taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. After impairment, depreciation is 
provided on the revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life.
When there is indication that an impairment loss recognised for an asset in earlier accounting periods 
no longer exists or may have decreased, such reversal of impairment loss is recognised in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss, to the extent the amount was previously charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(e) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the entity are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial 
statements are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is entity’s functional and presentation 
currency.
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(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at year end exchange rates are recognised in statement of profit or loss.
Foreign exchange differences regarded as an adjustment to borrowing costs are presented in the 
statement of profit and loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in the statement of profit and loss on a net basis within other gains/(losses).

(f) financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments.
Initial Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and ancillary costs related to 
borrowings) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in Statement 
of Profit and Loss.
Classification and Subsequent Measurement: Financial Assets
The Company classifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income "(FVOCI)" or fair value through profit or loss "(FVTPL)" on the basis of 
following:
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
(i) Amortised Cost

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions 
are met:
- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
(ii) fair Value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at fair value through OCI if both of the following 
conditions are met:
- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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(iii) Fair Value through Profit or Loss
A financial asset shall be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI.
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost 
or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Classification and Subsequent Measurement: Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or ‘other financial liabilities’.

(i) Financial Liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is held for trading or are 
designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Gains or Losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(ii) Other Financial Liabilities:
Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end 
of each reporting period. The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on 
financial asset. In case of trade receivables, the Company follows the simplified approach permitted 
by Ind AS 109 – Financial Instruments for recognition of impairment loss allowance. The application 
of simplified approach does not require the Company to track changes in credit risk. The Company 
calculates the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a provision matrix on the basis of its 
historical credit loss experience.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Company 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised 
in profit or loss if such gain or loss would have otherwise been recognised in profit or loss on disposal 
of that financial asset.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 
of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement 
of profit or loss.
Equity investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are carried at cost. Impairment recognized, 
if any, is reduced from the carrying value.
Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance 
sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried 
as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is 
negative.

(g) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received.

(h) Convertible financial instrument
Convertible instruments are separated into liability and equity components based on the terms of the 
contract.
On issuance of the convertible instruments, the fair value of the liability component is determined 
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is classified as a financial 
liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction costs) until it is extinguished on conversion or 
redemption.
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in 
equity since conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification. Transaction costs 
are deducted from equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying amount of the conversion option 
is not remeasured in subsequent years.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible 
instrument based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the 
instruments are initially recognised.
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(i) Taxes
(i) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the company 
operates and generates taxable income.
Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in 
correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is recognized using the balance sheet approach, deferred tax is recognized on 
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, except when the deferred income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the  deferred income tax asset to be utilized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority.

(iii) Minimum alternate Tax
MAT payable for a year is charged to the statement of profit and loss as current tax. The Company 
recognizes MAT credit available in the statement of profit and loss as deferred tax with a corresponding 
asset only to the extent that there is probability that the Company will pay normal income tax during 
the specified period, i.e., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to be carried forward. The said 
asset is shown as ‘MAT Credit Entitlement’ under Deferred Tax. The Company reviews the same at 
each reporting date and writes down the asset to the extent the Company does not have probable 
certainty that it will pay normal tax during the specified period.

(j) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:
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Raw materials: cost includes cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.
finished goods and work in progress: cost includes cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion 
ofmanufacturing overheads based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs. 
Cost isdetermined on weighted average basis.
Traded goods: cost includes cost of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. Cost is determined on weighted average basis.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The net realizable value of work-in-
progress is determined with reference to the selling prices of related finished products. Raw materials 
and other supplies held for use in production of finished products are not written down below cost 
except in cases where material prices have declined and it is estimated that the cost of the finished 
products will exceed their net realizable value.

(k) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed 
as revenue are inclusive of excise duty and net of returns, trade allowances, rebates, value added taxes 
and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The company recognises revenue when the amount of 
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the company’s activities as described below. The company 
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of 
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
Effective April 1, 2018, the Company adopted Ind AS 115,Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using 
the cumulative catch-up transition method, applied to contracts that werenot completed as of April 1, 
2018. In accordance with the cumulative catch-up transition method, the comparatives have not been 
retrospectively adjusted
Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an 
amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for those products or services.
Recognising revenue from major business activities
(i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of thegoods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. Revenue from the sale of 
goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and 
allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.

(ii) Interest income
For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR).

(iii) Dividend income
Revenue is recognised when the company’s right to receive the payment is established, which is 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend.
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(l) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and 
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are 
presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations
The liabilities for earned leave and sick leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. They are therefore 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. 
The benefits are discounted using the market yields at the end of the reporting period that have 
terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, 
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

(iii) Post-employment obligations
The company operates the following post-employment schemes:
(a) defined benefit plans viz gratuity,
(b) defined contribution plans viz provident fund.
Gratuity obligations
The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair 
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government 
bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit expense 
in the statement of profit and loss.
Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive 
income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the 
balance sheet.
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or 
curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service cost.
Defined contribution plans
The company pays provident fund contributions to publicly administered provident funds as per local 
regulations. The company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
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paid. The contributions are accounted for as defined contribution plans and the contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.  Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the company before the 
normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits.

(v) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Employee Option Plan
Employee options
The fair value of options granted under the Employee Option Plan is recognised as an employee 
benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is 
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its 
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and 
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or 
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

(m) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfillment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.
(i) As a lessee

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. Leases of property, 
plant and equipment where the company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to 
the company as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are 
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease unless the payments 
are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor’s 
expected inflationary cost increases.

(ii) As a lessor
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
transfer from the Company to the lessee. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 
recorded as receivables at the Company’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income 
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the net 
investment outstanding in respect of the lease.
Lease income from operating leases where the company is a lessor is recognised in income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to increase in line with 
expected general inflation to compensate for the expected inflationary cost increases. The respective 
leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature.

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
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(n) Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably estimated, will be 
required to settle such an obligation.
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows to net present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. Unwinding of the discount is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as a finance cost. 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and are adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
A present obligation that arises from past events where it is either not probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made, is disclosed as 
a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities are also disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising 
from past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non -occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company.
Claims against the Company where the possibility of any outflow of resources in settlement is remote, 
are not disclosed as contingent liabilities.
Contingent assets are not recognised in financial statements since this may result in the recognition of 
income that may never be realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then 
the related asset is not a contingent asset and is recognised.

(o) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that the Company incurs in connection with the borrowing 
of funds and is measured with reference to the effective interest rate (EIR) applicable to the respective 
borrowing. Borrowing costs include interest costs measured at EIR and exchange differences arising 
from foreign currency borrowings to the extent they are regarded as an adjustment to the interest cost.
Borrowing costs, allocated to qualifying assets, pertaining to the period from commencement of 
activities relating to construction / development of the qualifying asset up to the date of capitalisation 
of such asset are added to the cost of the assets. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended and 
charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss during extended periods when active development activity 
on the qualifying assets is interrupted.
All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period which they are incurred.

(p) Segment Reporting - Identification of Segments
An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the 
company’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions for which discrete financial information 
is available. Based on the management approach as defined in Ind AS 108, the chief operating decision 
maker evaluates the Company’s performance and allocates resources based on an analysis of various 
performance indicators by business segments and geographic segments.



2018   2019

145

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019

(q) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:
- the profit attributable to owners of the company
- by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 

bonus elements in equity shares issued during the year
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account:
- the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 

equity
- the weighted average number of additional equity shares that would have been outstanding 

assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.
(r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-
term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral 
part of the Company’s cash management.

(s) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for disposal:
Assets are classified as held for disposal and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.
To classify any Asset as "Asset held for disposal" the asset must be available for immediate sale and its 
sale must be highly probable. Such assets or group of assets are presented separately in the Balance 
Sheet, in the line "Assets held for disposal". Once classified as held for disposal, intangible assets and 
PPE are no longer amortised or depreciated.

(t) Current/non current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. An asset is treated as current when it is:
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period
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All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is current when:
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period
The company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation 
in cash and cash equivalents. The company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

(u) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no 
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed 
at the end of the reporting period.

(v) Rounding of amounts
All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest Lakh 
as per the requirement of Schedule III, unless otherwise stated.

3 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will 
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the company’s 
accounting policies.
This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
and of items which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning 
out to be different than those originally assessed. Detailed information about each of these estimates and 
judgements is included in relevant notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each 
affected line item in the financial statements.
Critical estimates and judgements
The areas involving critical estimates or judgements are:
- Estimation of current tax expense and payable – Note 12
- Estimated fair value of unlisted securities and Debt Instruments – Note 36
- Estimated goodwill impairment – Note 5
- Estimated useful life of intangible asset – Note 5
- Estimation of defined benefit obligation – Note 31
- Estimation of provision for warranty claims – Note 19
- Estimation of fair values of contingent liabilities and contingent purchase consideration in a business 

combination – Note 36
- Recognition of revenue – Note 20
- Recognition of deferred tax assets for carried forward tax losses – Note 12
- Impairment of trade receivables and other financial assets – Note 37

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the company and 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019

Notes:
i. Leased Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment includes the following amounts where the company is a lessee under 
finance lease:

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Land
Cost  2,796.32  2,796.32 
Accumulated Depreciation  (143.70)  (95.80)
Net carrying amount  2,652.62  2,700.52 

Vehicles
Cost  162.26  90.68 
Accumulated Depreciation  (81.40)  (26.29)
Net carrying amount  80.86  64.39 

The lease term in respect of assets acquired under finance lease generally under three to five years. 
Under the terms of the lease, the company has the option to acquire the leased assets for 50% of 
their agreed fair value on expiry of the leases. This option lapses in the event that the company fails to 
maintain its credit rating at the level prevailing at incepton of the lease.

ii. Property, Plant and Equipment pledged as security against borrowings by the company
Refer to Note 39 for information on property, plant and equipment pledge as security by the company.

iii. Deferral/Capitalisation Of Exchange Differences
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has issued the amendment dated December 29, 2011 to AS 
11 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' , to allow companies deferral/capitalization of 
exchange differences arising on long-term foreign currency monetary items. In accordance with the 
amendment/earlier amendment to AS 11 read with Para D13AA of Ind AS 101 'First time adoption of 
Indian Accounting Standard', the Company has capitalised exchange loss, 'arising on long-term foreign 
currency loan to the cost of plant and equipment.

iv. Assets under Construction
Capital work in progress mainly comprises new building and manufacturing unit being constructed in 
India.

v. Contractual Obligations
Refer to Note 33 for disclosure of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment.
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5. INTANGIBLe ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars Trademarks / 

Patent Total

GROSS CARRyING VALue 
As at April 1, 2017  229.92  229.92 
Additions / Deductions  -    -   
As at March 31, 2018  229.92  229.92 
Additions / Deductions  -    -   
As at March 31, 2019  229.92  229.92 

ACCuMuLATeD AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMeNT
As at April 1, 2017  21.84  21.84 
Amortisation for the year  21.84  21.84 
As at March 31, 2018  43.68  43.68 
Amortisation for the year  21.84  21.84 

As at March 31, 2019  65.52  65.52 

Net Carrying value as at March 31, 2019  164.40  164.40 
Net Carrying value as at March 31, 2018  186.24  186.24 

6. fINANCIAL ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
(A) INVeSTMeNTS

Non Current 
(1) Investments carried at fair value through Profit and Loss 

(a) Investments in Equity Instruments 
Quoted
505 (Previous Year 505) Equity shares of Union Bank of India of INR 10 
each fully paid 

 0.48  0.48 

9000 (Previous Year 9000) Equity Shares of Bank of Baroda of INR 2 each 
fully paid 

 11.59  12.80 

Unquoted
16000 (Previous Year 16000) Equity Shares of the Kapol Co.op.Bank 
Limited of INR 10 each fully paid up

 1.60  1.60 

600 (Previous Year 600)Equity Shares of Jeedimetla Effluent Treatment 
Limited of INR 100 each fully paid up

 0.60  0.60 

100 (Previous Year 100) Equity Shares of The Zoroastrain Co.op.Bank 
Limited of INR 25 each fully paid up

 0.03  0.03 

(b) Investments in bonds 
Unquoted
20(Previous year 20) 20 yrs Deep Discount Bonds of Sardar Sarovar 
Narmada Nigam Limited of INR 3600 eachfully paid up

 10.00  10.00 

Total  24.30  25.51 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
6. fINANCIAL ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

(2) Investments carried at Amortised Cost
Investments in Government or trust securities 
Unquoted
National Savings Certificates [including INR 0.33 lacs (previous year INR 0.33 
lacs) deposited as security with various Government and Semi Government 
departments](NSC worth INR 0.1 lacs is held in the name of director of the 
Company)

 0.43  0.43 

5 1/2 yrs  Kisan Vikas Patra (including INR 0.1 lacs deposited as security with 
sales tax authority at Daman)

 0.15  0.15 

Total  0.58  0.58 
(3) Investments carried at Cost 

Investments in Equity Instruments 
Subsidiaries
Unquoted
9,900 (Previous year 9,900), Equity Shares of Themis Life Style Private 
Limited INR 10 fully paid up

 0.99  0.99 

900 (Previous Year 900) Equity Share of Carpo Medical Limited of GBP 1/- 
each fully paid up

 0.76  0.76 

47,500 (Previous Year 47,500) Equity Shares of Artemis Biotech Ltd. of 
Rs.10/- each fully paid up

 4.75  4.75 

Associates
Unquoted
26,208 (Previous year 26,208 ), Equity Shares of INR 100 each fully paid up 
of Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited

 48.06  45.56 

Quoted
3,369,605 (Previous Year 3,369,605) shares of INR 5 each of Gujarat Themis 
Biosyn Limited fully paid up 

 336.96  336.96 

Joint Venture
Unquoted
6,860,000(Previous Year 6,860,000) Equity shares of Richter Themis 
Medicare (India) Private Limited of INR 10 each fully paid up

 686.00  686.00 

Total  1,077.52  1,075.02 
Total  1,102.40  1,101.11 

Aggregate amount of quoted investments  349.03  350.24 
Market value of quoted investments  1,336.33  1,421.77 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  753.37  750.87 
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments  -    -   
Investments carried at amortised cost  0.58  0.58 
Investments carried at fair value through profit and loss  24.30  25.51 
Investments carried at cost  1,077.52  1,075.02 
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6. fINANCIAL ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

(B) OTHeR fINANCIAL ASSeTS
Non Current 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Bank Deposits with more than 12 months maturity  25.79  25.02 

Total  25.79  25.02 
Current 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Security Deposits  330.33  317.13 
Interest / Dividend Receivable  16.61  16.61 
Insurance Claim  60.10  60.10 

Total  407.04  393.84 

7. INVeNTORIeS (` in Lakhs)
 Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

(Valued at lower of Cost and Net Realisable value) 
Raw materials 

In Stock  962.22  822.17 
In Transit  50.11  95.69 

Work-in-process  1,342.37  1,666.19 
Finished goods  2,134.60  1,788.84 
Stores and spares  13.60  14.38 
Packing Material and Power and Fuel  832.37  570.26 

Total  5,335.27  4,957.53 

8. TRADe ReCeIVABLeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Current
Trade Receivables from customers  6,350.45  5,101.17 
Receivables from other related parties  975.64  1,761.57 

 7,326.09  6,862.74 
Breakup of Security details
Secured, considered good  -    -   
Unsecured, considered good  7,326.09  6,862.74 
Which have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   
Credit Impaired  1,699.15  1,610.78 

 9,025.24  8,473.52 
Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)
Unsecured, considered good  -  -
Doubtful  1,699.15  1,610.78 

 1,699.15  1,610.78 
Total  7,326.09  6,862.74 

Trade or Other Receivable due from directors or other officers of the company either severally or jointly with any other 
person amounted to NIL (Previous year INR NIL).
Trade or Other Receivable due from firms or private companies in which any director is a partner, a director or a member 
amounted to INR 975.64 Lakhs (Previous year INR 1761.57 Lakhs).

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
9. CASH AND CASH eQuIVALeNTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Balances with banks on current accounts  165.16  441.55 
Cash on hand  7.70  6.68 

Total  172.86  448.23 

10. OTHeR BANK BALANCeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Balances with banks to the extent held as margin money  122.53  200.74 
Deposits with banks to the extent held as margin money  46.75  41.05 
Deposits account towards share application  0.33  0.33 

Total  169.61  242.12 

11. OTHeR ASSeTS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Non Current 
Payment of taxes (net of provisions)  266.51  236.74 
Gratuity fund  218.78  204.76 

Total  485.29  441.50 
Current 
Advances other than Capital advances 
- Advances to Related Parties  170.56  141.10 
- Staff Advance and Imprest Cash  39.38  43.81 
Others 
- Prepaid expenses  356.46  364.13 
- Balances with Statutory, Government Authorities  984.32  816.69 
- Other current assets  108.70  91.57 

Total  1,659.42  1,457.30 

12. INCOMe TAX
Deferred Tax (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Depreciation for tax purposes  (1,300.35)  (1,624.84)
Land revalued at fair value on date of transition  (420.39)  (420.39)
Temporary difference in the carrying amount of investments  (1.91)  (1.91)
Provision for employee benefits  319.89  276.86 
Temporary difference in the carrying amount of financial instruments at amortised cost  (0.80)  (16.79)
MAT Credit Entitlement  303.08  303.08 
Loss allowances on trade receivables  494.79  557.49 
Losses available for offsetting against future taxable income  1,272.54  1,410.78 
Others  (3.11)  (6.42)
Net Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities)  663.74  477.86 
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Movement in deferred tax liabilities/assets (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Opening balance as of April 1 2018  477.86  480.13 
Tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss  183.74  (10.18)
Tax income/(expense) during the period recognised in OCI  2.14  7.92 
Closing balance as at March 31 2019  663.74  477.86 

The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority.

Major Components of income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 are as follows:
i. Income tax recognised in profit or loss (` in Lakhs)

2018-19 2017-18
Current income tax charge  -  - 
Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous year  - -
Deferred tax
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  (183.74)  10.18 
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss  (183.74)  10.18 

ii. Income tax recognised in OCI
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Net loss/(gain) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  2.14  7.92 
Income tax expense recognised in OCI  2.14  7.92 

Reconciliation of tax expense and accounting profit multiplied by income tax rate for March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Accounting profit before income tax  (1,453.34)  939.67 
Enacted tax rate in India 29.12% 34.61%
Income tax on accounting profits  (423.21)  325.22 

Tax Effect of
Depreciation  59.01  39.64 
Expenses not allowable or considered separately under Income Tax  70.64  56.79 
Expenses allowable and others  (38.58)  (39.03)
Losses carried adjusted during the year  376.10  (328.95)
Dividend income exempt from tax  (43.96)  (53.67)
Recognition of deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences

 (183.74)  10.18 

Tax at effective income tax rate  (183.74)  10.18 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
13. SHARe CAPITAL
i. Authorised Share Capital (` in Lakhs)

Equity Share
Number Amount

At April 1, 2018  10,000,000  1,000.00 
Increase/(decrease) during the year  - -
At March 31, 2019  10,000,000  1,000.00 

Terms/rights attached to equity shares
The company has only one class of equity shares having par value of INR 10 per share. Each holder of equity shares is 
entitled to one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed by the 
Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case 
of Interim dividend.
In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of 
the company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity 
shares held by the shareholders.

ii. Issued Capital
Number Amount

Equity shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed 
and fully paid
At April 1, 2018  9,180,942  918.09 
Issued during the period  -    -   
At March 31, 2019  9,180,942  918.09 

iii. Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company
Name of the shareholder As at March 31, 2019 As at March 31, 2018

Number % holding Number % holding
Equity shares of INR 10 each fully paid
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel  872,057  9.50  707,957  7.71 
Jayshree D. Patel  667,664  7.27  667,664  7.27 
Dr. Sachin D. Patel  551,655  6.01  551,655  6.01 
Vividh Margi Investment Private Limited  1,452,842  15.82  1,452,842  15.82 
Vividh Distributors Private Limited  716,100  7.80  716,100  7.80 
Gedeon Richter Investment Management 
Limited

 884,308  9.63  884,308  9.63 

iv.  Aggregate number of equity shares issued as bonus, shares issued for consideration other than cash and shares 
bought back during the period of five years immediately preceding the reporting date: NIL

v. Shares reserved for issue under options
For details of shares reserved for issue under the Share based payment plan of the company, please refer note 32.
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
14. OTHeR eQuITy
i. Reserves and Surplus (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Capital Reserve  30.00  30.00 
Securities Premium  3,481.68  3,481.68 
General Reserve  6,733.76  6,733.76 
Share Based Payment Reserve  59.67  54.18 
Retained Earnings  (426.74)  808.04 
Property, Plant and Equipment Reserve  3,537.24  3,577.26 

Total  13,415.61  14,684.92 

(a) Capital Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  30.00  30.00 
Add/(Less):  -    -   
Closing balance  30.00  30.00 

Capital reserve is created as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

(b) Securities Premium (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  3,481.68  2,829.44 
Add/(Less):
Issue of equity shares  -    652.24 
Closing balance  3,481.68  3,481.68 

The amount received in excess of face value of the equity shares is recognised in Share Premium Reserve. This is not 
available for distribution of dividend but can be utilised for issuing bonus shares.

(c) General Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  6,733.76  6,733.76 
Add/(Less):  -    -   
Closing balance  6,733.76  6,733.76 

(d) Share Based Payment Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Opening balance  54.18  47.78 
Add/(Less):
Employee compensation expense recognised during the year  5.49  20.68 
Transfer to retained earnings  -    (14.28)
Closing balance  59.67  54.18 

The Company has two share option schemes under which options to subscribe for the company's shares have been 
granted to certain executives and senior employees.

The Share based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity settled share based payments provided to 
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note 32 for further details of 
these plans.
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
(e) Retained earnings (` in Lakhs)

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 
Opening balance  808.04  (160.80)
Net Profit/(Loss) for the year  (1,269.60)  929.49 
Add/(Less):
Transfer from property, plant and equipment reserve in respect of depreciation  40.02  40.02 
Transfer from share based payment reserve  -    14.28 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income directly recognised in Retained Earnings
Remeasurement of post employment benefit obligation, net of tax  (5.20)  (14.95)
Closing balance  (426.74)  808.04 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment Reserve (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

Opening balance  3,577.26  3,617.28 
Add/(Less):
Transfer to retained earnings in respect of depreciation on leasehold land  (40.02)  (40.02)
Closing balance  3,537.24  3,577.26 
Property, Plant and Equipment Reserves represents reserve created on revaluation of freehold land on the date of 
transition to Ind AS. It is a non distributable reserve.

15. BORROWINGS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 
Non Current Borrowings 

Secured 
(a) Term Loans From Banks  -    206.40 
(b) Long term maturity of Finance Lease Obligations  20.75  10.82 

unsecured 
(c) Foreign Currency Term Loan from a Foreign Promoter  1,474.04  1,409.22 

(A)  1,494.79  1,626.44 
Current Maturity of Non Current Borrowings 
Secured 
(a) Term Loans From Banks  -    205.58 
(b) Long term maturity of Finance Lease Obligations  6.33  10.42 

unsecured 
(c) Foreign Currency Term Loan from a Foreign Promoter  553.36  260.72 

(B)  559.69  476.72 
Total (A)-(B)  935.10  1,149.72 

Current Borrowings 
Secured 
(a) Loans repayable on demand from Banks 

- Cash Credit  3,340.40  3,655.71 
- Bills Discounted  1,222.24  1,227.73 
- Advance as Packing Credit for Export  917.51  827.80 

unsecured 
(b) Intercorporate Deposits  1,205.35  662.26 

Total  6,685.50  6,373.50 
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SeCuReD BORROWING

(A) TeRM LOANS fROM BANKS

Secured by an equitable mortgage created by deposit of title deeds of the Company's factory land and 
buildings situated at Vapi, Hyderabad, Haridwar and Baroda and hypothecation of Plant & Machinery both 
present and future and also secured by personal guarantees of Directors of the Company.

Terms of Repayment 

(I) Term Loan from Bank of Baroda INR 228.66 lakhs which is Repayable in 16 quarterly installments after a 
holiday period of one year from first disbursement.

(II) Term Loan from Union Bank of India is INR 2306.88 lakhs and from Bank of Baroda is INR 430.33 lakhs 
Repayable in 20 quarterly installments commencing from September 2013.

(B) LONG TeRM MATuRITIeS Of fINANCe LeASe OBLIGATION

Secured By hypothecation of vehicles acquired under hire purchase arrangement

Repayable in 36 equated Monthly Installments  as per various arrangements

uNSeCuReD BORROWING 

(A) TeRM LOAN 

Company have foreign currency loan from its foreign promoter which is repayable in 19 quarterly installments 
up to December 31, 2021.

CuRReNT BORROWINGS

Cash Credit facility from banks

Cash Credits against hypothecation of raw materials, Stock in Process, finished goods, packing material and 
book debts and also guaranteed by the Directors of the Company.

Net debt Reconciliatiown
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current Borrowings  6,685.50  6,373.50 
Non-current Borrowings  1,494.79  1,626.44 
Net Debt  8,180.29  7,999.94 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019



2018    2019

158

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Liabilities from  

financing activities
Total

Non Current 
Borrowings

Current 
Borrowings

Net Debt as at March 31, 2017  2,890.69  5,345.41  8,236.10 
Foreign Exchange Adjustments  4.96  -    4.96 
Cash Outflow  (1,341.78)  -    (1,341.78)
Net receipt from Current Borrowings  -    1,028.09  1,028.09 
Fair valuation adjustments  72.57  -    72.57 
Interest Expense  1,107.19 
Interest Paid  (1,107.19)
Net Debt as at March 31, 2018  1,626.44  6,373.50  7,999.94 
Foreign Exchange Adjustments  0.43  -    0.43 
Cash Outflow  (264.23)  -    (264.23)
Net receipt from Current Borrowings  -    312.00  312.00 
Fair valuation adjustments  132.15  -    132.15 
Interest Expense  1,041.63 
Interest Paid  (1,041.63 )
Net Debt as at March 31, 2019  1,494.79  6,685.50  8,180.29 

16. OTHeR fINANCIAL LIABILITIeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Current maturities of long term debts  553.36  466.30 
Current maturities of finance lease obligations  6.33  10.42 
Un-paid Dividends  1.74  3.72 
Unclaimed matured deposits  1.79  3.34 
Deposits from Dealers and Suppliers  484.49  443.49 
Rent Deposits  10.96  -   
Others
Book Overdraft  394.91  1.31 
Other Payables  2,709.37  1,832.77 

Total  4,162.95  2,761.35 

17. TRADe PAyABLeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Trade Payable to Micro enterprises and Small enterprises  28.98  122.69 
Trade Payable to Creditor other than Micro Enterprises and small Enterprises  3,472.93  2,931.75 

Total  3,501.91  3,054.44 
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18. OTHeR LIABILITIeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Current
Advance received from Customers  165.68  158.31 
Statutory Liabilities*  41.82  53.42 

Total  207.50  211.73 
*Includes GST, Excise duty, Service tax and TDS

19. PROVISIONS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Non Current 
Provision for employee benefits 
Leave encashment -  - 

Total -  - 

Current 
Provision for employee benefits 
Leave encashment   106.78  89.62 
Gratuity  -    -   

Total  106.78  89.62 

20. ReVeNue fROM OPeRATIONS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Sale of products (inclusive of excise duty) 
Sale of Products  18,292.98  21,081.15 

Other Operating Revenues 
Other Revenues  117.84  89.52 

Total  18,410.82  21,170.67 
Sale of goods includes excise duty collected from customers of INR NIL (March 31, 2018: INR 220.34 Lakhs)

21. OTHeR INCOMe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Interest Income on Bank fixed deposits  24.43  49.84 
Dividend income  150.92  157.24 
Other Non Operating Income 
Fair value gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss  -    -   
Financial Guarantee Income  2.50  2.50 
Sundry balances written back  -    5.37 
Exchange Difference  79.64 -
Miscellaneous Income  11.73  88.58 

Total  269.22  303.53 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
22. COST Of MATeRIALS CONSuMeD (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Raw Material 
As at beginning of the year  822.17  873.88 
Add: Purchases  4,293.09  4,102.81 
Less: Samples classified under other expenses  (178.66)  (218.86)
Less : As at end of the year  (962.22)  (822.17)

 3,974.38  3,935.66 
Packing Material  948.87  1,391.13 

Total  4,923.25  5,326.79 

23. PuRCHASeS Of STOCK-IN-TRADe  (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Finished Goods  1,957.58  1,988.47 

Total  1,957.58  1,988.47 

24.  CHANGeS IN INVeNTORIeS Of fINISHeD GOODS,  
WORK-IN-PROCeSS AND STOCK-IN-TRADe (` in Lakhs)

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Inventories as at the beginning of the year 
Work - in - process  1,666.19  1,400.15 
Finished goods  1,788.84  1,905.99 

Total  3,455.03  3,306.14 

Less : Inventories as at the end of the year 
Work - in - process  1,342.37  1,666.19 
Finished goods  2,134.60  1,788.84 

Total  3,476.97  3,455.03 
 Net decrease / (increase) in inventories  (21.94)  (148.89)

25. eMPLOyee BeNefITS eXPeNSe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Salaries, wages and bonus  4,268.16  4,141.57 
Contribution to provident and other funds  260.78  269.41 
Share based payments to employees  5.49  20.68 
Staff welfare expenses  29.99  30.10 

Total  4,564.42  4,461.76 

26. fINANCe COST (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Interest expense on debts and borrowings  1,040.67  1,042.74 
Bank Charges  141.41  143.94 

Total  1,182.08  1,186.68 

27. DePReCIATION AND AMORTISATION eXPeNSe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Depreciation on tangible assets  775.88  719.09 
Amortisation on intangible assets  21.84  21.84 

Total  797.72  740.93 
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28. OTHeR eXPeNSeS (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
Consumption of stores and spares  121.79  134.18 
Power and fuel  969.86  840.99 
Processing charges  1,061.92  1,109.34 
Rent  88.28  86.76 
Repairs and maintenance 

Building  2.60  22.65 
Plant and Machinery  36.63  35.55 
Others  72.82  52.88 

Insurance  65.53  68.91 
Rates and taxes  51.43  35.48 
Travelling and conveyance expenses  993.85  1,110.06 
Freight and Forwarding  449.48  375.32 
Legal and professional fees  538.81  525.76 
Foreign exchange fluctuation loss  -    8.43 
Commission  576.48  550.99 
Advertisement and Sales promotion expenses  745.03  900.52 
Allowance for doubtful debts and advances  88.37  (48.31)
Payments to auditors (Refer note below)  7.96  8.23 
Fair value loss on financial instrument at Fair value through profit and loss  1.20  8.24 
Miscellaneous expenses  858.23  932.47 

Total  6,730.27  6,758.45 

(a) Details of Payments to auditors (` in Lakhs)
2018-19 2017-18 

As auditor 
Audit Fee  7.50  7.80 

In other capacity 
Other services (certification fees)  0.16  0.14 
Re-imbursement of expenses  0.30  0.29 

Total  7.96  8.23 

(b) Corporate social responsibility expenditure (` in Lakhs)
2018-19 2017-18 

Contribution to Rural Development Programme of the Bombay Mothers and 
Children Welfare Society

 -    24.69 

Contribution to Sanitary Manufacturing Unit at Jaiwadi Tribal Village  -    -   
Total  -    24.69 

Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act  24.56  24.62 
Amount spent during the year on 
(i) Construction/acquisition of an asset  -    -   
(ii) on purposes other than (i) above  -    24.69 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
29. ReSeARCH AND DeVeLOPMeNT COSTS
The Company during the period has incurred cost on research and development activities which are not eligible for 
capitalisation in terms of Ind AS 38 and therefore they are recognised in other expenses under statement of profit and 
loss. Amount charged to profit or loss during the period ended March 31, 2019: INR 458.46 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 
528.35 Lakhs) details of which are as follows:

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
On Revenue Account :
Manufacturing expenses
Material  17.73  80.05 
Other Expenses  440.73  448.30 
Total Research & Development expenditure  458.46  528.35 

30. eARNINGS PeR SHARe (` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18 
(a) Basic earnings per share (INR)  (13.83)  10.12 

(b) Diluted earnings per share (INR)  (13.83)  10.10 

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating basic 
earnings per share

 (1,269.60)  929.49 

Diluted earnings per share
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating basic 
earnings per share

 (1,269.60)  929.49 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:  -  - 

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the company used in calculating diluted 
earnings per share

 (1,269.60)  929.49 

(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic earnings per share

 9,180,942  9,180,942 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
Employee Stock Options  -    17,740 
Weighted average number of equity shares used as the denominator in calculating 
diluted earnings per share

 9,180,942  9,198,682 
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31. eMPLOyee BeNefIT OBLIGATIONS (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Current Non Current Total Current Non Current Total
Provisions
Leave obligations  106.78  -    106.78  89.62  -    89.62 

Employee Benefit Obligations  106.78  -    106.78  89.62  -    89.62 
Plan Assets
Gratuity -  218.78  218.78 -  204.76  204.76 
Employee Benefit Plan Assets  -    218.78  218.78  -    204.76  204.76 

(i) Leave Obligations
The leave obligations cover the company's liability for sick and earned leave.

The amount of the provision of INR 106.78 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 89.62 Lakhs) is presented as current, 
since the company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these obligations.

(ii) Post Employment obligations
a) Gratuity

The company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. 
Employees who are in continuous service for a period of five years are eligible for gratuity. The amount 
of gratuity payable on retirement/ termination is the employees last drawn basic salary per month 
computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied by number of years of service.

The gratuity plan is a funded plan and the company makes contributions to recognised funds in India. 
The company does not fully fund the liability and maintains a target level of funding to be maintained 
over a period of time based on estimations of expected gratuity payments.

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
The amount recognised in the balance sheet and the movement in the net defined benefit obligation 
over the period are as follows (` in Lakhs)

Present value 
of obligation

fair value of 
plan assets Net amount

As at April 1, 2017  153.55  358.29  204.74 

Current service cost  31.57  -    (31.57)
Interest expense/(income)  11.89  27.49  15.60 
Error in Reconciliation  -    (3.14)  (3.14)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 43.45 24.35 (19.10)

Remeasurements
Return of plan assets, excluding amount included in interest (income)  -    (23.91)  (23.91)
(Gain)/Loss from change in financial assumptions  (5.49)  -    5.49 
Experience (gains)/losses  4.45  -    (4.45)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income  (1.04)  (23.91)  (22.87)

Employer contributions  -    42.00  42.00 
Benefit payments  (22.14)  (22.14)  -   
As at March 31, 2018  173.83  378.59  204.76 

Current service cost  37.16  -    (37.16)
Interest expense/(income)  14.03  30.55  16.52 
Error in Reconciliation  -    -    -   
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  51.19  30.55  (20.64)

Remeasurements
Return of plan assets, excluding amount included in interest (income)  -    (6.38)  (6.38)
(Gain)/Loss from change in financial assumptions  5.19  -    (5.19)
Experience (gains)/losses  (4.23)  -    4.23 
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income  0.96  (6.38)  (7.34)
Employer contributions  -    42.00  42.00 
Benefit payments  (25.21)  (25.21)  -   
As at March 31, 2019  200.77  419.55  218.78 

The major categories of plan assets of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Contribution to LIC  419.55  378.59 

The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Discount rate 7.78% 8.07%
Expected return on plan assets 7.78% 8.07%
Salary growth rate 4.00% 4.00%
Employee turnover rate 1.00% 1.00%
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A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption as at March 31, 2019 is shown below: (` in Lakhs)
Assumptions Discount rate expected return on plan assets Salary growth rate
Sensitivity Level 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease 0.5% increase 0.5% decrease

March 31, 2019
Impact on defined 
benefit obligation

 (8.80)  9.59  3.30  (3.58)  9.90  (9.14)

% Impact -4.38% 4.77% 1.65% -1.78% 4.93% -4.55%

March 31, 2018
Impact on defined 
benefit obligation

 (7.76)  8.44  3.11  (3.37)  8.75  (8.09)

% Impact -4.46% 4.86% 1.79% -1.94% 5.03% -4.65%
The sensitivity analysis above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on 
defined benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the 
reporting period. 

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years: (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

1st following year  29.71  17.63 
2nd following year  6.72  5.02 
3rd following year  11.56  18.54 
4th following year  12.25  10.36 
5th following year  14.92  11.05 
Sum of Years 6 to 10  88.92  84.06 
Sum of Years 11 and above  371.49  340.57 
Total expected payments  535.57  487.23 
The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 11 years (March 31, 
2018: 11 years)

b) Defined contribution plans
The company also has defined contribution plans. Contributions are made to provident fund in India for 
employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The contributions are made to registered 
provident fund administered by the government. The obligation of the company is limited to the amount 
contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation. The expense recognised during 
the period towards defined contribution plan is INR 214.31 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 214.59 Lakhs)

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019



2018    2019

166

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
32. SHARe BASeD PAyMeNTS

(a) Employee option plan
The Company implemented Themis Medicare Employee Stock Option Scheme 2012 (herein after 
referred to as "Themis Medicare ESOS 2012" or "the Scheme") as approved by the Shareholders of the 
Company and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors.
The Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) is designed to provide incentives to eligible employees  to 
deliver long term returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which vest upon completion 
of 1 year of service from the grant date. Participation in the plan is at the board's discretion and no 
individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.
The Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) is designed to provide incentives to eligible employees to 
deliver long term returns. Under the plan, participants are granted options which vest upon completion 
of 1 year of service from the grant date. Participation in the plan is at the board's discretion and no 
individual has a contractual right to participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.
Once vested, the options remain exercisable for a period of 5 years. When exercisable, each option is 
convertible into one equity share.

Movement during the period
The number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of the options and movement during the period is as follows

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Number of options WAeP Number of options WAeP

Opening balance  40,028  302.66  64,397  293.26 
Granted duing the period  -    -    -    -   
Exercised during the period*  -    -    16,509  250.72 
Forfeited during the period  -    -    -    -   
Expired during the period  5,550  265.32  7,860  334.75 
Closing balance  34,478  308.67  40,028  302.66 
Exercisable  34,478  308.67  21,108  273.90 

*The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options during the period ended March 31, 2019 was INR 
NIL (March 31, 2018: INR 567.23)

Share options outstanding at the end of the period have the following expiry date and exercise prices

Grant expiry date exercise price 
(INR)

Share options Share options
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

G1-31/07/2012 31/07/2020  77.85  3,500  5,000 
G2-10/02/2016 10/02/2024  334.75  30,978  35,028 

Total  34,478  40,028 
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of 
period

1.6 years 2.6 years

(b) Expense arising from share based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share based payment transactions recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefit expense were as follows:

(` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Employee stock option  5.49  20.68 
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33. COMMITMeNTS AND CONTINGeNCIeS
A. Commitments (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

(a) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account 
and not provided for

 -  - 

(b) Uncalled liability on shares and other investments partly paid  -  - 
(c) Other commitments

(i) Liability on account of Custom duty on goods in bonded warehouse or 
in transit is, as per the Company's practice charged to Profit and Loss 
Account only in the year in which the goods are cleared from the Custom. 
This accounting policy has no effect on the Profit for the year.

 -  - 

 -  - 

B. Contingent Liabilities (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

i. Claim against the company not acknowledged as debt
(i) The Ministry of Chemicals & Fertilizers ,Government of India has raised 

demand under Drug Price Control Order, 1979 / 1995 for difference in 
actual price and price of respective bulk drug allowed while fixing the 
prices of certain life saving formulations which are disputed by the 
Company. The Company has preferred Appeals before Honorable High 
Courts of Gujarat and Bombay in respect of Bulk Drug Rifampicin and 
Ethambutol respectively, for grant of ad interim stay. While allowing the 
stay, The Honorable High Court Gujarat directed the Company to deposit 
Principal Liability of INR 34.80 lakhs out of the total liability of INR 126.08 
lakhs as worked out by the Department of Chemicals & Fertilizers, Govt. 
of India. The Company has already complied with the directions of the 
Honorable Court. In respect of Liability for Bulk Drug Ethambutol, the 
Honorable Bombay High Court had directed the Company to submit 
Bank Guarantee of Principle amount with Court & stayed the matter. 
The Company has complied with the direction of the Honorable High 
Court. Similarly, a demand notice is received during a previous year from 
NPPA, New Delhi, in respect of Formulation Tetracox, The Company has 
preferred Writ Petition at Honorable High Court Uttarakhand, Nainital, as 
well for stay of demand. The matter is pending before the High Court. 

 435.98  435.98 

(ii) Others  0.87  0.87 
ii. Guarantees excluding financial guarantees

Bank Guarantees  239.99  136.47 

iii. Other money for which the company is contingently liable
(i) In respect of Letter of Credit  34.74  74.65 
(ii) Disputed VAT Liability as the matters are in appeal  17.60  17.60 
(iii) Customs duty payable on raw materials imported under duty exemption 

scheme in case of non-fulfillment of export obligation.
 259.56  222.18 

(iv) Disputed Income Tax Liability as the matters are in appeal. 29.47 -
1,018.21  887.75 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
C. financial Guarantees

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited (refer note)  250.00  250.00 

Note: Financial guarantee given by Themis Medicare Limited to the lenders of Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited.

34. ReLATeD PARTy TRANSACTIONS

(i) List of related parties as per the requirements of Ind-AS 24 - Related Party Disclosures
Name of Related Party Country of Incorporation

Subsidiary
Themis Life Style Private Limited India
Carpo Medical Limited United Kingdom
Artemis Biotech Limited India

Associate
Long Island Nutrionals Private Limited India
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited India

Joint Venture
Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited India

Enterprises over which KMPs are able to exercise significant influence
Themis Distributors Private Limited India
Vividh Distributors Private Limited India
Vividh Margi Investments Private Limited India

Key Managerial Personnel
Dr. Dinesh S. Patel (Executive Vice Chairman)
Dr. Sachin D. Patel (Managing Director and CEO)
Jayshree D. Patel
Tushar J. Dalal (Chief Financial Officer)
Sangameshwar Iyer (Company Secretary) 
Humayun Dhanrajgir (Director)
Vijay Gopi Kishan Agarwal (Director)
Hoshang Noshirwan Sinor (Director)
Rajneesh Kedarnath Anand (Director)
Hariharan Subramaniam (Director)
Lajos Kovacs (Director)
Gulasci Mihaly Gabor (Director)

Relatives of Key Managerial Personnel
Meena A. Patel
Hemlata B. Patel
Reena S. Patel
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
(ii) Transactions with related parties (` in Lakhs)
Name Nature of Transaction March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Vividh Distributors Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  794.83  1,070.86 
Freight and other Expenses  1.67  2.37 
Electricity Charges  -    -   
Telephone Charges  -    -   

Themis Distributors Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  1,004.77  2,028.32 
Freight and other Expenses  0.38  0.19 
Electricity Charges  -    0.18 
Telephone Charges  -    0.07 

Vividh Margi Investments Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  485.08  892.49 
Freight and other Expenses  1.08  1.38 
Electricity Charges  3.96  3.10 
Telephone Charges  0.02  0.13 

Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  -    5.55 
Purchase of goods  111.82  191.87 
Dividend Income  150.92  150.92 

Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  114.44  219.37 
Purchase of goods  131.35  230.21 

Long Island Nutrionals Private Limited Purchase of goods  -    47.16 

Carpo Medical Limited Sale of finished goods (net)  35.36  -   

Dr. Dinesh S. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -   13.11

Dr. Sachin D. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -   6.01

Mrs. Jayashree D. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -   25.04
Remuneration Paid - 45.39

Mrs. Meena A. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -   0.64

Mrs Hemlata B. Patel Interest on Fixed Deposit  -   0.69
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
(iii) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods (` in Lakhs)
Name March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Trade Receivables
Vividh Distributors Private Limited  300.44  456.26 
Themis Distributors Private Limited  437.37  1,025.34 
Vividh Margi Investments Private Limited  78.83  279.65 
Richter Themis Medicare (India) Private Limited  38.09  37.99 
Gujarat Themis Biosyn Limited  85.54  80.78 
Carpo Medical Limited  35.36  -   

(iv) Key management personnel compensation (` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

Short term employee benefits  235.43  171.27 
Post-employment benefits  -    -   
Long term employee benefits*  -    -   
Directors sitting fees  12.00  17.60 
Employee share based payment  -    1.40 

Total  247.43  190.27 

*The amounts of Long term employee benefits cannot be seperately identified from the composite amount advised by 
the actuary/valuer.

(v) Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length 
transactions. Outstanding balances at the year end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. The 
Company has issued financial guarantees to the lender on behalf of its associate Company amounted to INR 250.00 Lakhs 
(March 31, 2018 : INR 250.00 Lakhs). For the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company has not recorded any impairment 
of receivables relating to amount owed by related parties (March 31, 2018: NIL). This assessment is undertaken each 
financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and market in which the related party operates.

35. SeGMeNT RePORTING
The company primarily operates in one business segment only i.e. Pharmaceuticals,  which is the only reportable segment. 
There is no other segment which requires reporting as per Ind AS 108 "Operating Segments".

Information about geographical areas
Revenue from external customers
The company is domiciled in India. The amount of its revenue from external customers broken down by location of the 
customers is shown in the table below:

(` in Lakhs)
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

India  11,618.03  16,862.86 
Outside India  6,674.95  4,218.29 

Total  18,292.98  21,081.15 

Revenue arising from sale of products to one customer amounted to INR 2,005.32 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: two customers 
amounted to INR 2,374.16 Lakhs and 2,115.96 Lakhs), exceeds 10% of revenue from operations of the Company.
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36. fAIR VALue MeASuReMeNTS
i. financial Instruments by Category (` in Lakhs)

Particulars Carrying Amount fair Value
March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018

fINANCIAL ASSeTS
Amortised cost
Investments in Government Securities  0.58  0.58  0.58  0.58 
Trade Receivables  7,326.09  6,862.74  7,326.09  6,862.74 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  172.86  448.23  172.86  448.23 
Security Deposits  330.33  317.13  330.33  317.13 
Other Bank Balances  169.61  242.12  169.61  242.12 
Other Financial Assets  102.50  101.73  102.50  101.73 

fVTPL
Investment in Equity Instruments  14.30  15.50  14.30  15.50 
Investments in Bonds and Debentures  10.00  10.00  10.00  10.00 

Total  8,126.27  7,998.03  8,126.27  7,998.03 

fINANCIAL LIABILITIeS
Amortised cost
Borrowings  8,180.29  7,999.94  8,180.29  7,999.94 
Trade Payables  3,501.91  3,054.44  3,501.91  3,054.44 
Other financial liabilities  3,603.26  2,284.63  3,603.26  2,284.63 

Total  15,285.46  13,339.01  15,285.46  13,339.01 

The management assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalent, trade receivables, trade payables, 
and other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short 
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of non current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using  a current borrowing rate. 
They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs, 
including own credit risk.

ii. fair Value Hierarchy
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 
instruments that are recognised and measure at fair value. To provide an indication about the reliability of 
the inputs used in determining fair value, the company has classified its financial instruments into three 
levels prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows underneath the table:

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
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Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
31st March, 2019
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value - recurring fair value measurement: (` in Lakhs)

Particulars

March 31, 2019

Total

March 31, 2018

Total

fair value measurement using fair value measurement using
Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3)

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets
(Level 1)

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

Inputs
(Level 3)

financial Assets
fair Value Through 
Profit and Loss
Investment in Equity 
Instruments

 12.07  -    2.23  14.30  13.27 -  2.23  15.50 

Investments in Bonds 
and Debentures

 -    -    10.00  10.00  -   -  10.00  10.00 

Total Assets  12.07  -    12.23  24.30  13.27  -    12.23  25.50 

There have been no transfers among Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the period
Level 1 - Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices. This includes listed 
equity instruments, mutual funds that have quoted price. The fair value of all equity instruments which are 
traded in the stock exchanges is valued using the closing price as at the reporting period. The mutual funds are 
valued using the closing NAV.
Level 2 - The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is 
included in level 2.
Level 3 - If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3.
iii. Valuation technique used to determine fair value

Specific Valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
 - the use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments
 - the fair value of the remaining financial instruments is determined using discounted cash flow analysis
The fair value of unquoted equity instruments and unquoted bonds is not significantly different from their 
carrying value and hence the management has considered their carrying amount as fair value.

iv. Valuation processes
The finance department of the company includes a team that performs the valuations of financial assets and 
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. This team reports directly to 
the chief financial officer (CFO) and the audit committee (AC). Discussions of valuation processes and results 
are held between the CFO, AC and the valuation team at least once every three months, in line with the 
company's quarterly reporting periods.
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37. fINANCIAL RISK MANAGeMeNT
The Company's activity exposes it to market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. Company's overall risk management 
focuses on the unpredictibility of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the company. This note explains the sources of risk which the entity is exposed to and 
how the company manages the risk.
(A) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations leading to a financial loss. Credit risk 
arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial assets carried at amortised cost and deposits with banks 
and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers including outstanding receivables.
i. Credit risk management

Credit risk has always been managed by the company through credit approvals, establishing credit limits 
and continuously monitoring the creditworthiness of customers to which the company grants credit 
terms in the normal course of business.
The company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To 
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Company compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. 
It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
In general, it is presumed that credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition if the 
payments are more than 30 days past due.
A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty  fails to make contractual payments of when 
they fall due. This definition of default is determined by considering the business environment in which 
entity operates and other macro-economic factors.

ii. Provision for expected credit losses
The company follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of loss allowance on Trade receivables.
As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance 
on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default 
rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At 
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analyzed.

iii. Reconciliation of loss allowance provision - Trade receivables
(` in Lakhs)

Particulars
Loss allowance on April 1, 2017  1,659.09 
Changes in loss allowance  (48.31)
Loss allowance on March 31,2018  1,610.78 
Changes in loss allowance  88.37 
Loss allowance on March 31, 2019  1,699.15 

Notes to financial Statements for the year ended  
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(B) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by ensuring, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. The Company consistently generated sufficient cash flows from 
operations to meet its financial obligations. Also, the Company has unutilized credit limits with banks.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the company's liquidity position (comprising the undrawn 
borrowing facilities) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. In addition, the 
company’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid 
assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external 
regulatory requirements.
Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay. In the table below, borrowings include both 
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest rates are floating rate, the undiscounted amount 
is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the reporting period.

(` in Lakhs)
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities Contractual cash flows
Particulars Carrying Amount Total Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years
March 31, 2019
Borrowings  8,180.29  8,913.07  8,036.82  876.25  -   
Trade payables  3,501.91  3,501.91  3,501.91  -    -   
Other financial liabilities  3,603.26  3,603.26  3,603.26  -    -   
Total financial liabilities  15,285.46  16,018.24  15,141.99  876.25  -   

March 31, 2018
Borrowings  7,999.94  8,832.71  7,589.01  1,243.70  -   
Trade payables  3,054.44  3,054.44  3,054.44  -    -   
Other financial liabilities  2,284.63  2,284.63  2,284.63  -    -   
Total financial liabilities  13,339.01  14,171.78  12,928.08  1,243.70  -   

(C) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of change in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk 
and other price risk such as commodity risk.

(i) foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk of impact related to fair value or future cash flows of an exposure in 
foreign currency, which fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to 
the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the external commercial borrowings 
and export receivables.
The Company evaluates exchange rate exposure arising from foreign currency transactions and follows 
established risk management policies and standard operating procedures to mitigate the risks.
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(a) The company exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period expressed in INR lakhs, 
are as follows

(` in Lakhs)
uSD euRO AuD GBP Total

March 31, 2019
Trade Receivables  1,519.78  219.92  -    35.36  1,775.06 
Trade Payable  (264.64)  -    (13.16)  -    (277.80)
Foreign Currency Borrowings  (1,474.04)  -    -    -    (1,474.04)
Other receivables  -    -    -    -    -   
Net exposure to foreign currency risk  (218.90)  219.92  (13.16)  35.36  23.22 

March 31, 2018
Trade Receivables  890.20  40.43  -    -    930.63 
Trade Payable  (295.33)  (0.57)  (19.72)  -    (315.62)
Foreign Currency Borrowings  (1,663.32)  -    -    -    (1,663.32)
Other receivables  -    -    -    -    -   
Net exposure to foreign currency risk  (1,068.45)  39.86  (19.72)  -    (1,048.31)

(b) Foreign currency sensitivity
1% increase or decrease in foreign exchange rates will have the following impact on profit before tax:

2018-19 2017-18
1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease

USD  (2.19)  2.19  (10.68)  10.68 
EURO  2.20  (2.20)  0.40  (0.40)
AUD  (0.13)  0.13  (0.20)  0.20 
GBP  0.35  (0.35)  -    -   
Net Increase/(decrease) in profit or loss  0.23  (0.23)  (10.48)  10.48 

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which 
expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. Company policy is to maintain most of its borrowings 
at fixed rate using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary. During March 31, 2019 and March 
31, 2018, the company’s borrowings at variable rate were mainly denominated in USD.
The company’s fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. They are therefore not subject to 
interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows 
will fluctuate because of a change in market.

(a) Interest rate risk exposure
The exposure of the company’s borrowing to interest rate changes at the end of the reporting period 
are as follows:

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Variable rate borrowings  1,474.04  1,409.22 
Fixed rate borrowings  6,706.25  6,590.72 
Total borrowings  8,180.29  7,999.94 
% of borrowings at variable rate 18% 18%
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(b) Sensitivity
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings as a result of changes in 
interest rates.

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars Impact on profit before tax

March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Interest rates - increase by 50 basis points*  7.37  7.05 
Interest rates - decrease by 50 basis points*  (7.37)  (7.05)
*holding all other variables constant.

(iii) Commodity Price risk
The Company's operating activities involve purchase and sale of Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients 
(API), whose prices are exposed to the risk of fluctuation over short periods of time. Commodity price 
risk exposure is evaluated  and  managed through procurment and other related operating policies. 
As of March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 the Company had not entered into any material derivative 
contracts to hedge exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices.

38. CAPITAL MANAGeMeNT
For the purpose of the company's capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, share premium 
and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the 
Company's capital management is to maximise the shareholder value.
The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company 
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The 
company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The 
company includes within debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and 
cash equivalents.

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Borrowings  8,180.29  7,999.94 
Trade payables  3,501.91  3,054.44 
Other Financial Liabilities  3,603.26  2,284.63 
Less: cash and cash equivalents  (172.86)  (448.23)
Less: Other Bank Balance  (169.61)  (242.12)
Net Debt  14,942.99  12,648.66 
Equity Share capital  918.09  918.09 
Other Equity  13,415.61  14,684.92 
Total Capital  14,333.71  15,603.01 
Capital and net debt  29,276.70  28,251.67 
Gearing ratio  51.04  44.77 
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39. ASSeTS GIVeN AS COLLATeRAL SeCuRITy AGAINST BORROWINGS
The carrying amount of assets given as collateral security for current and non current borrowings are: (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
CuRReNT ASSeTS
Trade Receivables  7,326.09  6,862.74 
Inventories  5,335.27  4,957.53 
Total current assets  12,661.36  11,820.27 

NON CuRReNT ASSeTS
Property, plant and equipment  12,421.53  12,649.88 
Total non current assets  12,421.53  12,649.88 

40.  DeTAILS Of DueS TO MICRO AND SMALL eNTeRPRISeS AS DefINeD 
uNDeR MICRO, SMALL AND MeDIuM eNTeRPRISeS DeVeLOPMeNT 
ACT, 2006 (MSMeD ACT, 2006) (` in Lakhs)

Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Principal amount due to suppliers under MSMED Act, 2006*  28.98  122.69 
Interest accrued and due to suppliers under MSMED Act, on the above amount  -    -   
Payment made to suppliers ( other than interest ) beyond the appointed day, 
during the year

 -    -   

Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act, ( other than Section 16 )  -    -   
Interest paid to suppliers under MSMED Act, ( Section 16 )  -    -   
Interest due and payable to suppliers under MSMED Act, for payment already 
made

 -    -   

Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the year to suppliers under 
MSMED Act, 2006

 -    -   

*Amount includes due and unpaid of INR 28.98 Lakhs (March 31, 2018: INR 122.69 Lakhs)

The information has been given in respect of such vendors to the extent they could be identified as "Micro and Small" 
enterprises on the basis of information available with the Company.

41. DefeRRAL/CAPITALISATION Of eXCHANGe DIffeReNCeS
The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) has issued the amendment dated December 29, 2011 to AS 11 "The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates", to allow companies deferral/capitalization of exchange differences arising on long-
term foreign currency monetary items. In accordance with the amendment/earlier amendment to AS 11, the Company 
has capitalised exchange loss, arising on long-term foreign currency loan to the cost of plant and equipments.

Accordingly foreign exchange gain/(loss) adjusted against: (` in Lakhs)
Particulars March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Cost of the assets / Capital work in progress  71.59  4.46 
Amortised in the current year 24.80  14.50 

42.  DISCLOSuReS ReQuIReD uNDeR SeCTION 186(4) Of THe COMPANIeS ACT, 2013
(` in Lakhs)

Name of the Party Nature Purpose March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018
Long Island Nutritionals Private Limited - 
Associate

Corporate 
Guarantee

Borrowings  250.00  250.00 
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43. STANDARDS ISSueD BuT NOT yeT effeCTIVe
The amendment to standard issued up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial statements, but not 
yet effective as of the date of the Company’s financial statements is disclosed below. The Company intends to 
adopt the amendment to standard when it becomes effective.

Amendment to Ind AS 12, Income taxes:

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued amendments to the guidance in Ind AS 12, Income 
Taxes, in connection with accounting for dividend distribution taxes. 

The amendment clarifies that an entity shall recognize the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or 
loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognized those past 
transactions or events.

Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 1, 2019. The 
Company is currently evaluating the effect of this amendment on the standalone financial statements. 

Ind AS 12, Appendix C, uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments:

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS 12, Appendix C, Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments which is to be applied while performing the determination of taxable profit (or loss), tax 
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments 
under Ind AS 12. According to the appendix, companies need to determine the probability of the relevant tax 
authority accepting each tax treatment, or group of tax treatments, that the companies have used or plan to 
use in their income tax filing which has to be considered to compute the most likely amount or the expected 
value of the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax 
credits and tax rates.

The standard permits two possible methods of transition :

• Full retrospective approach – Under this approach, Appendix C will be applied retrospectively to each 
prior reporting period presented in accordance with Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors, without using hindsight, and

• Retrospectively with cumulative effect of initially applying Appendix C recognized by adjusting equity on 
initial application, without adjusting comparatives.

The effective date for adoption of Ind AS 12 Appendix C is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2019. 
The Company will adopt the standard on April 1, 2019 and has decided to adjust the cumulative effect in 
equity on the date of initial application i.e. April 1, 2019 without adjusting comparatives. 

The effect on adoption of Ind AS 12 Appendix C would be insignificant in the standalone financial statements.

Amendment to Ind AS 19, plan amendment, curtailment or settlement:

On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued amendments to Ind AS 19, Employee Benefits, 
in connection with accounting for plan amendments, curtailments and settlements.
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The amendments require an entity:

• To use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the 
period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and 

• To recognize in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction in a 
surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognized because of the impact of the asset ceiling. 

Effective date for application of this amendment is annual period beginning on or after April 1, 2019. The 
Company does not have any impact on account of this amendment.

Ind AS 116-Leases:

Ind AS 116, Leases : On March 30, 2019, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Ind AS 116, Leases. Ind 
AS116 will replace the existing leases standard, Ind AS 17,Leases, and related interpretations. The standard 
sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both 
parties to a contract i.e., the lessee and the lessor. Ind AS 116 introduces a single lessee accounting model 
and requires the lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve 
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Currently,operating lease expenses are charged to the 
Statement of Profit and Loss. The standard also contains enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees. Ind 
AS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17. The effective date for 
the adoption of Ind AS 116 is annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2019.  The standard permits two 
possible methods of transition :

• Full retrospective – Retrospectively to each prior period presented applying Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

• Modified retrospective – Retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard 
recognized at the date of initial application 

Under modified retrospective approach, the lessee records the lease liability as the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted at the incremental borrowing rate and the right of use asset either as : 

• Its carrying amount as if the standard had been applied since the commencement date, but discounted at 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application, or 

An amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
related to that lease recognized under Ind AS 17 immediately before the date of initial application.
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Time Director.
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Signed this ____________________ day of ____________________ 2019.
____________________ ____________________
Signature of the member       Signature of the proxy holder(s)
Notes :
1.  This form, in order to be effective, should be duly stamped, completed, signed and deposited at the registered office of  

the Company, not less than 48 hours before the Annual General Meeting (on or before August 25, 2019 at 10:30 a.m. IST).
2.  It is optional to indicate your preference. If you leave the ‘for’, ‘against’ or ‘abstain’ column blank against any or all of  

the resolutions, your proxy will be entitled to vote in the manner as he/she may deem appropriate.

AFFIX 
1 Re

Revenue
Stamp

Signature(s)  











